
 

 

 AGENDA 
CITY OF ROCKLIN PLANNING COMMISSION 

DATE: November 7, 2017 

TIME:  6:30 PM 

PLACE:    Council Chambers, 3970 Rocklin Road 

www.rocklin.ca.us 

 

 

MEETING PROCEDURES AND STANDARDS OF DECORUM 

Citizens may address the Planning Commission on any items on the agenda, when the item is considered.  Citizens 

wishing to speak may request recognition from the presiding officer by raising his or her hand and stepping to the 

podium when requested to do so.  Although not required, speakers are requested to identify themselves by stating their 

name and city of residence for the official record. 

 

For items not listed on the agenda, any person may do so under “Citizens Addressing the Planning Commission on non-

agenda items.” Three to five-minute time limits may be placed on citizen comments.  As a reminder, the Brown Act 

does not permit the Commission to take action on items not on the agenda. 

 

All remarks shall be addressed to the Commission as a body and not to any member thereof, or to staff, or to the public. 

No person, other than a member of the Commission, and the person having the floor, shall be permitted to enter into 

any discussion without the permission of the presiding officer. 

 

Whenever any group of persons wishes to address the Commission on the same subject matter, it shall be proper for 

the Chairman to request that a spokesperson be chosen. 

 

Any person who disrupts the meeting of the Commission, may be barred by the Chairman from further audience before 

the Commission during that meeting. 

 

WRITINGS RECEIVED AFTER AGENDA POSTING 

Any writing related to an agenda item for the open session of this meeting distributed to the Planning Commission less 

than 72 hours before this meeting is available for inspection at City Hall, 3970 Rocklin Road, Rocklin, during normal 

business hours. These writings will also be available for review at the planning commission meeting in the public access 

binder located on the table at the back of the Council Chambers. If you have questions related to this agenda, please 

call 916-625-5160. 

 

WRITTEN MATERIAL INTRODUCED INTO THE RECORD 

Any citizen wishing to introduce written material into the record at the hearing on any item is requested to provide a 

copy of the written material to the Planning Department prior to the hearing date so that the material may be 

distributed to the Planning Commission prior to the hearing. 

 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the City of Rocklin encourages those with disabilities to 

participate fully in the public hearing process.  If you have a special need in order to allow you to attend or participate in 

our public hearing process or programs, please contact our office at (916) 625-5160 well in advance of the public 

hearing or program you wish to attend so that we may make every reasonable effort to accommodate you. 

 

COURT CHALLENGES AND APPEAL PERIOD 

Court challenges to any public hearing items may be limited to only those issues which are raised at the public hearing 

described in the notice or in written correspondence delivered to the City at or prior to the public hearing. (Government 

Code Section 65009) 

 

Packet Pg. 1



Planning Commission Agenda  

November 7, 2017 

Page 2 

 

There is a 10-day appeal period for most Planning Commission decisions.  However, a Planning Commission approval of 

a tentative parcel map has a 15-day appeal period.  Appeals can be made by any interested party upon payment of the 

appropriate fee and submittal of the appeal request to the Rocklin City Clerk or the Planning Department, 3970 Rocklin 

Road, Rocklin. 

 

ELECTRONIC PRESENTATIONS 

All persons with electronic presentations for public meetings will be required to bring their own laptop or other form of 

standalone device that is HDMI or VGA compatible.  It is further recommended that presenters arrive early to test their 

presentations.  The City is not responsible for the compatibility or operation of non-city devices or the functionality of 

non-city presentations. 

 

FURTHER INFORMATION 

Any person interested in an agenda item may contact the Planning Staff prior to the meeting date, at 3970 Rocklin 

Road, Rocklin, CA 95677 or by phoning (916) 625-5160 for further information. 

 

POSTING OF AGENDA 

In accordance with Government Code Section 54954.2(a) this agenda was posted on the City’s bulletin board at City 

Hall, 3970 Rocklin Road, Rocklin, and City of Rocklin website at www.rocklin.ca.us.  

 

AGENDA 

 

1. Meeting called to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Roll Call 

4. Minutes  - None 

5. Correspondence 

6. Citizens Addressing the Commission on Non Agenda Items 

 

CONSENT ITEMS  

 

 None 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

7. SIERRA GATEWAY APARTMENTS 

DESIGN REVIEW, DR2015-0018 

OAK TREE PRESERVATION PLAN PERMIT, TRE2016-0001 

 

This application is a request for approval of Design Review and Oak Tree Preservation Plan Permit to construct a 

195 unit multi-family project on an approximately 10.2 acre site, including site design, architecture, and 

landscaping. The subject property is generally located on the southeast corner of Sierra College Boulevard and 

Rocklin Road.  APNs 045-161-014, 045-161-015, 045-161-016.  The property is zoned Planned Development 20 

dwelling units minimum per acre (PD-20).  The General Plan designation is High Density Residential (HDR). 

 

Notice is hereby given that the City of Rocklin Planning Commission will consider making a recommendation for 

adoption of an Environmental Impact Report for the development project described above. A Draft EIR was 

prepared to address and analyze the Sierra Gateway Apartments project and was circulated for a 45-day public 

review period that began on April 27, 2017 and ended on June 12, 2017. The Final EIR document, which 

addresses and responds to comments that were made on the Draft EIR, will be available for public review on the 

Packet Pg. 2



Planning Commission Agenda  

November 7, 2017 

Page 3 

 

City’s website at https://www.rocklin.ca.us/current-environmental-documents. 

 

The applicant and property owner is Rocklin Sierra Apartments II, LLC. 

 

a. Resolution Of The Planning Commission Of The City Of Rocklin Recommending Certification Of A Final 

Environmental Impact Report, Recommending Making Findings Of Fact And Statement Of Overriding 

Considerations And Recommending Approval Of A Mitigation Monitoring And Reporting Program (Sierra 

Gateway Apartments / Dr2015-0018 And Tre2016-0001) 

 

b. Resolution Of The Planning Commission Of The City Of Rocklin Recommending Approval Of A Design Review 

And Oak Tree Preservation Plan Permit (Sierra Gateway Apartments / Dr2015-0018 And Tre2016-0001) 

 

NON PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

8. Informational Items and Presentations 

a. None 

9. Reports and Discussion Items from Planning Commissioners 

10. Reports from City Staff 

11. Adjournment 

 

 

Packet Pg. 3



 
 

City of Rocklin Economic and Community Development Department 
________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Planning Commission 

STAFF REPORT 
PART I – ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT (EIR) 

 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 

(aka Sierra College Apartments) 
 

Design Review, DR2015-0018 
Oak Tree Preservation Plan Permit, TRE2016-0001 

 
 

November 7, 2017 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation 

Staff recommends Planning Commission approval of the following: 
 
RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ROCKLIN RECOMMENDING 
CERTIFICATION OF A FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT, RECOMMENDING MAKING 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS AND RECOMMENDING 
APPROVAL OF A MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM (Sierra Gateway 
Apartments / DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001) 
 
RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ROCKLIN RECOMMENDING 
APPROVAL OF A DESIGN REVIEW AND OAK TREE PRESERVATION PLAN PERMIT (Sierra Gateway 
Apartments / DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001) 
 
Background/Environmental Review Process 

The staff report for this project is provided in two parts. Part I focuses on the environmental review 
process, while Part II focuses on the project itself. 

The City of Rocklin, as lead agency, prepared an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”) for the 
proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project (the “Project”) to address the potential 
environmental effects associated with the development of the Sierra Gateway Apartments project. 
In its entirety, the EIR documents consist of the April 2017 Draft EIR and the October 2017 Final EIR. 
The EIR evaluates the existing environmental resources within and in the vicinity of the project site, 
analyzes potential impacts on those resources due to the proposed project, and if necessary, 
identifies mitigation measures that could avoid or reduce the magnitude of those impacts.  

The City prepared and circulated an Initial Study and Notice of Preparation (NOP) for the Project on 
March 24, 2016 for a 30-day review period. The Initial Study includes a detailed environmental 
checklist addressing a range of environmental issues per CEQA Guidelines Section 15063 and 
Appendix G: Environmental Checklist Form. Based on the Initial Study’s review of the potential 

Packet Pg. 4

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 2 
 
environmental effects of the Project, it was determined that certain topics identified in the CEQA 
Guidelines would result in either no impact or a less than significant impact and would not require 
further consideration in the Draft EIR. A scoping meeting was held during the NOP comment period 
on April 14, 2016 to receive comments on the NOP and discuss the scope of the Draft EIR. 
Comments that were provided by members of the public and public agencies in response to the 
NOP and at the scoping meeting were received by the City and were incorporated into the scope 
and content of the environmental analysis, as necessary. The NOP comments are summarized in 
the Introduction and Scope of EIR section of the Draft EIR (pages 1-1 through 1-10) and are 
provided in Appendix B to the Draft EIR. 

The Draft EIR was circulated to the public and agencies for a 45-day review period, beginning on 
April 27, 2017 and ending on June 12, 2017. Twenty-two (22) comment letters were received 
during the public comment period. These comments, and responses thereto, are contained in the 
project’s Final EIR. Per CEQA Guidelines Section 15089, the City is providing an opportunity for 
review of the Final EIR by the public or by commenting agencies before approving the project. Per 
CEQA Statutes (Public Resources Code 21092.5), the City is providing a written proposed response 
to each public agency which commented on the Draft EIR 10 days prior to the certification of the 
Final EIR. The Final EIR was made available for public review on October 26, 2017. 

 

Summary of Draft EIR Analysis 

The Draft EIR analyzed the environmental topic areas of aesthetics, air quality, biological resource 
and traffic/transportation. A brief explanation of each such issue follows: 

• Aesthetics – The existing visual character of the site can be described as an undeveloped 
site containing numerous oak trees, grassland, and gently rolling topography. The 
surrounding area is mostly developed with retail commercial and residential uses. To the 
north of the project site are Rocklin Road, several isolated single family residences and 
vacant land designated for Mixed Use land uses under the Rocklin General Plan. To the 
northwest of the project site is the Sierra Community College campus, and to the west are 
Sierra College Boulevard, a small retail commercial shopping center, two separate 
apartment complexes and single-family residences further to the west. To the south are 
Water Lily Lane, a single-family subdivision and an open space area associated with an 
intermittent tributary of Secret Ravine Creek. To the east are an apartment complex, the 
City of Rocklin/Town of Loomis border and single-family residential subdivisions within the 
Town of Loomis.  
 
The proposed project would add a 195 unit multi-family apartment complex and associated 
infrastructure, including new sources of lighting to an undeveloped site. The proposed 
project will affect the visual character of the project area, due to the transition of the 
project site from undeveloped land to an urbanized land use.  
 
The EIR addressed the proposed project’s potential aesthetic impact related to the existing 
visual character or quality of the site and concluded that the impact was less than 
significant and no mitigation measures were required. 

Packet Pg. 5

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 3 
 

• Air Quality – Construction and operation of the proposed project will introduce new 
sources of pollutant emissions to the project area as a result of the diesel-powered 
construction equipment, trucks hauling building supplies, vehicle exhaust from construction 
workers, future residents and service workers, landscape maintenance equipment, and 
water heater/air conditioning energy use.  

The EIR addressed the proposed project’s potential air quality impacts and concluded the 
following: 1) the project would have a less than significant impact regarding conflicting or 
obstructing implementation of an air quality plan and no mitigation measures were 
required; 2) the project would have a potentially significant impact regarding violating an air 
quality standard or contributing substantially to an existing or projected air quality violation, 
so mitigation measures were identified to reduce the impact to a less than significant level; 
3) the project would have a less than significant impact regarding exposure of sensitive 
receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations and no mitigation measures were 
required; 4) the project would have a less than significant impact regarding creating 
objectionable odors affecting a substantial number of people and no mitigation measures 
were required, and 5) the project would have a potentially significant impact regarding 
resulting in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the 
project region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality 
standard, so mitigation measures were identified to reduce the impact to a less than 
significant level. 

• Biological Resources – The vegetation communities found on the proposed project site are 
primarily foothill woodland, annual grassland and riparian woodland. An arborist report of 
the proposed project site was conducted by the firm of Abacus that resulted in the 
identification of 368 oak trees on the project site. There are also approximately 0.03 acres 
of jurisdictional wetlands on the proposed project site.  

The EIR addressed the proposed project’s potential biological resources impacts and 
concluded the following: 1) the project would have a potentially significant impact 
regarding affecting special status species, so mitigation measures were identified to reduce 
the impact to a less than significant level; 2) the project would have a potentially significant 
impact on riparian habitat, sensitive natural communities and federally protected wetlands, 
so mitigation measures were identified to reduce the impact to a less than significant level; 
3) the project would have a less than significant impact regarding interfering substantially 
with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or with 
established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors and no mitigation measures were 
required; 4) the project would have a potentially significant impact regarding conflicting 
with a local policy or ordinance protecting biological resources, such as a tree preservation 
policy or ordinance, so mitigation measures were identified to reduce the impact to a less 
than significant level; 5) the project would have a less than significant impact regarding 
conflicting with an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Communities Plan or other 
approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan and no mitigation measures 
were required, and 6) the project would have a potentially significant impact regarding 
resulting in a cumulatively considerable contribution to the loss of native plant 

Packet Pg. 6

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 4 
 

communities, wildlife habitat values, special-status species and wetland resources in the 
region, so mitigation measures were identified to reduce the impact to a less than 
significant level. 

• Transportation and Traffic - The proposed project is anticipated to cause increases in traffic 
because an undeveloped site will become developed with a 195-unit apartment complex 
whose residents will generate automobile trips  

The EIR addressed the proposed project’s potential transportation and traffic impacts and 
concluded the following: 1) under the existing plus project condition, the project would 
have a less than significant impact regarding conflicting with an applicable plan, policy or 
ordinance establishing measures of effectiveness for the performance of the circulation 
system and no mitigation measures were required; 2) under the short -term plus project 
condition, the project would have a less than significant impact regarding conflicting with an 
applicable plan, policy or ordinance establishing measures of effectiveness for the 
performance of the circulation system and no mitigation measures were required;  and no 
mitigation measures were required; 3) the project would have a less than significant impact 
regarding conflicting with an applicable congestion management program and no mitigation 
measures were required, 4) the project would have a less than significant impact regarding 
a change in air traffic patterns and no mitigation measures were required; 5) the project 
would have a less than significant impact regarding substantially increasing hazards due to a 
design feature and no mitigation measures were required; 6) the project would have a less 
than significant impact regarding inadequate emergency access and no mitigation measures 
were required; 7) the project would have a less than significant impact regarding conflicting 
with policies, plans or programs for public transit, bicycle or pedestrian facilities and no 
mitigation measure were required, and 8) under the cumulative plus project condition, the 
project would have a potentially significant impact regarding conflicting with an applicable 
plan, policy or ordinance establishing measures of effectiveness for the performance of the 
circulation system, so mitigation measures were identified to reduce the level of the impact, 
but the impact was determined to be significant and unavoidable.  

 

Discussion of the EIR Resolution 

The City of Rocklin is the lead agency for the preparation of the EIR for the proposed Sierra 
Gateway Apartments Project. Although the certification of the project’s Environmental Impact 
Report is the responsibility of the City Council, CEQA Guidelines Section 15080 mandates that "to 
the extent possible, the EIR process should be combined with the existing planning, review, and 
project approval process used by each public agency." This legal mandate is one reason that review 
and a subsequent recommendation action on this EIR is required of the Planning Commission. 
  

Packet Pg. 7

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 5 
 
CEQA Requirement of Findings of Fact, Exhibit B 
 
Exhibit B to the Planning Commission resolution recommending certification of the EIR is the draft 
Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding Consideration for this EIR. Agencies must adopt 
findings before approving projects for which EIRs are required. (See Public Resources Code, Section 
21081, subd. (a); CEQA Guidelines, Section 15091, subd. (a).) For each significant environmental 
effect identified in an EIR for a project, the approving agency must issue a written finding reaching 
one or more of three permissible conclusions. 
 
• The first such finding is that “[c]hanges or alterations have been required in, or incorporated 

into, the project which avoid or substantially lessen the significant environmental effect as 
identified in the final EIR.” (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15091, subd. (a)(1).) 

 
• The second permissible finding is that “[s]uch changes or alterations are within the 

responsibility and jurisdiction of another public agency and not the agency making the finding. 
Such changes have been adopted by such other agency or can and should be adopted by such 
other agency.” (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15091, subd. (a)(2).) 

 
• The third potential conclusion is that “[s]pecific economic, legal, social, technological, or other 

considerations, including provision of employment opportunities for highly trained workers, 
make infeasible the mitigation measures or project alternatives identified in the final EIR.” 
(CEQA Guidelines, Section 15091, subd. (a)(3).) 

 
Public Resources Code section 21061.1 defines “feasible” to mean “capable of being accomplished 
in a successful manner within a reasonable period of time, taking into account economic, 
environmental, social and technological factors.” CEQA Guidelines section 15364 adds another 
factor: “legal” considerations. 
 
Organization of the CEQA Findings of Fact 
 
Sections I through IX of the Findings of Fact are informational, discussing the project and project 
history as well as explaining the legal underpinnings of the findings requirement and the 
requirement of a mitigation monitoring plan. Sections X through XIII address the environmental 
impacts identified in the EIR and contain the appropriate findings for each impact, along with an 
explanation of the impact, mitigation or regulations applied to lessen the severity of the impact, 
and a conclusion with a statement of significance after impact. All of the sections of the EIR 
containing identified "significant effects" are addressed in the CEQA Findings of Fact document. For 
each identified impact in Sections X through XIII, appropriate cross references to the EIR are 
provided as each impact is discussed in the Findings of Fact.  
 
Discussion of Project Alternatives, Exhibit B, Section XIV and XV 
 
The City’s review of project alternatives is guided primarily by the need to reduce potential impacts 
associated with the Project, while still achieving the basic objectives of the Project. The objectives 

Packet Pg. 8

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 6 
 
of the Sierra Gateway Apartments project are as follows: 
 

• Provide a high-quality, financially viable residential apartment project that integrates and 
transitions into the surrounding land uses and would maximize housing opportunities by 
locating a higher density development with a significant number of units within walking and 
bicycling distance of Sierra College and nearby retail commercial uses, and within a short 
driving distance to the City’s commercial centers at Sierra College Boulevard and Interstate 
80;  

 
• Increase Rocklin’s housing supply in a manner that responds to market desires and in close 

proximity to existing transportation corridors and nearby public transportation to help 
promote walkable communities and reduce vehicle trips and traffic congestion, and that is 
consistent with General Plan land use and zoning designations, planning goals, objectives, 
and policies of the City of Rocklin;  

 
• Provide housing opportunities consistent with the available sites for residential 

development that were identified in the City of Rocklin 2013-2021 Housing Element Update, 
consistent with Goal 2 to facilitate the provision of a range of housing types to meet the 
diverse needs of the community, and consistent with Policy 3.3 to facilitate the 
development of multi-family housing on vacant parcels designated for medium-high and 
high density residential uses 
 

• Provide a well-designed project that is consistent with the Sacramento Area Council of 
Governments (SACOG) 2016 Metropolitan Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities 
Strategy, including its guiding principles, policies and strategies as they relate to smart land 
use, access and mobility, compact development and greenfield developments adjacent to 
the existing urban edge. 

 
• Develop an apartment complex adjacent to an existing apartment complex that is already 

being operated by the Project applicant to achieve certain economies of scale such as 
allowing for more efficient joint management of both complexes and providing additional 
amenities that can be offered to and enjoyed by tenants of the existing complex. 

 
• Replace a long-standing undeveloped property with a market ready, economically 

productive use that maximizes opportunities to strengthen the tax base. 
 
The EIR identified the following three potentially feasible alternatives to the Project: No Project 
Alternative; Reduced Intensity Alternative, and Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height 
Alternative. Each of these Alternatives and the Environmentally Superior Alternative are discussed 
in detail in Sections XIV and XV, respectively, of Exhibit B to the Planning Commission resolution. 
 
  

Packet Pg. 9

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 7 
 
Statement of Overriding Considerations, Exhibit B, Section XVI 
 
Section 15091 of the CEQA Guidelines requires public agencies to make written findings for each 
significant environmental effect that has been identified in an EIR. In addition to making written 
findings for each significant environmental effect, CEQA Guidelines section 15093 requires the lead 
agency to “balance, as applicable, the economic, legal, social, technological or other benefits of a 
proposed project against its unavoidable environmental risks… if the specific economic, legal, 
social, technological, or other benefits of a proposed project outweigh the unavoidable adverse 
environmental effects, the adverse environmental effects may be considered “acceptable”. If there 
is no way for the lead agency to either avoid or substantially lessen a significant effect, even after 
mitigation, the lead agency is required to prepare a Statement of Overriding Considerations to 
support its action to approve a project. 
 
The draft Statement of Overriding Considerations is found in Section XVI of Exhibit B to the 
Planning Commission resolution. The draft findings in that section state that the proposed Sierra 
Gateway Apartments project would have the following economic, social, technological or other 
benefits:  
 

1. Consistency with the City’s General Plan. The Project is consistent with the land use 
designation for the underlying property set forth in the City’s 2012 General Plan, as 
amended on April 16, 2013: High Density Residential. (DEIR, p. 3-5) 

 
2. Consistency with the City’s Zoning Ordinance. The Project is consistent with the zoning 

designation for the underlying property set forth in the City’s Zoning Ordinance, as 
amended on April 16, 2013: Planned Development Residential, 20 units minimum per acre 
(PD-20). (DEIR, p. 3-5) 

 
3. Consistency with the General Plan EIR. The General Plan EIR contemplates the 

environmental impacts of implementation of the General Plan land use designations, goals 
and policies, and identifies impacts, mitigation measures and statements of overriding 
consideration. The DEIR for this Project, and these Findings, incorporate, either expressly or 
by reference, such impacts, mitigation measures and statements of overriding 
consideration. 

   
4. Compliance with the City’s Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance. The removal of those oak 

trees on site that have not been identified by the arborist as dead, diseased or dying will be 
mitigated by compliance with the City’s Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance.  

 
5. General Plan Land Use Goals and Policies. The Project is consistent with and will advance 

the City’s goals and policies for new residential developments as set forth in the City’s 
General Plan dated October, 2012, including, but not limited to, the following selected goals 
and policies of the Land Use and Open Space, Conservation and Recreation Elements of the 
General Plan (paraphrased in some instances): 

 

Packet Pg. 10

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 8 
 

a. Providing for an orderly and well planned development that will enhance the City of 
Rocklin. (General Land Use Goal, General Plan, p. 2-1); 

b. Is responsive to the objective of promoting flexibility and innovation in new 
development through the use of planned unit developments and other innovative 
design and planning techniques. (LU-1, General Plan, p. 2-2); 

c. Is responsive to the objective of encouraging a variety of building sites, building 
types, and land use concepts in High Density Residential areas located along major 
streets. (LU-2, General Plan, p. 2-2) 

d. Is responsive to the objective of minimizing the adverse effects of light and glare on 
surrounding properties. (LU-4, General Plan, p. 2-2); 

e. Is consistent with the General Plan designation for the property of High Density 
Residential (HDR) and thus meets the objectives of a variety of residential land use 
designation to meet the future needs of the City (LU-12) and designated residential 
densities (LU-17(. (Policies for New residential Land Use, General Plan, p. 2-3); 

f. Is responsive to the objective of encouraging High Density Residential uses near 
major arterial and/or collector streets. (LU-20, General Plan, p. 2-4) 

g. Is consistent with the zoning designation for the site (Planned Development 
Residential, 20 units minimum per acre (PD-20)), which is, in turn, consistent with 
the General Plan policy of adopting zoning designations consistent with the General 
Plan. (LU-62, General Plan, p. 2-8) 
 

General Plan Open Space, Conservation and Recreation Goals and Policies. The Project 
is consistent with and will advance many of the goals and policies set forth in the City’s 
General Plan. Specifically, the Project is consistent with the goals and policies of the 
Open Space, Conservation and Recreation Element of the General Plan, including, by 
way of example: 
 
h. The DEIR and these Findings are consistent with the policy of utilizing the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) as the primary regulatory tool for identifying and 
mitigating, where feasible, impacts to open space and natural resources when 
reviewing proposed development projects. (OCR-5, General Plan, p. 2-9); 

i. The Project is consistent with the policy mitigating for the removal of oak trees and 
impacts to oak woodlands in accordance with the City’s Oak Tree Preservation 
Ordinance. (OCR-43, General Plan, p. 2-13); 

j. The Project is consistent with the policy of preserving significant archaeological 
resources and paleontological resources in place if feasible, or providing for 
mitigation prior to disturbance. (OCR-65, General Plan, p. 2-15). 
 

General Plan Circulation Element Goals and Policies. The Project is consistent with and 
will advance many of the goals and policies set forth in the City’s General Plan. 
Specifically, the Project is consistent with the goals and policies of the Circulation 
Element of the General Plan, including, by way of example: 
 

Packet Pg. 11

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 9 
 

k. Is consistent with the policy of coordinating land use and transportation planning to 
support transit services, NEV facilities and non-motorized transportation. (C-2, 
General Plan, p. 2-15); 

l. The DEIR and these Findings are consistent with the policy of determining when 
improvements are needed to City streets to maintain an acceptable level of service. 
(C-7, General Plan, p. 2-15). 
 

General Plan Housing Element Goals and Policies. The Project is consistent with and 
will advance many of the goals and policies set forth in the City’s General Plan. 
Specifically, the Project is consistent with the goals and policies of the 2013-2021 
Housing Element (Housing Element) of the General Plan, including, by way of example: 
 
m. Facilitating the provision of a range of housing types to meet the diverse needs of 

the community. (Goal 2, Housing Element, p. 7-83) 
n. Provide quality housing opportunities for current and future residents with a diverse 

range of income levels. (Policy 2.1, Housing Element, p. 7-83) 
o. Provide expanded housing opportunities for the community’s workforce. (Policy 2.2, 

Housing Element, p. 7-83) 
p. Facilitate the development of multi-family housing on vacant parcels designated for 

medium-high and high density residential uses. (Policy 3.3, Housing Element, p. 7-
84) 

 
6. Consistency with Smart Growth Principles. The Project is generally consistent with 

commonly accepted principles of Smart Growth supporting the development of mixed use 
and mixed income communities; supporting a range of housing types as well as social 
diversity; promoting the use of existing infrastructure investments, and encouraging 
efficient land development and proximity to activity centers. This high density residential 
project includes a range of residential unit sizes to meet the needs of varying household 
incomes and housing preferences. The Project is located adjacent to existing residential 
uses to the east and south, retail uses to the west, and a large community college campus 
to the northwest, and in the context of surrounding uses may be considered an infill 
development. The Project is located on existing community streets and will cause no new 
streets to be constructed. The proximity of the Project to retail, a large education campus 
and employment centers will encourage and accommodate the use of alternative modes of 
transportation, including bicycle and pedestrian modes, and encourage the reduced 
reliance on the automobile as a travel mode. The proximity to these same activity centers 
means the housing opportunities presented by the Project will be available to students and 
employees, including faculty. (American Planning Association (APA), US Environmental 
Protection Agency (USEPA).) 

 
7. Consistency with the SACOG Blueprint Project. The Project is generally consistent with the 

SACOG Blueprint Project and would implement several of the growth principles of the 
Preferred Scenario adopted unanimously by the SACOG Board of Directors in December, 
2004, including, by way of example, transportation choices, compact development, housing 

Packet Pg. 12

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 10 
 

choice and diversity, use of existing assets and quality design. (see “Blueprint Preferred 
Scenario” and “Blueprint growth principles,” SACOG Blueprint web page) The Project is also 
consistent with the Blueprint preferred scenario summary statistics for Rocklin reflecting a 
goal of increasing the percentage of the housing stock comprised of attached products. (see 
“Blueprint Summary Statistics, Rocklin,” SACOG Blueprint web page). 

 
8. Revitalize an Underutilized Area of the City. The Project will foster and facilitate the 

development of an underutilized area of the City. The underutilized site will be revitalized 
with economically beneficial uses, new buildings of quality architecture, landscape and 
hardscape design, and improved vehicular and pedestrian circulation. 

 
9. Create Employment Opportunities for Local Residents. The Project will have a positive 

impact on job creation in the City and will generate diversity in employment opportunities, 
including temporary construction jobs as well as permanent full-time and part-time jobs. 
Consequently, it is reasonably expected that the City and its residents will enjoy the 
economic and social benefits from added employment opportunities created by the Project.  

 
10. Contribute to and Fund Needed Infrastructure Improvements. The Project consists of new 

development that will be required to contribute to needed transportation infrastructure 
improvements by paying its fair share towards infrastructure improvements. The Project 
will also construct or contribute to funding other infrastructure improvements which will 
benefit additional development projects and City residents and visitors. 

 
11. Increase Customer Base for Retail Activity. The Project will provide additional workers and 

residents to the City who will have disposable income to support the City’s retailers and 
increase retail activity. 

 
12. Generate Economic Benefits from Taxes. The Project will provide increased sales tax and 

property tax revenue to the City, local schools and other agencies. These revenues will 
benefit the City and other local governmental agencies, and their residents and 
constituencies, by providing needed revenue for the provision of required services and 
amenities. Specific to the City of Rocklin, these revenues will go to the City’s General Fund, 
which is the primary source of funding for the construction, operation and maintenance of a 
number of essential City services, programs and facilities, including fire and police services, 
recreation programs, transit operations and administrative functions, among other things. 

 
13. Expansion of the City’s Housing Stock. The Project will provide housing resources to meet 

the demands of a growing population of the south Placer County region, thereby helping to 
lessen upward pressure on housing costs. 

 
Mitigation Monitoring Plan 
 
Included in the October 2017 Final EIR is the Mitigation Monitoring Plan for the Project. The 
Mitigation Monitoring Plan identifies the mitigation measures associated with the project and 

Packet Pg. 13

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 11 
 
identifies the monitoring activities required to ensure their implementation through the use of a 
table format. The columns identify: Impact, Mitigation Measure(s), Monitoring Agency, 
Implementation Schedule and Sign-Off. 
 
The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq, as 
amended by Chapter 1232) requires all lead agencies before approving a proposed project to adopt 
a reporting and monitoring program for adopted or required changes to mitigate or avoid 
significant environmental effects. The reporting or monitoring program shall be designed to ensure 
compliance during project implementation as required by Public Resources Code Section 21081.6. 
This law requires the lead agency responsible for the certification of an environmental impact 
report to prepare and approve a program to both monitor all mitigation measures and prepare and 
approve a report on the progress of the implementation of those measures. 
 
The responsibilities for monitoring assignments are based upon the expertise or authority of the 
person(s) assigned to monitor the specific activity. The City of Rocklin Economic and Community 
Development Director or his designee shall monitor to assure compliance and timely monitoring 
and reporting of all aspects of the mitigation monitoring program. 
 
Prepared by David Mohlenbrok, Environmental Coordinator 
 
 
P:\PUBLIC PLANNING FILES\__ PROJECT FILES\Sierra Gateway Apts (Sierra College Apts II)\Meeting Packets\PC 11-7-17\01 Sierra Gateway Apts SR Part I PC 11-7-17 
(DR2015-0018 TRE2016-0001) -  draft.docx 

Packet Pg. 14

Agenda Item #7.



 
 

City of Rocklin Economic and Community Development Department 
________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Planning Commission 

STAFF REPORT 
PART II – PLANNING ENTITLEMENTS 

 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 

(aka Sierra College Apartments) 
 

Design Review, DR2015-0018 
Oak Tree Preservation Plan Permit, TRE2016-0001 

 
 

November 7, 2017 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation 

Staff recommends Planning Commission approval of the following: 
 
RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ROCKLIN RECOMMENDING 
CERTIFICATION OF A FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT, RECOMMENDING MAKING 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS AND RECOMMENDING 
APPROVAL OF A MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM (Sierra Gateway 
Apartments / DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001) 
 
RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ROCKLIN RECOMMENDING 
APPROVAL OF A DESIGN REVIEW AND OAK TREE PRESERVATION PLAN PERMIT (Sierra Gateway 
Apartments / DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001) 
 
Proposal/Application Request 

This application is a request for approval of the following entitlements to allow the development of 
a 195-unit apartment project on an approximately 10.2 acre site: 

• A Design Review to approve the site design, architecture, and landscaping for a multi-
family development. 

• An Oak Tree Preservation Permit to allow the removal of approximately 321 oak trees 
from the site. 

 
Project Ownership and Location 

The applicant and property owner is Rocklin Sierra Apartments II, LLC. The subject property is 
generally located on the southeasterly corner of the intersection of Rocklin Road and Sierra College 
Boulevard. APN 045-161-014, 045-161-015, and 045-161-016. Figure 1. 

Figure 1 – Project Location 

Packet Pg. 15

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 2 
 

 
 

 
Surrounding Land Uses and Site Characteristics 
The site is currently undeveloped and supports oak trees and native and non-native grasses. The 
terrain is hilly, with the highest point mounding near the southeast corner and the lowest point 
being a depression that runs crosswise to the intersection of Rocklin Road and Sierra College 
Boulevard—a twenty- to thirty-foot elevation change. The site slopes back up approximately 15 
feet to near the street grades along the frontages. Elevation changes from the “mound” to other 
site boundaries range from ten to twenty feet. The site is roughly rectangular with a narrow pie-
shaped wedge extending south between the Hidden Creek (aka “Reflections”) subdivision and 
Sierra College Boulevard. Most of the triangular “pan-handle” area south of Water Lily Lane has 
been delineated as a wetland as an unnamed tributary of Secret Ravine Creek.  
 
Immediately east are the existing Rocklin Manor Apartments and beyond single family residential 
within the Town of Loomis. To the south is a single family residential neighborhood; to the west 
across Sierra College Boulevard is the Campus Plaza commercial center and single family 
residential; and to the north across Rocklin Road is an undeveloped property owned by Sierra 
College.   
 
See Table 1 for surrounding uses and see Figure 2 for the current General Plan and Zoning. 
  

Packet Pg. 16

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 3 
 

Table 1.  Surrounding Uses 
 Current Use Current General Plan / Zoning 

Project 
Site 

Vacant 
 
 

 
High Density Residential (HDR) / 

Planned Development- 20 units per acre minimum 
(PD-20) 

 

North Vacant 
(across Rocklin Road) 

Mixed Use (MU)  /  
Planned Development Community College (PD-CC) 

South 
Single Family Residential 

(Hidden Creek Subdivision 
– aka Reflections) 

Medium High Density Residential (MHDR) and 
Recreation Conservation (RC) / 

Planned Development 8 units per acre (PD-8) and 
Open Area (OA) 

East Single Family Residential 
(Town of Loomis) 

Rural Residential (RR)  /  
Rural Residential (RR) – 1 acre min./1 du per acre 

West 

Commercial 
(Campus Plaza center) 

Multi-Family Residential 
(Granite Creek Apartments 

– aka Emerald Oaks) 

Medium High Density Residential (MHDR) and 
Recreation Conservation (RC) / 

Planned Development 13 units per acre (PD-13) and 
Open Area (OA) 

 

Figure 2. Current General Plan/Zoning 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

MU 
PQP 

MHDR 

MDR 

RC 
MHDR 

MHDR 

R-C 

HDR 

RR 

Packet Pg. 17

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 4 
 
Project History  

The current project is substantially similar to the previously approved Sierra College Apartments 
project. In 2015, the Sierra College Apartments project was considered by the Planning Commission 
in two meetings. At the first meeting, the Planning Commission directed the applicant to modify 
the project and return for further consideration. At the second meeting, the Planning Commission 
did not approve the modified project that had moved several units to the interior two Buildings 6 
and 7 allowing Buildings 5 and 9, closest to Water Lily Lane, to be stepped back into the site with 
units positioned farther back from the street frontage and the adjacent Reflections subdivision, 
thus lowering the perceived height and mass of the buildings as seen from Water Lily Lane. The 
applicant appealed the Planning Commission’s decision to the City Council. On May 26, 2015, the 
City Council approved the modified project, adding a few special conditions to further help buffer 
the project from the single family residential. The Council also added a condition that required the 
modified architecture of the project be reviewed and approved by the Council at a subsequent 
meeting. 
 
A citizens group filed a lawsuit challenging the project’s approval and the Mitigated Negative 
Declaration adopted for the project via Resolution 2015-123. As a result of that litigation, the City 
Council rescinded the project’s prior approval and directed staff to prepare an Environmental 
Impact Report (EIR). In 2016, the applicant re-applied for the current entitlements. 
 
The project site was annexed from the County in 1985 as part of the Monte Verde Annexation 
Area. An EIR was prepared and approved as part of that annexation. The proposed land uses and 
zoning were found to be consistent with the (then) existing General Plan text and the rezone was 
approved. The subject site was given the General Plan designation Retail Commercial (RC) with 
zoning of Planned Development Commercial (PD-C). Additionally, the City Council made findings 
that the proposed zoning and General Development Plan would form a transition area between the 
adjoining commercial and residential zones and that the area is uniquely situated on a corner 
making the proposed zoning and General Development Plan appropriate for the subject property.  
 
The site is also within of the General Development Plan for Rocklin Road East of I-80 in which the 
previously approved zoning, PD-C, was not changed. City Council approved this General 
Development Plan (Ordinance 820) on December 14, 1999. 
 
On April 16, 2013, the City Council approved a General Plan Amendment to change the 
designations from RC to High Density Residential (HDR) and a Rezone to change the zoning from 
PD-C to Planned Development 20 units minimum per acre (PD-20). 
 
Environmental Determination 

The City prepared an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) for this project. See Part One of the Staff 
Report for a summary of the environmental review process and a discussion of the findings from 
the EIR. The Final EIR is referenced to Part One as Exhibit A (provided directly to the Planning 
Commission and available on the City’s website at: https://www.rocklin.ca.us/post/sierra-gateway-

Packet Pg. 18

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 5 
 
apartments-0) and the Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding Considerations is attached to 
the draft resolution for the EIR as Exhibit B. 
 
General Plan and Zoning Compliance 

Through the approvals of the City Council in 2013, the General Plan land use designation was 
changed from RC to HDR and the Zoning was changed from PD-C to PD-20. These changes were 
considered appropriate due to the City’s state mandated need to accommodate a variety of 
housing types and because of the project’s location along primary arterials and in close proximity 
to both Sierra College and local shopping centers. The proposed project is consistent with the 
current General Plan and the Zoning designations for the site.  
 
During processing of the prior version of the project in 2015, the City Attorney at the time prepared 
two memos discussing the differences in purview between land use/zoning requirements, and 
Design Review. The memos also addressed density calculations. While Design Review can address 
aesthetic and adjacency issues, such as bulk, mass and the location of features on the site, the 
memorandums specify that a Design Review entitlement cannot modify the minimum or maximum 
required density of a project.  
 
Copies of the memos from 5/26/15 have been included for reference in this staff report packet as 
Attachments 1 and 2. 
 
Design Review 

General Project Design 
The proposed 195-unit multi-family development includes a clubhouse/recreation facility with a 
swimming pool, nine two- and three-story residential buildings with garages on the ground floor, 
and carports. Four building types are proposed. The project as proposed is consistent with the 
zoning and the adopted City-wide Design Review Criteria. 
 
Architecture 
As noted above, the Council added a condition for the architecture of the project to be modified to 
have a more collegiate style. The applicant worked with a Council sub-committee and revised the 
architecture to its current style. Since the project’s original approval in 2015, the City adopted the 
Architectural Districts Guidelines and this project is within the College District. The applicant 
worked with staff to further refine the details on the southern façades of Buildings 5 and 9 and 
added elements that serve to lighten the upper story and provide additional articulation so the 
upper floors of the buildings have less mass and height. On October 5, the Architectural Review 
Committee (ARC) considered the architecture. The ARC was generally supportive of the project’s 
architecture and determined that it complied with the College District requirements. The ARC 
recommended approval of the project to the Planning Commission with three revisions to the 
project architecture. Specifically, the ARC directed that brick veneer be located on the lower story 
of all building facades that are clearly visible from either a public or private right-of-way. The ARC 
also was concerned that the upper most stories of the southern elevations of Buildings 5 and 9 
were not enhanced enough. Their direction was to add a sturdy metal grill element in the walkway 

Packet Pg. 19

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 6 
 
openings that would mimic the pattern and proportion of the divided lights in the windows of the 
lower stories and to add Hardie panel siding and change the paint color from cream/white to add 
additional interest to the larger expanses of plain walls. The modifications the applicant made in 
response to the ARC are shown in Exhibit A. Staff has included a draft condition of approval to 
require the architecture be modified consistent with the Planning Commission’s direction, if 
needed, to the satisfaction of the Economic and Community Development Director.  

Because the proposed buildings have heights that exceed 30 feet and have more than two stories, 
the design review of the project is required to be reviewed by the Planning Commission with final 
approval by the City Council pursuant to Rocklin Municipal Code section 17.72.070.B.2. 
 
Landscaping 
The project proposes a mix of groundcovers, shrubs, and trees. The parking lot shade requirement 
has been met and the project complies with the City-wide Design Review Criteria. In order to soften 
the appearance of the proposed stacked block retaining wall along Sierra College Boulevard, a 
condition has been included to require screening with both vertical and horizontal plantings. 
 
Parking 
The project complies with the City’s parking requirements for apartments providing 338 spaces 
within garages and carports and 49 uncovered visitor spaces, for a total of 387 parking spaces.  
 
Access 
Public access to the project will be via the driveway on Rocklin Road that will be shared with the 
existing Rocklin Manor Apartments. An existing easement across the project site provides access to 
the Rocklin Manor Apartments. The configuration of the existing driveway will be modified to allow 
correct circulation for both apartment complexes. 
 
The southern driveway on Water Lily Lane is proposed to be an exit only and Emergency Vehicle 
Access (EVA). Previously, this driveway was proposed as an EVA only, however allowing exiting 
vehicles from the project at this driveway was a change made by the project applicant in response 
to previously voiced public concern regarding having only one main entrance on Rocklin Road. It 
should be noted that the Water Lily Lane access was also analyzed within the EIR as emergency 
access only and there were no differences in the EIR’s impact conclusions between the Water Lily 
Lane outbound access and Water Lily Lane emergency access scenarios. 
 
Traffic 
For the discussion on the project’s traffic analysis and identified mitigations please see the Traffic 
and Circulation section of Part I of the staff report. 
 
Oak Tree Preservation Permit 

According to the arborist report prepared for the project, there are approximately 368 oak trees on 
the site; approximately 321 oak trees will be removed for development of the site and road 
improvements, of which 93 require mitigation.  A total of 228 oak trees are in poor enough health 
that, consistent with the provisions of the City’s ordinance, they do not require mitigation. In the 

Packet Pg. 20

Agenda Item #7.



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Sierra Gateway Apartments 
November 7, 2017 
Page 7 
 
triangular “pan-handle” area south of Water Lily Lane, 47 trees in varying states of health will be 
retained. A condition of approval has been included that requires an open space easement to be 
recorded over the pan-handle portion of the property to protect the wetland and the oak trees.  In 
addition, a condition of approval requires the project to mitigate for the removal of oak trees on 
the project site consistent with the requirements of the City’s Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance 
(Rocklin Municipal Code Section 17.77.080.B). As noted in the EIR section of the staff report, 
several project alternatives that had the potential to reduce the number of oaks tree impacted by 
the project were identified and analyzed.  
 

Public Correspondence 

 
Attached to the staff report as Attachment 3 is correspondence from members of the public 
commenting on the project. 
 
 
Prepared by Dara Dungworth, Senior Planner 
 
Attachments 
Attachment 1 – Zoning vs. Design Review Memo 
Attachment 2 – Zoning vs. Design Review Memo Continued 
Attachment 3 – Public Correspondence  
 
 
P:\PUBLIC PLANNING FILES\__ PROJECT FILES\Sierra Gateway Apts (Sierra College Apts II)\Meeting Packets\PC 11-7-17\02 Sierra Gateway Apts SR Part II PC 11-7-17 
(DR2015-0018 TRE2016-0001) -  final.docx  

Packet Pg. 21

Agenda Item #7.



CITY OF ROCKLIN 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

May 26, 2015 

Honorable Mayor and City Council, Planning Commissioners, City Staff 

Russell A. Hildebrand, City Attorney 

Legal Analysis of the Interplay Between the Zoning Code and the Design 

Review Code 

Introduction 

Economic and Community Development Director Marc MondeII asked for a clarification 

memo regarding the interplay between the zoning code and the design review code. A 

recent apartment project had large buildings required to meet the mandated minimum 

zoning density. But how far can design review restrictions go in scaling back the project 

to achieve neighborhood compatibility goals? I will attempt to answer that question by 

discussion of the attributes of the zoning code and the design review code, how they 

overlap, and where one must yield to the authority of the other. 

Authority and Scope of Zoning 

Land use regulation in California — including zoning — historically has been a function of 

local government based in the police power granted to local government by the 

California Constitution. Cal. Const. Art. XI § 7; see, e.g., Big Creek Lumber Co. v. County 
of Santa Cruz, 38 Ca1.4th 1139, 1151 (2006); see also Belle Terre v. Boraas, 416 U.S. 1, 4 

(1974) ("If the validity of the legislative classification for zoning purposes be fairly 

debatable, the legislative judgment must be allowed to control."). "[T]he very essence 

of the police power ... is proper [provided] that the method of its exercise is reasonably 

within the meaning of due process of law." Consolidated Rock Products Co. v. Los 
Angeles, 57 Cal. 2d 515, 530 (1962). In fact, courts reviewing claims regarding land use 

generally provide significant deference to the decisions of local government; lilt is to 

be remembered that we are dealing with one of the most essential powers of the 

government, one that is the least limitable. It may, indeed, seem harsh in its exercise, 

usually is on some individual, but the imperative necessity for its existence precludes 

any limitation upon it when not exerted arbitrarily. ... To so hold would preclude 

development and fix a city forever in its primitive conditions. There must be progress, 

and if in its march private interests are in the way they must yield to the good of the 

community." Id. (citations omitted). With respect to exercise of the police power, 

Packet Pg. 22

Agenda Item #7.

lauraw
Text Box
Attachment 1



Zoning and Design Review Opinion 

May 26, 2015 

Page 2 

"there does not seem to be any distinction in principle between depriving an owner of 

the right to develop such inherent qualities of the land and a regulation which prohibits 

an owner from erecting on his land structures which he believes will, and which in fact 

will, enhance the value of the property." Marblehead Land Co. v. City of Los Angeles, 47 

F.2d 528, 532 (9th Cir. 1931). 

Generally, zoning is the division of the City into districts and the adoption and 

application of different regulations in each district. Some zoning regulations are city 

wide, such as Chapter 17.64, Special and Prohibited Uses in our Zoning Code (Title 17 of 

the Rocklin Municipal Code). But the majority of zoning regulations are zone specific. 

There are two basic types of zoning regulations — 1) those that regulate structural and 

architectural design of buildings like height and bulk and location, and 2) those that set 

out the uses which are allowed in each district. "Zoning is a separation of the 

municipality into districts, and the regulation of buildings and structures, according to 

their construction, and the nature and extent of their use, and the nature and extent of 

the uses of the land." O'Loane v. O'Rourke, 231 Cal.App. 2d 774, 780 (1965) 

Chapter 17.02.030 of the Zoning Code sets out the purpose of the City Zoning Code: 

The purpose of this title is to: 

A. Regulate the use of buildings, structures and land as between agriculture, 

industry, business, residential use, and open space, including agriculture, 

recreation, enjoyment of scenic beauty and use of natural resources, and other 

purposes; 

B. Regulate the location, height, bulk, number of stories, and size of buildings 

and structures; 

C. Regulate the size and use of lots, setbacks, courts and other open spaces; 

D. Regulate the percentage of a lot which may be occupied by a building or 

structure; 

E. Regulate the intensity of land use; 

F. Establish requirements for off-street parking and loading; 

G. Divide the city into zoning districts of such number, shape and area as may be 

deemed best suited to carry out the purposes of this title; 

H. To provide for the enforcement of the regulations of this title. 

The purposes set forth above are deemed necessary in order to encourage the 

most appropriate use of land; to conserve, protect and stabilize the value of 

property; to provide adequate open spaces for light and air; to prevent undue 

concentration of population; to lessen congestion on the streets; to provide 

adequate provisions for community utilities; and to promote the public health, 

safety, and general welfare. It is a further purpose of this title to implement the 

general plan of the city. 

Packet Pg. 23

Agenda Item #7.



Zoning and Design Review Opinion 

May 26, 2015 

Page 3 

Authority and Scope of Design Review 

Design Review in the City of Rocklin is governed by Chapter 17.72 in the Zoning Code. 

The basic premise of Design Review is stated in the Findings section (17.72.010) : 

The council finds that due to the size, bulk and height of many multiple-family 

residential and nonresidential developments, it is necessary to ensure that the 

designs thereof make the most efficient use of available resources and 

harmonize with existing and proposed residential development, as well as with 

existing development of like character. 

The City Council has designated the Planning Commission as the City Design Review 

Board. (RMC 17.72.030.B.) The decisions of the Design Review Board are guided by 

RMC 17.72.070 subsection C.: 

Any decision by the design review board or the council on a design review 

application shall be based on consideration of the following: 

1. Relationship between the site design and the surrounding development, 

natural features and constraints and traffic flow; 

2. Height, bulk and area; 

3. Orientation of buildings and structures (with emphasis on energy consumption 

for heating, cooling, lighting); 

4. Color scheme and materials; 

5. Style, type and orientation of lighting; 

6. Dimensions and placement of signs and graphics; 

7. Landscaping (with emphasis on aesthetics, use of water and maintenance 

needs); 

8. Parking design, including ingress and egress patterns; 

9. Other design review criteria, which may be adopted from time to time by 

resolution of the council. 

A description of the Design Review Board and their duties is also found in the Land Use 

Element of the Rocklin General Plan: 

The City of Rocklin Zoning Ordinance provides for design review for multiple-

family, commercial and industrial developments through application of a Design 

Review procedure. 

Due to the size, bulk, and height of many multiple-family, commercial and 

industrial developments, the ordinance is intended to assure that project designs 

make the most efficient use of available resources and are consistent with 

Packet Pg. 24

Agenda Item #7.



Zoning and Design Review Opinion 

May 26, 2015 

Page 4 

existing uses. The City established a Design Review Board to be appointed by the 

Mayor, with the concurrence of the City Council. The Planning Commission is 

currently the designated Design Review Board. The Design Review Board must 

approve permits for new structures, alterations or remodeling and some single 

family dwellings and associated accessory structures. The Design Review Board 

reviews site plans, parking, lighting, signs, fencing, building elevations, materials, 

color scheme, landscape plans, and preliminary grading plans. The criteria 

considered by the Design Review Board include: 

• Compatibility of height and scale of structures, including signs, with the 

surrounding area; 

• Preservation of natural topographic patterns and their incorporation into site 

plans; 

• Preservation of oak trees; 

• Orientation of structures to conserve energy; 

• Compatibility of different architectural styles; 

• Orientation and intensity of lighting; 

• Variable siting of individual structures; 

• Avoidance of monotony of texture, building lines or mass; 

• Avoidance of blank walls; 

• Variation in roof planes and exterior building walls; 

• Screening of roof flashing, rain gutters, vents, and roof-mounted mechanical 

equipment; 

• Signage guidelines; 

• Parking and landscaping guidelines. 

A design review decision will be upheld provided it substantially advances a legitimate 

government interest and substantial evidence in the record supports the decision. The 

courts have upheld seemingly vague terms such as "preclusion of monotonous 

developments," "uses detrimental to the general welfare" and "neighborhood 

compatibility" in decisions regarding the reach of design review ordinances. 1  Design 

review decisions are not subject to the No/Ian/Do/an nexus and proportionality standard 

of review, but rather the lower and simpler advancement of a legitimate government 

interest standard. In Breneric Assocs. V City of Del Mar, 69 Cal App 4 th  166, 176-177 the 

court stated: 

Although the design review might limit the use of, diminish the value of, or 

impose additional costs on property, it does not impose requirements for either 

conveyances of land or monetary exactions. As a result, design review is a 

general regulation of land use that is not subject to the higher scrutiny test 

employed in No/Ian and Dolan. 

1  Novi v. City of Pacifica, 169 Cal. App.3d 678, 682; Ross v. City of Rolling Hills Estates, 192 Cal. App. 3d 
370, 376; Briggs v City of Rolling Hills Estates, 40 Cal. App. 4

th 
 637, 643 

Packet Pg. 25

Agenda Item #7.



Zoning and Design Review Opinion 

May 26, 2015 

Page 5 

Overlap and Resolution of Conflicting Goals 

Though both zoning regulations and design review address size, height, mass and bulk of 

buildings there is a distinction between the purposes of the two sets of regulations. 

Zoning sets forth standards that apply citywide and regulate for the benefit of all 

persons in the City. Whereas design review looks at how a specific project will coexist 

with a specific location and specific persons, typically those who live in the 

neighborhood. 2  

Zoning Regulations 

Zoning regulations impose land use regulations that are typically expressed in numerical 

values and create minimum or maximum standards. For example, in Rocklin the R1-6 

residential zone creates a minimum lot size of 6,000 square feet. Buildings must be set 

back 25 feet from the front property line. Maximum height is thirty feet and the 

maximum number of stories is two. And the list goes on. One of the important 

standards established by zoning is the amount and intensity of development expressed 

as density of dwelling units per acre for residential uses. The more dwelling units per 

acre that are required to be constructed the fewer options there are for meeting the 

numerical density standard. For example, the Sierra College Apartments property has a 

zoning density standard of 20 dwelling units per acre. To achieve that many apartments 

you must either build one or a few very large buildings, or a number of smaller buildings 

spread out over the entire site, or some combination in between those two extremes. 

Like all zoning regulations, the density standard cannot be changed without amending 

the City zoning code after notice and a public hearing to change to a lesser density. In 

the case of housing, there are limitations on a City's ability to make any changes to a 

project's proposed unit count. Government Code sec. 66589.5 restricts the City from 

disapproving a project unless specific findings can be made. There will be a more 

detailed discussion of this GC 65589.5 below. 

Calculation of Density 

When planners calculate the number of acres at a site for density purposes they 

typically start with a gross acreage of the total parcel. But due to site constraints or 

resource preservation goals, they may adjust down to a net developable acreage basis 

2  This concept also applies to CEQA review under aesthetics. A project may have no substantial aesthetic 

environmental impact, but still be found unsuitable for the neighborhood due to mass and scale. (see 

Guinnane v. San Francisco City Planning Commission209 Cal. App. 3d 732, 735 fn2, 742-743) 

Packet Pg. 26

Agenda Item #7.



Zoning and Design Review Opinion 

May 26, 2015 

Page 6 

considering only those areas of development available for actual improvements after 

deleting open space, streets, wetlands, parks, tree preserves, etc. 

Since our zoning density standards are usually expressed as a maximum allowable 

number of dwelling units per acre, using the gross acreage would yield the highest 

number of units and would therefore be the most flexible and least restrictive for the 

property owner. 

Conversely, in those instances where the zoning density is expressed as a mandated 

minimum number of units, then using the net acreage of the developable area would 

give the lowest minimum, and be the most flexible and least restrictive for the property 

owner. 

There is no required methodology established by state law or City code expressly stating 

a required methodology for calculating density. If challenged the decision of the city 

would be given great deference by the court, provided there was some reasonable and 

rational basis for the decision. In Carty v. City of Ojai the court held, "the function of this 

court is to determine whether the record shows a reasonable basis for the action of the 

zoning authorities, and, if the reasonableness of the ordinance is fairly debatable, the 

legislative determination will not be disturbed" 77 Cal. App. 3d 329, 333. 

The City planning staff keep a record of zoning code interpretations to provide 

consistency in our responses to the public. The Rocklin Planning Department 

methodology for Residential Density Calculation is noted as follows: 

The Rocklin General Plan states that residential density is based upon the "gross" 

acreage of a given project site. However, in the past applicants have been 

allowed to discount portions of a project site that are demonstrably unsuitable 

for development such as wetlands, 100-year flood plains, extremely steep 

hillsides (including manufactured fill slopes), etc. So we will allow either 

methodology to be used thus allowing the applicant to maximize or minimize 

their potential dwelling unit count with the caveat that this flexibility is only 

available where sites contain physical constraints. Other features such as roads, 

emergency access ways, etc. will not be subtracted from available acreage when 

calculating density. 

(Example: A 10 acre site zoned PD-15 would normally require a minimum of 

development density of 150 dwelling units to comply with the zoning. However, 

if 3 acres of the site were encumbered by a 100-year flood plain it would reduce 

the developable area to 7 acres resulting in minimum required development 

density of 105 dwelling units.) 

Packet Pg. 27

Agenda Item #7.



Zoning and Design Review Opinion 

May 26, 2015 

Page 7 

Note 1) The 2012 Rocklin General Plan states that the density of "Mixed Use" 

developments is to be calculated based upon "net" area but does not define 

"net". Most "Mixed Use" areas are located in places where the land is relatively 

flat and free of constrains such as flood plains, riparian vegetation, etc. The 

intent here was not to include existing streets and such that might be included as 

a part of a lot (especially in an older area) in the calculation of lot size for 

purposes of determining development density. 

Note 2) Zoning typically establishes the maximum density allowed on a given site 

within the density range established by the applicable general plan designation. 

The general plan designation establishes the minimum / maximum density 

RANGE allowable. However, there may be instances where a PD zone General 

Development Plan sets the zoning density at a minimum density. This is more 

likely to occur on High Density Residential projects. 

In the circumstances presented by the Sierra College Apartments project, the gross 

acreage is 10.19 acres which would yield a required unit count, at 20 dwelling units per 

acre rounded, of 204 units. This would be the absolute maximum number of units the 

City could require under the zoning and would be the most restrictive interpretation of 

the zoning density requirement. The developer is free to build more if they can get the 

site to work, since the PD-20 zoning on this site only establishes a minimum number of 

units that must be built. 

But on this property there are a number of site constraints including isolated open space 

areas, portions of Rocklin Road and Water Lily Lane which are constructed streets, and 

areas of future right of way identified for dedication to the City which must be left 

undeveloped, restricting the actual buildable area to 7.87 acres. At that acreage the 

required minimum number of units rounded would be 158 apartments. Again, the 

developer is not limited on the maximum density above 158 units by the zoning. This 

would be the least restrictive and most flexible interpretation. As the least restrictive 

approach, this would also be the most legally defensible interpretation. 3  

Limitation on Reduction of Housing Units Imposed by GC. 66589.5 

As mentioned, Government Code subsection 66589.5(j) restricts a city's ability to deny 

approval or impose conditions reducing unit count on housing development projects 

unless certain findings can be made. The burden of proof also shifts to the city, to show 

they have complied with this statute in the case of a legal challenge. 

3  The General Plan density range for high density residential property is 15.5 dwelling units per acre and 

up. If we interpret the General Plan as requiring a gross acreage calculation, this would lead to a required 

density of 158 units. 

Packet Pg. 28

Agenda Item #7.



Zoning and Design Review Opinion 

May 26, 2015 

Page 8 

The applicable subsection is §66589.5(j) which reads: 

(j) When a proposed housing development project complies with applicable, 

objective general plan and zoning standards and criteria, including design review 

standards, in effect at the time that the housing development project's 

application is determined to be complete, but the local agency proposes to 

disapprove the project or to approve it upon the condition that the project be 

developed at a lower density, the local agency shall base its decision regarding 

the proposed housing development project upon written findings supported by 

substantial evidence on the record that both of the following conditions exist: 

(1) The housing development project would have a specific, adverse impact 

upon the public health or safety unless the project is disapproved or approved 

upon the condition that the project be developed at a lower density. As used in 

this paragraph, a "specific, adverse impact" means a significant, quantifiable, 

direct, and unavoidable impact, based on objective, identified written public 

health or safety standards, policies, or conditions as they existed on the date the 

application was deemed complete. 

(2) There is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the adverse 

impact identified pursuant to paragraph (1), other than the disapproval of the 

housing development project or the approval of the project upon the condition 

that it be developed at a lower density. 

So before the City can require a housing development to reduce units, they must either 

clearly identify on the record the objective general plan, zoning, or design review 

standard that is out of compliance, or if all standards are met, then make the findings 

required by subparagraphs one and two. To make those findings the specific adverse 

impact must be identified and supported by substantial evidence in the record, and then 

the city must explain why there is no feasible method to mitigate or avoid the impact. 

Again the finding of no feasible mitigation must be supported by evidence in the record. 

Limits of Design Review 

Appropriate considerations for design review applications are listed above. There is very 

wide discretion to modify a project, or deny a project, under design review. A design 

review decision can deny a project due to neighborhood incompatibility based simply on 

the size, bulk and mass of the proposed buildings. In Guinanne v. San Francisco Planning 

Commission the court supported the city's denial of a single family home building 

permit. 209 Cal. App. 3d 732 (1989). Guinanne applied for a building permit to construct 

Packet Pg. 29

Agenda Item #7.



Zoning and Design Review Opinion 

May 26, 2015 

Page 9 

a four-story, 6,000 square foot house with five bedrooms, five baths and parking for two 

cars. This application was subject to design review under the city code. The planning 

commission rejected the application during design review because the building was too 

massive and "not in character" with the neighborhood. The board of permit appeals also 

denied the permit. 

The court upheld the city's denial. It stated the planning commission and the appeals 

board had the authority to exercise discretion in deciding whether to issue the permit. 

(Id. at 742) The court noted the such a review is not limited to a determination of 

whether the applicant has complied with zoning ordinances and building codes. The San 

Francisco Planning Code specifically directed the commission to protect the "character 

and stability" of residential areas, and the court held that such concern for 

neighborhood aesthetics has long been justified as a legitimate governmental objective. 

Similarly, the court in Saad v. Berkeley upheld the City of Berkeley's denial of a use 

permit for a three story home in a single family zone because it would impair the view of 

neighboring property owners, and would have a towering effect. 24 Cal. App. 4 th  1206, 

1216 (1994). 

Summary and Conclusion 

Though there is great latitude in the ability of a design review board to reshape, restrict, 

or even deny a project, the reach of design review decisions can never go so far that it 

effects a change to the zoning regulations applicable to a property, including a change 

to project density required by the specific zoning. But as discussed above, the City does 

have flexibility in how they interpret the acreage to be included in the development 

density calculation, provided there is evidence in the record supporting the final density 

calculation and the decision is consistent with the general plan. Any design review 

modification to a housing project that decreased density would be illegal under 

Government Code §66589.5(j), unless the specific findings set forth in that statute could 

be made based on substantial evidence in the record. But the design review process 

could require a reconfiguration of units to achieve the stated purposes of design review. 

Packet Pg. 30

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 31

Agenda Item #7.

lauraw
Text Box
Attachment 2 



Packet Pg. 32

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 33

Agenda Item #7.

lauraw
Text Box
Attachment 3



Packet Pg. 34

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 35

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 36

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 37

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 38

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 39

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 40

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 41

Agenda Item #7.



 

P.O. Box 661  Rocklin, CA 95677   www.Citizens-Voice.org 
 

 

 

         

 

                               June 30, 2016 

 

 

Marc Mondell 

Economic Development Director 

City of Rocklin 

3970 Rocklin Rd. 

Rocklin, CA 95677 

 

Sent via email 

 

SUBJECT:  Ezralow Company LLC’s Compliance with City Codes, Timing   

& Environmental Review 

 

 

Dear Mr. Mondell: 

 

Citizens Voice Organization requested electronic copies of the correspondence between 

the City of Rocklin and attorney for the Ezralow Company LLC regarding the removal of 

the unpermitted chain link fence (Case 16-250). The initial concern about the fencing for 

this property was brought up April 8th by our organization. We appreciate your swift 

action in upholding the City’s codes regarding this fencing. That said, we are writing with 

three immediate and related concerns. 

 

As outlined in the June 27, 2016 letter, the City stated it was “compelled to issue a tree 

removal permit” citing City Code § 17.77.050(F)(1)(a). We agree, a tree removal permit 

is needed, however, we also contend that City Code §§ 17.77.050(A-E) are applicable.   

 

Because there is a pending development application (received by the City on December 

1, 2015, File Number: DR2015-0018) for the Sierra Gateway Apartments (Assessor 

Parcels 045-161-014, 015 and 016) that has already identified an Oak Tree Mitigation 

Plan (pages 39-43 of said application)—the tree preservation plan permit, mitigation and 

bond requirements all apply.  

 

The development application reveals 327 of the 420+ trees will be removed when the site 

is graded.  Furthermore, the property owner is proposing “fees in lieu of replacement” for 

127 impacted trees.  Removal of these trees prior to the project’s approval is an “early 

start” needed for the proposed development of the site.  Taking a close look at the tables 

on pages 41-43 of said application, many of the trees listed there have actions consistent 

with “removal of dead wood.”   

 

Packet Pg. 42

Agenda Item #7.



We ask where the comparison is of trees identified in the Oak Tree Mitigation Plan 

versus what the property owner proposes to remove now? If the property owner was 

concerned about trespassers, why is only a portion of the property “protected” by the 

fencing?  Interestingly, the fencing does not exist on over 1.5 acres of the panhandle 

property which is just as accessible as the larger parcel.  

 

Our second concern relates to the baseline conditions for the property for its upcoming 

environmental review.  As indicated in our comment letter on the Notice of Preparation 

(NOP) for the proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project dated April 22, 2016, studies 

conducted for the Environmental Impact Report include biological resources.  The 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines require lead agencies to 

include a description of the physical environmental conditions in the vicinity at the time 

the NOP was published.   

 

However, the property owner was in violation of the City’s Code at the time the NOP 

was released March 22, 2016.  We continue to assert that the biological resources cannot 

be properly evaluated until the fencing is removed.  At present, the fencing prohibits 

wildlife movement and access across the property, which historically occurred prior to 

the fence installation.  The baseline conditions for the site cannot be adequately assessed 

until full ecological function is restored.  To further our point, the Court of Appeals 

explains: “Before the impacts of a project can be assessed and mitigation measures 

considered, an EIR must describe the existing environment. It is only against this baseline 

that any significant environmental effects can be determined.” (County of Amador v. El 

Dorado County Water Agency (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 931, 952.) 

 

Our third concern relates to the implementation of the tree removal.  Because the 

property is proposed for development and the City is moving forward with an 

Environmental Impact Report, we believe the completion of the proposed tree removal 

time frame should be expedited.  We submit the following for consideration: 

 30 (thirty) days to have an arborist review the site and outline the 

proposed actions,  

 15 (fifteen) days for city review and concurrence, and 

 30 (thirty) days for the landowner to complete the proposed actions. 

 

We respectfully request this letter be included in the administrative record for the Sierra 

Gateway Apartments.  Should have any questions regarding this letter, please contact me 

at 916-293-1388. Thank you.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Chris Wiegman 

Citizens Voice 

 

cc: Barbara Ivanusich, Rocklin City Clerk 

Packet Pg. 43

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 44

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 45

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 46

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 47

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 48

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 49

Agenda Item #7.



Packet Pg. 50

Agenda Item #7.



RESOLUTION NO. PC-2017- 
  

RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY 
OF ROCKLIN RECOMMENDING CERTIFICATION OF A FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

REPORT, RECOMMENDING MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT AND STATEMENT OF 
OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS AND RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF A 

MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM 
 

(Sierra Gateway Apartments / DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001) 
 
 The Planning Commission of the City of Rocklin does resolve as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  The Planning Commission of the City of Rocklin finds as follows:   
 
  A. An Environmental Impact Report (the “EIR”) was prepared by the 

City of Rocklin (“City”), for the Sierra Gateway Apartments project, which as 
proposed consists of approval of a Design Review DR2015-0018 and an Oak Tree 
Preservation Plan Permit TRE2016-0001, (the “Project”) pursuant to the 
California Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code §21000 et seq. 
(“CEQA”); the Guidelines for Implementation of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (2 Cal. Code of Regs. §15000 et seq.) (“Guidelines”); and the local 
procedures adopted by the City pursuant thereto. 

 
  B. The notice of completion for the Draft EIR was forwarded to the 

Office of Planning and Research pursuant to Section 15085 of the Guidelines. 
 
  C. The City distributed copies of the Draft EIR to those public 

agencies which have jurisdiction by law with respect to the project and to other 
interested persons and agencies, and sought the comments of such persons and 
agencies pursuant to Section 15086 of the Guidelines. 

 
  D. The City circulated the Draft EIR for public review between April 

27, 2017 and June 12, 2017, and notice inviting comments on the adequacy of 
the Draft EIR was given in compliance with Section 15087 of the Guidelines. 

 
  E. The City thereafter evaluated and prepared responses to the 

comments received on the Draft EIR pursuant to Section 15088 of the 
Guidelines, and prepared the Final EIR including all such responses as provided in 
Sections 15089 and 15132 of the Guidelines. 

 
  F. The Rocklin Planning Commission conducted a noticed public 

hearing on the Final EIR on November 7, 2017, and in conjunction with its 
hearing on the Project, recommended that the Final EIR be certified as complete, 
having considered all  evidence in the record, including the following: 

Packet Pg. 51

Agenda Item #7.a.



  

Page 2 of  
Reso. No. 2017-___ 

 

 
(1) The Final EIR, which consists of the Draft EIR and written 

comments received during the public comment period and 
responses thereto; 

 
(2) All staff reports, memoranda, maps, letters, minutes of meetings, 

and other documents prepared by City staff relating to the Project 
and presented to the Rocklin Planning Commission at its hearing 
on the Final EIR and the Project; 

 
(3) All testimony, documents, and other evidence presented by or on 

behalf of the applicant relating to the EIR and the Project, 
including testimony given before the City Planning Commission, 
written reports, and exhibits; 

 
(4) The proceedings before the Planning Commission relating to the 

Project and Final EIR, including testimony and documentary 
evidence introduced at the public hearings, the transcript of all 
hearings of the Planning Commission related to this matter, and 
the official minutes of such meetings; 

 
(5) City Planning Commission Resolution PC-2017-__, adopted by the 

Planning Commission on November 7, 2017, recommending 
approval of the Project. 

 
(6) The mitigation monitoring and reporting program for the Project. 

 
 Section 2.  Recommendation of Certification of the EIR.  Pursuant to section 
15080 of the Guidelines, the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City 
Council the certification of the Final EIR for the Project in compliance with CEQA, the 
Guidelines, and the local procedures adopted by the City Council pursuant thereto. 
 

A. The Planning Commission has reviewed and considered the information 
contained in the Final EIR prior to making its determination on the 
Project and it is hereby determined that the Final EIR is legally sufficient 
for approval of the proposed Project and that this determination reflects 
the independent judgment of the Planning Commission of the City of 
Rocklin; 

 
B. The Commission, pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21081, 

subdivision (a), hereby recommends to the City Council the “City of 
Rocklin CEQA Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding 

Packet Pg. 52

Agenda Item #7.a.



  

Page 3 of  
Reso. No. 2017-___ 

 

Considerations for the Sierra Gateway Apartments Project 
(SCH#2016032068)” as set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto; 

 
C. The Commission, pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21081.6, 

subdivision (a)(1), hereby recommends to the City Council the mitigation 
monitoring and reporting program for the Project as approved, as set 
forth in Chapter 4 of the October 2017 Final EIR, which is herein 
incorporated by this reference; and 

 
Section 3.  The documents and other materials that constitute the record of 

proceedings upon which the Planning Commission has based its decision are located in 
the office of the Rocklin Community Development Director, 3970 Rocklin Road, Rocklin, 
California 95677.  The custodian of these documents and other materials is the Rocklin 
Community Development Director. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of November, 2017, by the following roll call 
vote: 
 
AYES:  Commissioners:    
 
NOES:  Commissioners:    
 
ABSENT: Commissioners:    
 
ABSTAIN: Commissioners:    
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Chairperson 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Secretary 
P:\PUBLIC PLANNING FILES\__ PROJECT FILES\Sierra Gateway Apts (Sierra College Apts II)\Meeting Packets\PC 11-7-17\Sierra 
Gateway Apts  PC EIR Reso.doc 

Packet Pg. 53

Agenda Item #7.a.



  

Page 4 of  
Reso. No. 2017-___ 

 

 EXHIBIT A   
 

Sierra Gateway Apartments Final EIR 
 

Available at the following website links as published 
April 2017 (Draft EIR) and October 2017 (Final EIR). 

 
 

DRAFT EIR:  https://www.rocklin.ca.us/post/sierra-gateway-apartments-0 
 
 

FINAL EIR:  Sierra Gateway Final EIR 
 

Packet Pg. 54

Agenda Item #7.a.



  

Page 5 of  
Reso. No. 2017-___ 

 

 EXHIBIT B   
 

Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
 

Packet Pg. 55

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

 
 

    

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF ROCKLIN 

CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT 

and 

STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS 

for the 

SIERRA GATEWAY APARTMENTS PROJECT 

(SCH#2016032068) 

 
 

Packet Pg. 56

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 1 

II. ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 1 

III. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 1 

 A. LOCATION 1  

 B. OVERVIEW 2 

 C. PROJECT OBJECTIVES 3 

 D. DISCRETIONARY APPROVALS 4  

IV. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PROCESS 5 

 A. INITIAL STUDY 5 

 B. POTENTIALLY SIGNIFICANT IMPACTS 8 

 C.  NOTICE OF PREPARATION 9 

 D. DRAFT EIR 10 

 E. FINAL EIR 10 

 F. CERTIFICATION OF FINAL EIR 10 

V. RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 11 

 A. CUSTODIAN OF RECORD 11 

 B. PREPARATION AND CONSIDERATION OF THE FEIR AND INDEPENDENT  

  JUDGEMENT FINDINGS 12 

VI. CONSISTENCY WITH APPLICABLE PLANS 13 

VII. FINDINGS REQUIRED UNDER CEQA 13 

VIII. CERTIFICATIONS 16 

IX. MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN 17 

X. LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACTS 17 

XI. SIGNIFICANT EFFECTS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 24 

XII. CUMULATIVE IMPACTS 59 

XIII. SIGNIFICANT AND UNAVOIDABLE IMPACTS 61 

XIV. FINDINGS RELATED TO PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 65 

XV. ENVIRONMENTALLY SUPERIOR ALTERNATIVE 75 

XVI. STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS 76 

XVII. CONCLUSION 80

Packet Pg. 57

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

1 
 

SIERRA GATEWAY APARTMENTS 

SCH# 2016032068 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATION 

REQUIRED UNDER THE 

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMETAL QUALITY ACT 

(PUBLIC RESOURCES CODE, SECTION 21000 et seq) 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 
The City of Rocklin (“City”), as lead agency, prepared a Draft Environmental Impact Report 
(“Draft EIR” or “DEIR”) for the Sierra Gateway Apartments (“Project”). In its entirety, the 
documents consist of the April 2017 Draft EIR and the October 2017 (proposed) Final EIR 
(“FEIR”) (State Clearinghouse No. 2016032068). Where referenced in this document, the FEIR 
constitutes both the Draft and Final Environmental Impact Reports. (CEQA Guidelines, Sec. 
15132, 15362, subd. (b)). As described in the FEIR, the Project includes approval of a land 
development proposal, including a site plan, design review and compliance with the City’s oak 
tree ordinance, for an apartment complex having 195 residential units on approximately 10.2 
acres, consistent with the General Plan designation of High Density Residential (HDR) and the 
zoning designation of Planned Development Residential, 20 units minimum per acre (PD-20). 
These findings, as well as the accompanying statement of overriding considerations herein, 
have been prepared in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) (Pub. 
Resources Code, Sec. 21000 et seq) and its implementing guidelines (“CEQA Guidelines”) (Cal. 
Code Regs., tit. 14, Sec. 15000 et seq).  
 
II. ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 
 
These Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding Considerations (Findings) contain a number 
of acronyms and abbreviations.  The acronyms and abbreviations used in these findings are the 
same as the definitions and acronyms set forth in the FEIR. 
 
III. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
A. LOCATION 
 
The City of Rocklin is approximately 25 miles northeast of the state capitol, Sacramento, and is 
within the County of Placer (see Figure 3-1, Regional Location Map, DEIR p. 3-2).  Surrounding 
jurisdictions include: unincorporated Placer County to the north and northeast, the City of 
Lincoln to the northwest, the Town of Loomis to the east and northeast, and the City of 
Roseville to the south and southwest.  The 10.2 +/- gross acre Sierra Gateway Apartments 
project site is located at the southeast corner of the intersection of Sierra College Boulevard 
and Rocklin Road.  The Project site is comprised of three parcels, Placer County Assessor’s 
Parcel Numbers 045-161-014, -015 and -016 (see DEIR Figure 3-2, Project Location).  The 

Packet Pg. 58

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

2 
 

property is located in the transition of the central valley and the Sierra Nevada foothills at an 
elevation ranging between 320 and 340 feet. 
 
The surrounding area is mostly developed with retail commercial and residential uses. To the 
north of the Project site are Rocklin Road, several isolated single family residences and vacant 
land designated for Mixed Use land uses under the Rocklin General Plan. To the northwest of 
the Project site is the Sierra Community College campus, and to the west are Sierra College 
Boulevard, a small retail commercial shopping center consisting of approximately 36,233 square 
feet contained in one main building and two separate pads, the Granite Creek apartment 
complex (2-stories, 80 units), the Shaliko apartment complex (2-stories, 152 units) and 
developed Medium Density Residential single-family residences further to the west. To the 
south are Water Lily Lane, a Medium Density Residential single-family subdivision consisting of 
60 one- and two-story residences, vacant land designated for Medium Density Residential land 
uses under the Rocklin General Plan and an open space area associated with an intermittent 
tributary of Secret Ravine Creek. To the east are the existing Rocklin Manor apartment complex 
(2-stories, 157 units), the City of Rocklin/Town of Loomis border and single-family residential 
subdivisions within the Town of Loomis (see Figure 3-3, Surrounding Land Uses, DEIR p. 3-4).  
 
B.  OVERVIEW 
 
The Sierra Gateway Apartments project (proposed Project) consists of the development of a 
195-unit apartment complex, associated infrastructure, private recreational facilities, parking 
and landscaping on 10.2 +/- gross acres.  There is a “panhandle” portion of the property that is 
approximately 1.08 acres in size that is not proposed for development, although a portion of 
the panhandle will be graded to accommodate curb, gutter and sidewalk and drainage 
improvements, as well as an extension of the northbound right turn pocket along Sierra College 
Boulevard.  This Project will require Design Review and Oak Tree Preservation Plan entitlements 
from the City of Rocklin. 
 
The apartment complex will consist of eleven residential buildings and a clubhouse building, 
which will include a leasing office and a manager’s apartment.  The majority of the residential 
buildings will be three-story buildings comprised of one, two, and three bedroom units with 
private garages located at the ground level. There will also be four two-story buildings 
configured to provide private garages with carriage style apartment units above.  In total there 
will be 104 one bedroom units, 82 two bedroom units, and 9 three bedroom units totaling 
194,733 square feet of living space.  The complex’s amenity spaces will be located near the 
proposed primary entrance to the site and will include a single level leasing office/clubhouse, 
fitness buildings, and a second story manager’s office all around a common pool area.  Access 
to the Project will be from Rocklin Road as a shared driveway with the existing Rocklin Manor 
apartments, and to accommodate increased traffic of the combined access the current access 
design will be widened to provide two entry and two exit lanes.  The Project will also have an 
exit only driveway to the south onto Water Lily Lane as currently proposed (see Figure 3-4, 
Project Site Plan, DEIR p. 3-7).  It should be noted that the Water Lily Lane access was also 
analyzed within the DEIR as emergency access only and there were no differences in the DEIR’s 

Packet Pg. 59

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

3 
 

impact conclusions between the Water Lily Lane outbound access and Water Lily Lane 
emergency access scenarios. 
 
The Project site is designated High Density Residential (HDR) under the Rocklin General Plan, 
and is zoned Planned Development Residential, minimum 20 dwelling units per acre (PD-20); 
the Project proposes no changes to the General Plan land use designation or zoning 
designation. 
 
C. PROJECT OBJECTIVES 
 
The City Council approved a General Plan Amendment in 2013 to change the land use 
designation for the property from Retail Commercial (RC) to High Density Residential (HDR) and 
a Rezone to change the zoning from Planned Development Commercial (PD-C) to Planned 
Development Residential, 20 units minimum per acre (PD-20) based on a number of supporting 
City objectives. 
 
The stated objectives of this Project are as follows: 
 

• Provide a high-quality, financially viable residential apartment project that integrates 
and transitions into the surrounding land uses and would maximize housing 
opportunities by locating a higher density development with a significant number of 
units within walking and bicycling distance of Sierra College and nearby retail 
commercial uses, and within a short driving distance to the City’s commercial centers at 
Sierra College Boulevard and Interstate 80;  

 
• Increase Rocklin’s housing supply in a manner that responds to market desires and in 

close proximity to existing transportation corridors and nearby public transportation to 
help promote walkable communities and reduce vehicle trips and traffic congestion, and 
that is consistent with General Plan land use and zoning designations, planning goals, 
objectives, and policies of the City of Rocklin;  

 
• Provide housing opportunities consistent with the available sites for residential 

development that were identified in the City of Rocklin 2013-2021 Housing Element 
Update, consistent with Goal 2 to facilitate the provision of a range of housing types to 
meet the diverse needs of the community, and consistent with Policy 3.3 to facilitate 
the development of multi-family housing on vacant parcels designated for medium-high 
and high density residential uses 
 

• Provide a well-designed project that is consistent with the Sacramento Area Council of 
Governments (SACOG) 2016 Metropolitan Transportation Plan/Sustainable 
Communities Strategy, including its guiding principles, policies and strategies as they 
relate to smart land use, access and mobility, compact development and greenfield 
developments adjacent to the existing urban edge. 

 

Packet Pg. 60

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

4 
 

• Develop an apartment complex adjacent to an existing apartment complex that is 
already being operated by the Project applicant to achieve certain economies of scale 
such as allowing for more efficient joint management of both complexes and providing 
additional amenities that can be offered to and enjoyed by tenants of the existing 
complex. 

 
• Replace a long-standing undeveloped property with a market ready, economically 

productive use that maximizes opportunities to strengthen the tax base. 
 
D. DISCRETIONARY APPROVALS 
 
The proposed Project requires the following discretionary and non-discretionary actions from 
the City of Rocklin:  
 

• Certification of the Environmental Impact Report as adequate and complete; 

• CEQA Findings – the appropriate findings of fact and statement of overriding 
considerations, if necessary, must be adopted by the City in conjunction with the 
certification of the EIR. This document satisfies that requirement. 

• Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Plan: adopted to ensure that mitigation measures 
are tracked and implemented; 

• Design Review; 

• Oak Tree Preservation Plan Permit; 

• Approval of Engineering Improvement Plans, and 

• Issuance of Building Permits  

 
The term “responsible agency” includes all public agencies other than the lead agency that may 
have discretionary approvals associated with the implementation of some aspect of the Project 
(CEQA Guidelines Section 15381). The proposed Project requires actions by the following 
Responsible Agencies: 
 

• Placer County Water Agency for construction of water facilities; 

• South Placer Municipal Utility District for construction of sewer facilities; 

• U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for issuance of Clean Water Act Section 404 permit; 

• U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for issuance of Biological Opinion (Section 7 Consultation); 

• Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board for issuance of Clean Water Action 
Section 401 water quality certification, and  

• California Department of Fish and Wildlife Section 1600 Streambed Alteration 
Agreement 

(DEIR, Appendix A, Initial Study, p. 6.)  

Packet Pg. 61

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

5 
 

IV. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PROCESS 
 
A. The Initial Study (DEIR, Appendix A, INITIAL STUDY) prepared for the proposed Project 
includes a detailed environmental checklist addressing a range of environmental issues (CEQA 
Guidelines, Section 15063, and CEQA Guidelines Appendix G: Environmental Checklist Form). 
For each one of the issues, the Initial Study identifies the level of impact for the proposed 
Project.  The Initial Study identifies the environmental effects as either “potentially significant 
impact”, “less than significant with mitigation”, “less than significant impact”, “no impact”, or 
“impact for which General Plan EIR is sufficient”.  Based on the initial review of the potential 
effects of the proposed Project in the Initial Study, it was determined that certain topics 
identified in the CEQA Guidelines would result in either no impact or a less than significant 
impact to the environment and would not require further consideration in the Draft EIR.  These 
topics include: 
 

•  aesthetics (as related to impacts on scenic vistas or viewsheds, impacts to state scenic 
highways and new and/or increased sources of light and glare) 

• agricultural and forest resources  

• cultural resources  

• geology and soils  

• greenhouse gas emissions  

• hazards and hazardous materials  

•  hydrology and water quality 

• land use and planning 

• mineral resources 

• noise 

• population and housing 

• public services 

• recreation 

• utilities and service systems.   

 
The Initial Study provided the following conclusions: 

• Aesthetics – There are no designated, identified, recognized or recorded scenic vistas or 
viewsheds in the City and the proposed project will not cause impacts to these 
resources.  The project site is not located near a state scenic highway or other 
designated scenic corridor and the proposed project will not impact these resources.  
The proposed project will include new sources of light and glare but a photometric 
lighting study prepared for the proposed project indicates lighting levels will be at levels 
not considered to be excessive.  Therefore, these issues will not be discussed in the EIR. 

Packet Pg. 62

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

6 
 

• Agricultural and Forest Resources – The proposed project site is not prime farmland, 
agricultural or forestry lands and the proposed project will not cause impacts to these 
resources; therefore these issues will not be discussed in the EIR. 

• Cultural Resources –A cultural resources assessment of the proposed project site was 
prepared by the firm Peak and Associates and is included in the Draft EIR as Appendix H. 
The assessment concluded that the proposed project site did not contain any known 
cultural resources.  Unknown buried archaeological resources, paleontological resources 
and/or human remains could be inadvertently discovered during construction of the 
proposed project.  The proposed project’s Initial Study identified a mitigation measure 
outlining procedural steps to be taken should such a discovery occur. Implementation of 
the project-specific mitigation measure identified in the proposed project’s Initial Study 
would reduce impacts to cultural resources to a less-than-significant level.  The project-
specific mitigation measure will be included in the EIR’s Mitigation Monitoring and 
Reporting Plan, but otherwise cultural resources impacts will not be discussed further in 
the EIR. 

• Geology and Soils – Grading, trenching and backfilling associated with the construction 
of the proposed project would alter the topography on the project site and may result in 
soil erosion impacts.  Compliance with the City’s development review process, the City’s 
Improvement Standards and Standard Specifications and the Uniform Building Code will 
reduce any potential geology and soils impacts to a less-than-significant level; therefore 
these issues will not be discussed in the EIR. 

• Greenhouse Gas Emissions – Construction and operation of the proposed project will 
generate greenhouse gas emissions.  The CalEEMod software modeling program was 
used by the firm of De Novo Planning Group to estimate the proposed project’s short-
term construction related and long-term operational greenhouse gas emissions and 
identify potentially significant impacts; the air quality and greenhouse gas analysis is 
included in the Draft EIR as Appendix E.  Compliance with the mitigation measures 
incorporated into the General Plan goals and policies would reduce impacts related to 
GHG emissions to a less-than-significant level; therefore this issue will not be discussed 
in the EIR. 

• Hazards and Hazardous Materials - Construction and operation of a multi-family 
residential project are not anticipated to involve the transportation, use and disposal of 
large amounts of hazardous materials.  Compliance with the mitigation measures 
incorporated into the General Plan goals and policies and applicable City Code and 
compliance with applicable Federal, State and local laws and regulations would reduce 
impacts related to hazards and hazardous materials to a less-than-significant level; 
therefore these issues will not be discussed in the EIR. 

• Hydrology and Water Quality - The proposed project would involve grading activities 
that would remove vegetation and expose soil to wind and water erosion and 
potentially impact water quality, and additional impervious surfaces would be created 
with the development of the proposed project.  Waterways in the Rocklin area have the 

Packet Pg. 63

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

7 
 

potential to flood and expose people or structures to flooding. According to FEMA flood 
maps (Map Panel 06061CO481G, effective date November 21, 2001) the proposed 
project site is located in flood zone X, which indicates that the proposed project is not 
located within a 100-year flood hazard area and outside of the 500-year flood hazard 
area.  Compliance with the mitigation measures incorporated into Rocklin General Plan 
goals and policies, the City’s Grading and Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance 
(Rocklin Municipal Code, Chapter 15.28), the Stormwater Runoff Pollution Control 
Ordinance (Rocklin Municipal Code, Chapter 8.30) and the City’s Improvement 
Standards would reduce impacts to hydrology and water quality to a less-than-
significant level; therefore these issues will not be discussed in the EIR. 

• Land Use and Planning - The proposed project site is designated High Density 
Residential on the City of Rocklin General Plan land use map and is zoned Planned 
Development Residential, 20 dwelling units minimum per acre (PD-20), which allow for a 
project such as the one being proposed.  The proposed project requires Design Review 
and Oak Tree Preservation Plan entitlements from the City of Rocklin.  Approval of such 
entitlements and compliance with the mitigation measures incorporated into the 
General Plan goals and policies would ensure that development of the infill site would 
not result in significant impacts to land use and planning; therefore these issues will not 
be discussed in the EIR. 

• Mineral Resources - The City of Rocklin planning area and the proposed project site has 
no mineral resources as classified by the State Geologist.  The planning area and the 
proposed project site have no known or suspected mineral resources that would be of 
value to the region and to residents of the state.  No mineral resources impact is 
anticipated; therefore this issue will not be discussed in the EIR. 

• Noise - Development of the proposed project will result in an increase in short-term 
noise impacts from construction activities.  The development and occupation of a 195-
unit apartment complex is not anticipated to have significant long-term operational 
noise impacts.  A noise assessment of the proposed project was prepared by the firm of 
JC Brennan and Associates which identified a potentially significant impact that roadway 
noise levels could exceed interior noise level standards for future residents of the 
apartments; the noise assessment is included in the Draft EIR as Appendix K.  The 
proposed project’s Initial Study identified a mitigation measure to reduce the impact to 
a less than significant level.  Compliance with the mitigation measures incorporated into 
the General Plan goals and policies, the City of Rocklin Construction Noise Guidelines 
and the project-specific mitigation measure identified in the proposed project’s Initial 
Study would reduce noise related impacts to a less-than-significant level.  The project-
specific mitigation measure will be included in the EIR’s Mitigation Monitoring and 
Reporting Plan, but otherwise noise impacts will not be discussed further in the EIR. 

• Population and Housing - The proposed project will provide future housing 
opportunities, but not to such a degree that it would induce substantial population 
growth because the project site has long been identified for development of urban uses 
in the City of Rocklin General Plan.  The proposed project site is vacant and 

Packet Pg. 64

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

8 
 

development would not displace substantial numbers of people.  The proposed project 
would have a less than significant impact on population and housing; therefore these 
issues will not be discussed in the EIR. 

• Public Services - The proposed project would create a need for the provision of new 
and/or expanded public services or facilities since an undeveloped site would become 
developed.  Although the proposed project may increase the need for public services, 
compliance with General Plan goals and policies and payment of necessary fees, 
including participation in any applicable financing district and applicable development 
impact fees, would reduce the impact to a less than significant level; therefore these 
issues will not be discussed in the EIR. 

• Recreation - The proposed project would result in additional residents that would be 
expected to utilize City of Rocklin and other recreational facilities.  However, compliance 
with General Plan goals and policies and payment of necessary fees, including park and 
recreation fees, would ensure the impacts to recreational facilities are less than 
significant; therefore these issues will not be discussed in the EIR. 

• Utilities and Service Systems – The proposed project will increase the need for utility 
and service systems because an undeveloped site will become developed.  Such 
increases are not anticipated to impact the ability of the utility and service providers to 
adequately provide such services because the proposed project site is within the 
existing service areas of utility and service systems providers and the proposed project 
site has long been identified for development of urban uses in the City of Rocklin 
General Plan.  Compliance with General Plan goals and policies and payment of 
necessary fees would ensure the impacts to utilities and service systems are less than 
significant; therefore these issues will not be discussed in the EIR. 

The project applicant has agreed to implement the mitigation measures identified in the Initial 
Study. 

Documentation to support the exclusion of these topics from further consideration in the Draft 
EIR is provided in the Initial Study and the appendices to the Draft EIR.   

B. POTENTIALLY SIGNIFICANT IMPACTS. 

The Initial Study identified several environmental issues as potentially significant and requiring 
further analysis. A brief explanation of each such issue includes: 

• Aesthetics – The existing visual character of the site can be described as an 
undeveloped site containing numerous oak trees, grassland, and gently rolling 
topography. The surrounding area is mostly developed with retail commercial and 
residential uses. To the north of the project site are Rocklin Road, several isolated single 
family residences and vacant land designated for Mixed Use land uses under the Rocklin 
General Plan. To the northwest of the project site is the Sierra Community College 
campus, and to the west are Sierra College Boulevard, a small retail commercial 
shopping center, two separate apartment complexes and single-family residences 

Packet Pg. 65

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

9 
 

further to the west. To the south are Water Lily Lane, a single-family subdivision and an 
open space area associated with an intermittent tributary of Secret Ravine Creek. To the 
east are an apartment complex, the City of Rocklin/Town of Loomis border and single-
family residential subdivisions within the Town of Loomis. The proposed project would 
add a 195 unit multi-family apartment complex and associated infrastructure, including 
new sources of lighting to an undeveloped site. The proposed project will affect the 
visual character of the project area, due to the transition of the project site from 
undeveloped land to an urbanized land use.  
 
The EIR addressed the proposed project’s potential aesthetic impacts related to the 
existing visual character or quality of the site. 

• Air Quality – Construction and operation of the proposed project will introduce new 
sources of pollutant emissions to the project area as a result of the diesel-powered 
construction equipment, trucks hauling building supplies, vehicle exhaust from 
construction workers, future residents and service workers, landscape maintenance 
equipment, and water heater/air conditioning energy use.  

The EIR addressed the proposed project’s potential air quality impacts. 

• Biological Resources – The vegetation communities found on the proposed project site 
are primarily foothill woodland, annual grassland and riparian woodland. An arborist 
report of the proposed project site was conducted by the firm of Abacus that resulted in 
the identification of 368 oak trees on the project site. There are also approximately 0.03 
acres of jurisdictional wetlands on the proposed project site.  

The EIR addressed the proposed project’s potential biological resources impacts. 

• Transportation and Traffic - The proposed project is anticipated to cause increases in 
traffic because an undeveloped site will become developed with a 195-unit apartment 
complex whose residents will generate automobile trips  

The EIR addressed the proposed project’s potential transportation and traffic impacts. 
 

C. NOTICE OF PREPARATION. 

In accordance with section 15082 of the CEQA Guidelines, the City prepared and circulated a 
Notice of Preparation (NOP) of an EIR for the Proposed Project on March 24, 2016, for a 30-day 
review period. Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines sections 15023, subdivision (c), and 15087, 
subdivision (f), the State Clearinghouse in the Office of Planning and Research is responsible for 
distributing environmental documents to State agencies, departments, boards, and 
commissions for review and comment. The City followed required procedures with regard to 
distribution of the appropriate notices and environmental documents to the State 
Clearinghouse. The State Clearinghouse was obligated to make, and did make, that information 
available to interested agencies for review and comment. The NOP was received by the State 
Clearinghouse (SCH#2016032068) on March 24, 2016, and was made available for a 30-day 
public review period ending on April 22, 2016. The City also held a public scoping meeting on 

Packet Pg. 66

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

10 
 

April 14, 2016 to receive comments on the NOP and discuss the scope of the DEIR. The NOP and 
the comments received on the NOP are presented in Appendix A and Appendix B, respectively, 
of the Draft EIR.  Summaries of the comments received at the scoping meeting as well as the 
comments received on the NOP are included on pages 1-6 through 1-10 of the DEIR, and 
responses to those comments received on the NOP are presented on pages 1-10 – 1-22 of the 
Draft EIR. 

D. DRAFT EIR 

Consistent with the conclusions of the Initial Study, the following environmental issues were 
addressed in the EIR: 

• Aesthetics  
• Air Quality 
• Biological Resources 
• Transportation/Traffic 
• Growth Inducing Impacts 

• Cumulative Impacts 
• Significant Irreversible 

Environmental Effects 
• Significant and Unavoidable Impacts 
• Energy 
• Alternatives Analysis 

 
(DEIR pp. 1, 2, and 1.0-4) 

The City distributed the DEIR for public and agency review on April 27, 2017. A public review 
period of 45 days was provided on the DEIR that ended on June 12, 2017 (DEIR Notice of 
Availability, p. 1). This period satisfied the requirement of a 45-day review period as set forth in 
Section 15105 of the CEQA Guidelines.  

E. FINAL EIR 

The proposed Final EIR was issued in October 2017. The Final EIR includes comments received 
related to the DEIR, responses to significant environmental issues raised in the comments, 
revisions to the text of the DEIR as necessary for clarification, and the proposed mitigation 
monitoring and reporting program. 

F. CERTIFICATION OF FINAL EIR 

On November 7, 2017, the Planning Commission for the City of Rocklin held a public hearing on 
the Project and FEIR. At the conclusion of the hearing the Planning Commission adopted 
resolutions recommending certification of the FEIR as adequate and complete and 
recommending approval of the Project. On _____ 2017, the City Council for the City of Rocklin 
held a public hearing on the Project and FEIR.  At the conclusion of the hearing, the City Council 
adopted resolutions (1) certifying of the FEIR as adequate and complete and (2) approving the 
Project. To support such approval, the City Council makes the following findings of fact and 
statement of overriding considerations (collectively the “Findings”). These Findings contain the 
Council’s written analysis and conclusions regarding the Project’s environmental effects, 
mitigation measures, and alternatives to the Project. These Findings are based upon the entire 
record of proceedings for the FEIR, as described below. 

Packet Pg. 67

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

11 
 

 
V. RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
A. CUSTODIAN OF RECORD 
 
In accordance with Public Resources Code section 21167.6, subdivision (e), the record of 
proceedings for the City’s decision on the Project includes the following documents: 

• The NOP and all other public notices issued by the City in conjunction with the Project; 

• All comments submitted by agencies or members of the public during the comment 
period on the NOP; 

• The Draft EIR for the Project (April 2017) and all appendices; 

• All comments submitted by agencies or members of the public during the comment 
period on the Draft EIR; 

• All comments and correspondence submitted to the City with respect to the Project, in 
addition to timely comments on the Draft EIR; 

• The Final EIR for the Project, including comments received on the Draft EIR and 
responses to those comments and appendices (October 2017); 

• Documents cited or referenced in the Draft and Final EIRs;  

• The mitigation monitoring and reporting program for the Project; 

• All findings and resolutions adopted by the City in connection with the Project and all 
documents cited or referred to therein; 

• All reports, studies, memoranda, maps, staff reports, or other planning documents 
relating to the Project prepared by the City, consultants to the City, or responsible or 
trustee agencies with respect to the City’s compliance with the requirements of CEQA 
and with respect to the City’s action on the Project; 

• All documents submitted to the City by other public agencies or members of the public 
in connection with the Project, through the close of the Planning Commission public 
hearing on November 7, 2017, and the close of the City Council public hearing on 
_________, 2017; 

• Any minutes and/or verbatim transcripts of all information sessions, public meetings, 
and public hearings held by the City in connection with the Project; 

• Any documentary or other evidence submitted to the City at such information sessions, 
public meetings, and public hearings; 

• The City’s General Plan and all environmental documents prepared in connection with 
the adoption of the General Plan;  

• The City’s Zoning Ordinance and all other City Code provisions cited in materials 
prepared by or submitted to the City; 

Packet Pg. 68

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

12 
 

• Any and all resolutions adopted by the City regarding the Project, and all staff reports, 
analyses, and summaries related to the adoption of those resolutions; 

• Matters of common knowledge to the City, including, but not limited to laws and 
regulations of federal, state, regional and local governments and special districts, as well 
as policies adopted by regional public agencies such as SACOG; 

• Any documents expressly cited in these findings, in addition to those cited above; and 

• Any other materials required for the record of proceedings by Public Resources Code 
section 21167.6, subdivision (e) and applicable law. 

 
The documents constituting the record of proceedings are available for review by responsible 
agencies and interested members of the public during normal business hours at the City of 
Rocklin Economic and Community Development Department, 3970 Rocklin Road, Rocklin, 
California, 95677. The custodian of these documents is the Economic and Community 
Development Director. 

B. PREPARATION AND CONSIDERATION OF THE FEIR AND INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT 
FINDINGS 

The City finds, with respect to the City’s preparation, review and consideration of the FEIR, that: 

1. The City prepared the Draft EIR, with the assistance of various sub-consultants, with 
input from the applicant, and under the supervision and at the direction of the City of 
Rocklin Economic and Community Development Department. The City, with the 
assistance of various consultants, prepared the Final EIR. 

2. The City circulated the DEIR for review by responsible agencies and the public and 
submitted it to the State Clearinghouse for review and comment by state agencies. 

3. The FEIR has been completed in compliance with CEQA. 

4. The Project will have significant, unavoidable impacts as described and discussed in the 
FEIR. 

5. The FEIR is adequate under CEQA to address the potential environmental impacts of the 
Project. 

6. The FEIR has been presented to the City of Rocklin Planning Commission and City of 
Rocklin City Council, and the Planning Commission and City Council have independently 
reviewed and considered information contained in the FEIR. 

7. The FEIR reflects the independent judgment of the City. 

By these Findings, the City ratifies, adopts and incorporates the analyses, explanations, findings, 
responses to comments, and conclusions of the FEIR, except as may be specifically described in 
these Findings. 

Packet Pg. 69

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

13 
 

 
VI. CONSISTENCY WITH APPLICABLE PLANS 
 
The EIR evaluates the Project to determine whether it is consistent with applicable plans, 
policies, and regulations. In this case, the relevant plans, policies and regulations are the City of 
Rocklin General Plan and the City of Rocklin Zoning Ordinance.  

The proposed Project site is designated High Density Residential on the City of Rocklin General 
Plan land use map and is zoned Planned Development Residential, 20 dwelling units minimum 
per acre (PD-20). Both the General Plan and zoning designations allow for a project such as the 
one being proposed.  The proposed Project requires Design Review and Oak Tree Preservation 
Plan entitlements from the City of Rocklin.  Approval of such entitlements and compliance with 
the mitigation measures incorporated into the General Plan goals and policies, as well as the 
mitigation measures identified and set forth herein, would ensure that development of the infill 
site would not result in significant impacts to land use and planning. 
 
VII. FINDINGS REQUIRED UNDER CEQA  
 
A detailed analysis of the potential environmental impacts and the proposed mitigation 
measures for the Project is set forth in Sections 4.1 through 4.5, as well as Chapters 5 and 6 of 
the DEIR, with corrections and revisions as set forth in Chapter 3 of the FEIR. The DEIR 
evaluated the Project’s potential environmental impacts in four distinct topical categories, and 
also evaluated the Project’s potential growth inducing and cumulative impacts. The City concurs 
with the conclusions in the DEIR, as incorporated into the FEIR, that: (i) changes or alterations 
have been required, or incorporated into, the Project which avoid or substantially lessen many 
of the potentially significant environmental effects identified in the DEIR; and (ii) specific 
economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations make it infeasible to substantially 
lessen or avoid the remaining significant impacts, as further described in the Statement of 
Overriding Considerations below. 

Sections 21002 and 21002.1 of the Public Resources Code, and CEQA Guidelines section 15091, 
require the following: 

(a) No public agency shall approve or carry out a project for which an EIR has been 
certified which identifies one or more significant environmental effects of the project 
unless the public agency makes one or more written findings for each of those 
significant effects, accompanied by a brief explanation of the rationale for each finding. 
The possible findings are: 

(1) Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the 
project which avoid or substantially lessen the significant environmental effect 
as identified in the final EIR. 

(2) Such changes or alterations are within the responsibility and jurisdiction of 
another public agency and not the agency making the finding. Such changes have 

Packet Pg. 70

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

14 
 

been adopted by such other agency or can and should be adopted by such other 
agency. 

(3) Specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations, 
including provision of employment opportunities for highly trained workers, 
make infeasible the mitigation measures or project alternatives identified in the 
final EIR. 

Accordingly, for each significant impact identified herein, a finding has been made as to one or 
more of the following, as appropriate, in accordance with Public Resources Code section 21081 
and State CEQA Guidelines section 15091: 

A. Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the Project 
which avoid or substantially lessen the significant environmental effect as identified 
in the FEIR. Such changes or alterations reduce the significant environmental effect 
identified in the FEIR to a level of less than significant; 

B. Such changes or alterations are within the responsibility and jurisdiction of another 
public agency and not the agency making the finding. Such changes have been 
adopted by such other agency or can and should be adopted by such other agency; 
and/or 

C. Specific economic, legal, social, technological or other considerations, including 
provision of employment opportunities for highly trained workers, make infeasible 
the mitigation measures or Project alternatives identified in the FEIR. 

A narrative of supporting facts follows the appropriate finding. For many of the impacts, one or 
more of the findings above have been made. Finding (B) appears because, although the City is 
the lead agency, it has limitations on its power to require or enforce certain mitigation. In the 
event finding (B) occurs, agencies with jurisdiction to impose certain mitigation measures have 
been identified. It is these agencies, within their respective scopes of authority, which would 
have the ultimate responsibilities to adopt, implement, and enforce the mitigation discussed 
within each type of impact that could result from Project implementation.  

Whenever finding (C) was made, the City has determined that there will be, even after 
mitigation, an unavoidable significant level of impact due to the Project, and sufficient 
mitigation is not feasible to reduce the impact to a level of less than significant. Such impacts 
are always specifically identified in the supporting discussions. The Statement of Overriding 
Considerations applies to all such unavoidable significant impacts, as required by sections 
15092 and 15093 of the CEQA Guidelines. 

The concept of “feasibility” also encompasses the question of whether a particular alternative 
or mitigation measure promotes the underlying goals and objectives of a project. (City of Del 
Mar v. City of San Diego (1982) 133 Cal.App.3d 410, 417.) “’Feasibility’ under CEQA 
encompasses ‘desirability’ to the extent that desirability is based on a reasonable balancing of 

Packet Pg. 71

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

15 
 

the relevant economic, environmental, social, and technological factors.” (Ibid.  See also 
Sequoyah Hills Homeowners Assn. v. City of Oakland (1993) 23 Cal.App.4th 704, 715.) 

The CEQA Guidelines do not define the difference between “avoiding” a significant 
environmental effect and “substantially lessening” such an effect. The City must therefore glean 
the meaning of these terms from the other context in which the terms are used. Public 
Resources Code section 21081, on which CEQA Guidelines section 15091 is based, uses the 
term “mitigate’ rather than “substantially lessen.” The CEQA Guidelines therefore equate 
“mitigating” with “substantially lessening.” Such an understanding of the statutory term is 
consistent with the policies underlying CEQA, which include the policy that “public agencies 
should not approve projects as proposed if there are feasible alternatives or feasible mitigation 
measures available which would substantially lessen the significant environmental effects of 
such projects.”  (Pub. Resources Code section 21002.) 

For purposes of these findings, the term “avoid” refers to the effectiveness of one or more 
mitigation measures to reduce an otherwise significant effect to a less than significant level. In 
contrast, the term “substantially lessen” refers to the effectiveness of such measure or 
measures to substantially reduce the severity of a significant effect, but not to reduce that 
effect to a less than significant level. These interpretations appear to be mandated by the 
holding in Laurel Hills Homeowners Assn. v. City Council (1978) 83 Cal.App.3d 515, 519-521, in 
which the Court of Appeal held that an agency had satisfied its obligation to substantially lessen 
or avoid significant effects by adopting numerous mitigation measures, not all of which 
rendered the significant impacts in question to less than significant. 

Although CEQA Guidelines section 15091 requires only that approving agencies specify that a 
particular significant effect is “avoid(ed) or substantially lessen(ed),” these findings, for 
purposes of clarity, in each case will specify whether the effect in question has been reduced to 
a less than significant level, or has simply been substantially lessened but remains significant. 

Moreover, although section 15091, read literally, does not require findings to address 
environmental effects that an EIR identifies as merely “potentially significant,” these findings 
will nevertheless fully account for all such effects identified in the Draft and Final EIR. 

CEQA requires that the lead agency adopt mitigation measures or alternatives, where feasible, 
to substantially lessen or avoid significant environmental impacts that would otherwise occur. 
Project modification or alternatives are not required, however, where such changes are 
infeasible or where the responsibility for modifying the project lies with some other agency. 
(CEQA Guidelines section 15091(a) and (b).) 

With respect to a project for which significant impacts are not avoided or substantially 
lessened, a public agency, after adopting proper findings, may nevertheless approve the project 
if the agency first adopts a statement of overriding considerations setting forth the specific 
reasons why the agency found that the project’s “benefits” outweigh its “unavoidable adverse 
environmental effects”, and on that basis consider the adverse environmental effects 

Packet Pg. 72

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

16 
 

“acceptable” under CEQA (CEQA Guidelines sections 15093 and 15043(d). See also Pub. 
Resources Code section 21080(b).) The California Supreme Court has stated, “(t)he wisdom of 
approving…any development project, a delicate task which requires a balancing of interests, is 
necessarily left to the sound discretion of the local officials and their constituents who are 
responsible for such decisions. The law as we interpret and apply it simply requires that those 
decisions be informed, and therefore, balanced.” (Goleta II, 52 Cal.3d at p. 576.) 

These findings constitute the City’s best efforts to set forth the evidentiary and policy bases for 
its decision to approve the Project in a manner consistent with the requirements of CEQA. To 
the extent that these findings conclude that various proposed mitigation measures outlined in 
the Final EIR are feasible and have not been modified, superseded or withdrawn, the City will 
implement these measures consistent with its decision to approve the Project. 
 
VIII. CERTIFICATIONS 

1. The City certifies that it has been presented with the Final EIR and that it has reviewed 
and considered the information contained in the Final EIR prior to making the following 
certifications and findings. 

2. Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15090, the City certifies that the Final EIR has been 
completed in compliance with CEQA and the State CEQA Guidelines.  The City certifies 
the Final EIR for the actions described in these Findings and in the Final EIR. 

3. The City further certifies that the Final EIR reflects its independent judgment and 
analysis. 

4. These Findings constitute the City’s best efforts to set forth the evidentiary and policy 
bases for its decision to approve the proposed Project in a manner consistent with the 
requirements of CEQA. To the extent that these Findings conclude that various 
proposed mitigation measures outlined in the Final EIR are feasible and have not been 
modified, superseded or withdrawn, the City hereby adopts the measures and binds 
itself to implement these measures as conditions of Project approval. 

5. In adopting these mitigation measures, the City intends to adopt each of the mitigation 
measures proposed in the Final EIR. Accordingly, in the event a mitigation measure 
recommended in the Final EIR has inadvertently been omitted from these Findings, said 
mitigation measure is hereby adopted and incorporated in the Findings below by 
reference. The City’s Statement of Overriding Considerations for the Project is included 
herein below. 

  

Packet Pg. 73

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

17 
 

IX. MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM 
 
A Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (or Mitigation Monitoring Program) has been 
prepared for the Project, and is being approved by the City by the same resolution that has 
adopted these Findings. The City will use the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program to 
track compliance with Project mitigation measures. The Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting 
Program will remain available for public review during the compliance period. The Final 
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program is attached to and incorporated into the FEIR 
document and is approved in conjunction with certification of the FEIR and adoption of these 
Findings of Fact. 

 
X. LESS THAN SIGNIFICANT IMPACTS 
 
Under CEQA, no mitigation measures are required for impacts that are less than significant 
(Pub. Resources Code, Section 21002; CEQA Guidelines, Section 15126.4, subd. (a)(3), 15091.). 
Based on substantial evidence in the whole of the record of this proceeding, including, more 
specifically, the Initial Study and the DEIR, the City finds that implementation of the Project will 
not result in significant impacts in the following areas and that these potential impact areas, 
therefore, do not require mitigation: 

1. Aesthetics: 
a.  Initial Study I. a) Would the proposed project have a substantial adverse impact 

on a scenic vista? 
b. EIR Impact 4.2-1) Would the proposed project substantially degrade the existing 

visual character for quality of the site and its surroundings? 
c.  Initial Study 1. c) Would the proposed project substantially damage scenic 

resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and historic 
buildings within a state scenic highway? 

d. Initial Study I. d) Would the proposed project create a new source of substantial 
light or glare which would adversely affect day or nighttime views in the area? 

e. EIR Impact 4.2-2) Would the proposed project contribute to a cumulative impact 
relating to substantially degrading the existing visual character or quality of the 
site and its surroundings? 

 
2. Agricultural Resources: 

a. Initial Study II. a) Would the proposed project convert Prime Farmland, Unique 
Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), as shown on the 
maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of 
the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use?  

b. Initial Study II. b) Would the proposed project conflict with existing zoning for 
agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract? 

c. Initial Study II. c) Would the proposed project conflict with existing zoning for, or 
cause rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public Resources Code section 12220 
(g)), timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code section 4526), or 

Packet Pg. 74

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

18 
 

timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government Code 
section 51104 (g))?  

d. Initial Study II. d) Would the proposed project result in the loss of forest land or 
conversion of forest land to non-forest use?  

e. Initial Study II. e) Would the proposed project involve other changes in the 
existing environment which, due to their location or nature, could result in 
conversion of Farmland, to non-agricultural use or conversion of forest land to 
non-forest use?  
 

3. Air Quality: 
a. EIR Impact 4.3-1) Would the proposed project conflict with or obstruct 

implementation of applicable air quality plan? 
b. EIR Impact 4.3-3) Would the proposed project expose sensitive receptors to 

substantial pollutant concentrations? 
c. EIR Impact 4.3-4) Would the proposed project create objectionable odors 

affecting a substantial number of people? 
  

4. Biological Resources: 
a. EIR Impact 4.4-3) Would the proposed project interfere substantially with the 

movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or with 
established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of 
native wildlife nursery sites? 

b. EIR Impact 4.4-5) Would the proposed project conflict with the provisions of an 
adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community Conservation Plan, or 
other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan? 

 
5. Cultural Resources: 

a. Initial Study V. a) Would the proposed project cause a substantial adverse 
change in the significance of a historical resource as defined in §15064.5?  

b. Initial Study V. b) Would the proposed project cause a substantial adverse 
change in the significance of an archaeological resource pursuant to §15064.5? 

c. Initial Study V. e) Would the proposed project cause a substantial adverse 
change in the significance of a Tribal Cultural Resource as defined in Public 
Resources Code §21074? 
 

6. Geology and Soils 
a. Initial Study VI. a) Would the proposed project expose people or structures to 

potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death 
involving: i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most 
recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone Map issued by the state Geologist 
for the area or based on other substantial evidence of a known fault (refer to 
Division of Mines and Geology Special Publication 42)? 

b.  Initial Study VI. a) Would the proposed project expose people or structures to 
potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death 
involving: ii) Strong seismic ground shaking? 

Packet Pg. 75

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

19 
 

c. Initial Study VI. a) Would the proposed project expose people or structures to 
potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death 
involving: iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction? 

d. Initial Study VI. a) Would the proposed project  expose people or structures to 
potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death 
involving: iv) Landslides? 

e.  Initial Study VI. b) Would the proposed project result in substantial soil erosion 
or the loss of topsoil? 

f. Initial Study IV. c) Would the proposed project be located on a geologic unit or 
soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a result of the project, 
and potentially result in on-or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, 
liquefaction or collapse?  

g. Initial Study VI. d) Would the proposed project be located on expansive soil, as 
defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code (1994), creating substantial 
risks to life or property?  

h. Initial Study VI. e) Would the proposed project have soils incapable of adequately 
supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water disposal systems 
where sewers are not available for the disposal of waste water?  
 

7. Greenhouse Gas Emissions: 
a. Initial Study VII. a) Would the proposed project generate greenhouse gas 

emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the 
environment?  

b. Initial Study VII. b) Would the proposed project conflict with an applicable plan, 
policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of 
greenhouse gases?  
 

8. Hazards and Hazardous Materials: 
a. Initial Study VIII. a) Would the proposed project create a significant hazard to the 

public or the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of 
hazardous materials?  

b. Initial Study VIII. b) Would the proposed project create a significant hazard to the 
public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident 
conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment?  

c. Initial Study VIII. c) Would the proposed project emit hazardous emissions or 
handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within 
one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school?  

d. Initial Study VIII. d) Would the proposed project be located on a site which is 
included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to Government 
Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a significant hazard to the 
public or the environment?  

e. Initial Study VIII. e) For a project located within an airport land use plan or, 
where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or 
public use airport, would the proposed project result in a safety hazard for 
people residing or working in the project area?  

Packet Pg. 76

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

20 
 

f. Initial Study VIII. f) For a project within the vicinity of a private airstrip, would the 
proposed project result in a safety hazard for people residing or working in the 
project area?  

g. Initial Study VIII. g) Would the proposed project impair implementation of or 
physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency 
evacuation plan?  

h. Initial Study VIII. h) Would the proposed project expose people or structures to a 
significant risk of loss, injury or death involving wildland fires, including where 
wildlands are adjacent to urbanized areas or where residences are intermixed 
with wildlands?  
 

9. Hydrology and Water Quality: 
a. Initial Study IX. a) Would the proposed project violate any water quality 

standards or waste discharge requirements?  
b. Initial Study IX. b) Would the proposed project substantially deplete 

groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge such 
that there would be a net deficit in aquifer volume or a lowering of the local 
groundwater table level (e.g., the production rate of pre-existing nearby wells 
would drop to a level which would not support existing land uses or planned 
uses for which permits have been granted)?  

c. Initial Study IX. c) Would the proposed project substantially alter the existing 
drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the alteration of the 
course of a stream or river, in a manner which would result in substantial erosion 
or siltation on- or off-site?  

d. Initial Study IX. d) Would the proposed project substantially alter the existing 
drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the alteration of the 
course of a stream or river, or substantially increase the rate or amount of 
surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or off-site?  

e. Initial Study IX. e) Would the proposed project create or contribute runoff water 
which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage 
systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff?  

f. Initial Study IX. f) Would the proposed project otherwise substantially degrade 
water quality?  

g. Initial Study IX. g) Would the proposed project place housing within a 100-year 
flood hazard area as mapped on a federal Flood Hazard Boundary of Flood 
Insurance Rate Map or other flood hazard delineation map?  

h. Initial Study IX. h) Would the proposed project place within a 100-year flood 
hazard area structures which would impede or redirect flood flows?  

i. Initial Study IX. i) Would the proposed project expose people or structures to a 
significant risk of loss, injury or death involving flooding, including flooding as a 
result of the failure of a levee or dam?  

j. Initial Study IX. j) Would the proposed project result in inundation by seiche, 
tsunami, or mudflow?  

  

Packet Pg. 77

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

21 
 

 
10. Land Use and Planning:  

a. Initial Study X. a) Would the proposed project physically divide an established 
community?  

b. Initial Study X. b) Would the proposed project conflict with any applicable land 
use plan, policy, regulation of an agency with jurisdiction over the project 
(including, but not limited to the general plan, specific plan, local coastal 
program, or zoning ordinance) adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating 
an environmental effect?  

c. Initial Study X. c) Would the proposed project conflict with any applicable habitat 
conservation plan or natural community conservation plan?  

 
Mineral Resources: 

d. Initial Study XI. a) Would the proposed project result in the loss of availability of 
a known mineral resource that would be of value to the region and the residents 
of the state?  

e. Initial Study XI. b) Would the proposed project result in the loss of availability of 
a locally-important mineral resource recovery site delineated on a local general 
plan, specific plan or other land use plan?  

 
11. Noise:  

a. Initial Study XII. b) Would the proposed project result in exposure of persons to 
or generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels?  

b. Initial Study XII. c) Would the proposed project result in a substantial permanent 
increase in ambient noise levels in the project vicinity above levels existing 
without the project?  

c. Initial Study XII. d) Would the proposed project result in a substantial temporary 
or periodic increase in ambient noise levels in the project vicinity above levels 
existing without the project?  

d. Initial Study XII. e) For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where 
such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public 
use airport, would the project expose people residing or working in the project 
area too excessive noise levels?  

e. Initial Study XII. f) For a project within the vicinity of a private airstrip, would the 
project expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive noise 
levels?  
 

12. Population and Housing: 
a. Initial Study XIII. a) Would the proposed project induce substantial population 

growth in an area, either directly (for example, by proposing new homes and 
businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of roads or other 
infrastructure.)?  

b. Initial Study XIII. b) Would the proposed project displace substantial numbers of 
existing housing necessitating the construction of replacement housing 
elsewhere?  

Packet Pg. 78

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

22 
 

c. Initial Study XIII. c) Would the proposed project displace substantial numbers of 
people, necessitating the construction of replacement housing elsewhere?    

 
13. Public Services: 

a. Initial Study XIV. a) Would the proposed project result in substantial adverse 
physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered 
governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental 
facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 
impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other 
performance objectives for fire protection?  

b. Initial Study XIV. a) Would the proposed project result in substantial adverse 
physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered 
governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental 
facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 
impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other 
performance objectives for police protection?  

c. Initial Study XIV. a) Would the proposed project result in substantial adverse 
physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered 
governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental 
facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 
impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other 
performance objectives for schools?  

d. Initial Study XIV. a) Would the proposed project result in substantial adverse 
physical impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered 
governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental 
facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 
impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other 
performance objectives for other public facilities?  
  

14. Recreation: 
a. Initial Study XV. a) Would the proposed project increase the use of existing 

neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities such that 
substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated?  

b. Initial Study XV. b) Does the proposed project include recreational facilities or 
require the construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might have 
an adverse physical effect on the environment?  

 
15. Transportation, Traffic: 

a. EIR Impact 4.5-1) Would the proposed project conflict with an applicable plan, 
ordinance or policy establishing measures of effectiveness for the performance 
of the circulation system, taking into account all modes of transportation 
including mass transit and non-motorized travel and relevant components of the 
circulation system, including but not limited to intersections, streets, highways 
and freeways, pedestrian and bicycle paths, and mass transit? (Existing Plus 
Project Condition)  

Packet Pg. 79

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

23 
 

b. EIR Impact 4.5-2) Would the proposed project conflict with an applicable plan, 
ordinance or policy establishing measures of effectiveness for the performance 
of the circulation system, taking into account all modes of transportation 
including mass transit and non-motorized travel and relevant components of the 
circulation system, including but not limited to intersections, streets, highways 
and freeways, pedestrian and bicycle paths, and mass transit? (Short Term Plus 
Project Condition)  

c. EIR Impact 4.5-3) Would the proposed project conflict with an applicable 
congestion management program established by a county congestion 
management agency, including, but not limited to level of service standards and 
travel demand measures, or other standards established by the county 
congestion management agency for designated roads or highways?  

d. EIR Impact 4.5-4) Would the proposed project result in a change in air traffic 
patterns, including either an increase in traffic levels or a change in location that 
results in substantial safety risks?  

e. EIR Impact 4.5-5) Would the proposed project substantially increase hazards due 
to a design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or 
incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)?  

f. EIR Impact 4.5-6) Would the proposed project result in inadequate emergency 
access?  

g. EIR Impact 4.5-7) Would the proposed project conflict with adopted policies, 
plans or programs regarding public transit, bicycle, or pedestrian facilities, or 
otherwise decrease the performance or safety of such facilities?  

 
16. Utilities and Service Systems: 

a. Initial Study XVII. a) Would the proposed project exceed wastewater treatment 
requirements of the applicable Regional Water Quality Control Board?  

b. Initial Study XVII. b) Would the proposed project require or result in the 
construction of new water or wastewater treatment facilities or expansion of 
existing facilities, the construction of which could cause significant 
environmental effects?  

c. Initial Study XVII. c) Would the proposed project require or result in the 
construction of new storm water drainage facilities or expansion of existing 
facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 
effects?  

d. Initial Study XVII. d) Would the proposed project have sufficient water supplies 
available to serve the project from existing entitlements and resources, or are 
new or expanded entitlements needed?  

e. Initial Study XVII. e) Would the proposed project result in a determination by the 
wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve the project that it has 
adequate capacity to serve the project’s projected demand in addition to the 
provider’s existing commitments?  

f. Initial Study XVII. f) Would the proposed project be served by a landfill with 
sufficient capacity to accommodate the project’s solid waste disposal needs?  

Packet Pg. 80

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

24 
 

g. Initial Study XVII. g) Would the proposed project comply with federal, state, and 
local statutes and regulations related to solid waste?  
 

XI. SIGNIFICANT EFFECTS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 
 
The Draft EIR identified the potentially significant environmental impacts (or effects) that the 
Project would contribute to or otherwise cause. A detailed analysis of potential environmental 
impacts and proposed mitigation measures was set forth in Sections 4.1 through 4.5 as well as 
Chapters 5 and 6 of the DEIR, as well as in the FEIR in the applicable responses to comments on 
the DEIR. The DEIR evaluated the Project’s potential environmental impacts in four distinct 
topical categories, and also evaluated the Project’s potential growth inducing and cumulative 
impacts. Some of these significant impacts can be fully avoided through adoption of feasible 
mitigation measures. Other impacts cannot be avoided by the adoption of feasible mitigation 
measures or alternatives, and thus will be significant and unavoidable. For reasons set forth 
herein, however, the City has determined that overriding economic, social, and other 
considerations outweigh the significant unavoidable impacts of the Project.  

The City’s findings with respect to the Project’s significant impacts and mitigation measures are 
set forth in the Final EIR and in these Findings. In making these Findings, the City ratifies, adopts 
and incorporates in these Findings the analysis and explanation in the Final EIR, and ratifies, 
adopts and incorporates into these Findings the determinations and conclusions of the Final EIR 
relating to environmental impacts and mitigation measures, except to the extent any such 
determinations and conclusions are specifically and expressly modified by these Findings. To 
the extent any of the mitigation measures are within the jurisdiction of other agencies, the City 
finds that those agencies can and should implement those measures within their jurisdiction. 

 
SIGNIFICANT EFFECTS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 

 
The FEIR identified a number of significant and potentially significant environmental effects (or 
impacts) that the Project will cause.  Most of these significant effects can be fully avoided 
through the adoption of feasible mitigation measures.   Other effects can be lessened but 
cannot be avoided by the adoption of feasible mitigation measures or alternatives.  Other 
significant, unavoidable effects cannot be substantially lessened or avoided.  For reasons set 
forth below, however, the City has determined that the significant, unavoidable effects of the 
Project are outweighed by overriding economic, social and other benefit considerations.  

The following identifies and summarizes the potentially significant effects, significant effects 
and mitigation measures identified in the Draft EIR, as organized by the environmental topic 
areas (sections). 
 
Section 4.2. Aesthetics 
 
The Project’s potential impacts related to aesthetics are described and discussed on pages 4.2-1 
to 4.2-24 of the DEIR, as well as in the FEIR in the responses to comments received on the DEIR. 
 

Packet Pg. 81

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

25 
 

Impact 4.2-1: Substantially Degrade the Existing Visual Character r Quality of the Site and its 
Surroundings. 

Implementation of the proposed project would result in development that could degrade the 
existing visual character or quality of the site and its surroundings.  However, as further 
discussed below, this will be a less than significant impact. 
 
Explanation: 

The proposed project would result in the development of a 195-unit, two- and three-story 
apartment complex and associated infrastructure within the project site, which could change 
the visual nature or character of the site and its surroundings.  The proposed project will 
convert the project site from a generally undeveloped wooded and grassland area to developed 
uses. 

The apartment complex will consist of eleven residential buildings and a clubhouse building, 
which will include a leasing office and a manager’s apartment.  The majority of the residential 
buildings will be three-story buildings comprised of one, two, and three bedroom units with 
private garages located at the ground level.  There will also be four two-story buildings 
configured to provide private garages with carriage style apartment units above.  The complex’s 
amenity spaces will be located near the proposed primary entrance to the site and will include 
a single level leasing office/clubhouse, fitness buildings, and a second story manager’s office all 
around a common pool area.  Access to the project will be from Rocklin Road as a shared 
driveway with the existing Rocklin Manor apartments, and to accommodate increased traffic of 
the combined access the current access design will be widened to provide two entry and two 
exit lanes.  The project will also have an exit only driveway to the south onto Water Lily Lane. 

The design of the building facades is a contemporary interpretation of the indigenous American 
Prairie style. A traditional tripartite organization of base-middle-top, incorporating brick in the 
base and chimney elements, is evocative of traditional residential collegiate architectural 
precedents.  Incorporated into the design are classic elements of low sloping roofs with large 
eaves supported by rectangular piers, a horizontal emphasis through contrasting trim devices, 
and geometric patterns of small-pane window glazing. The material palette includes a 
combination of typical colors and materials found in traditional examples and would use natural 
building materials (e.g., masonry, plaster, concrete, wood and brick) and colors 
(complementary natural earth tones) to integrate the buildings into the existing environment to 
the maximum extent possible. 

The proposed project would include berms and retaining walls to adjust for grade variances.  
Stacked block retaining walls ranging from 3 to 7 feet tall would be placed along the project’s 
frontage with Sierra College Boulevard, a concrete with brick veneer retaining wall ranging from 
4 to 6 feet tall would be placed along the western side of the project’s driveway on Rocklin 
Road, and a concrete with brick veneer retaining wall up to 10 feet tall would be placed 
between buildings 5 and 9 and their respective parking lots, near Water Lily Lane.  In addition, 
the existing sound wall along Water Lily Lane would be extended westerly by the proposed 
project towards Sierra College Boulevard, terminating at a plane that coincides with the edge of 
the westernmost building (building 5). 

Packet Pg. 82

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

26 
 

To understand changes in the existing visual environment as a result of implementation of the 
proposed project, artistic renderings were used to illustrate with project conditions as taken 
from representative locations from different perspectives of the project site.  These artistic 
renderings show landscape growth at maturity (15-20 years) of the development assuming that 
a mix of sizes and varieties of plants and trees would be planted as part of project construction.  
The artistic renderings are provided in Figures 4.2-2 through 4.2-13 of the DEIR (DEIR, pp. 4.2-
12 – 4.2-24). 

Views from Sierra College Boulevard (West) 

Under the proposed project, four apartment buildings located along Sierra College Boulevard 
would be three stories in height.  Landscaping consisting of trees, shrubs, groundcovers and 
granite boulders would be provided along the project’s frontage on Sierra College Boulevard, 
with the exception of the “panhandle” area.  The panhandle area would have a sidewalk, curb 
and gutter installed along the Sierra College Boulevard frontage but would otherwise remain in 
its current natural state and receive no new landscaping.  The landscaped areas would help to 
minimize views of the proposed buildings by providing a visual separation between the project 
and surrounding uses and filtering views, particularly as the landscape matures over time.  The 
use of natural building materials (e.g., masonry, plaster, concrete, wood and brick) and colors 
(complementary natural earth tones) would serve to integrate the buildings into the existing 
environment by blending rooflines and vertical architectural components. 

Views from Rocklin Road (North) 

Under the proposed project, two apartment buildings located along Rocklin Road would be 
three stories in height.  The project’s entrance is located on Rocklin Road on the eastern end of 
the project site and landscaping consisting of trees, shrubs, and groundcovers would be 
provided along the project’s frontage on Rocklin Road.  The landscaped areas would help to 
minimize views of the proposed buildings by providing a visual separation between the project 
and surrounding uses and filtering views, particularly as the landscape matures over time.  The 
use of natural building materials (e.g., masonry, plaster, concrete, wood and brick) and colors 
(complementary natural earth tones) would serve to integrate the buildings into the existing 
environment by blending rooflines and vertical architectural components. 

Views from Rocklin Manor Apartments (East) 

Under the proposed project, three apartment buildings three stories in height, a clubhouse with 
a manager’s unit two stories in height and pool would be located on the eastern side of the 
project site.  Landscaping consisting of trees, shrubs, and groundcovers would be provided 
along the project’s eastern side, and existing mature trees between the proposed project and 
the Rocklin Manor Apartments would be retained.  The landscaped areas would help to 
minimize views of the proposed buildings by providing a visual separation between the project 
and surrounding uses and filtering views, particularly as the landscape matures over time.  The 
use of natural building materials (e.g., masonry, plaster, concrete, wood and brick) and colors 
(complementary natural earth tones) would serve to integrate the buildings into the existing 
environment by blending rooflines and vertical architectural components. 

  

Packet Pg. 83

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

27 
 

Views from Water Lily Lane (South) 

Under the proposed project, two apartment buildings located along Water Lily Lane Road 
would be three stories in height.  The project’s secondary exit is located on Water Lily Lane and 
landscaping consisting of trees, shrubs, and groundcovers would be provided along the 
project’s frontage on Water Lily Lane, and existing mature trees between the proposed project 
and Water Lilly Lane would be retained.  There is also an existing six foot tall masonry wall 
between the project site and Water Lily Lane that would be retained and extended out to Sierra 
College Boulevard The landscaped areas and masonry wall would help to minimize views of the 
proposed buildings by providing a visual separation between the project and surrounding uses 
and filtering views, particularly as the landscape matures over time.  The use of natural building 
materials (e.g., masonry, plaster, concrete, wood and brick) and colors (complementary natural 
earth tones) would serve to integrate the buildings into the existing environment by blending 
rooflines and vertical architectural components. 

It should be noted that the project applicant previously made several changes to the project in 
response to the public’s and the City Planning Commission’s concerns that the two buildings 
closest to Water Lily Lane were too tall.  Buildings 5 and 9 were reduced in height from 45’ 10’’ 
to 33’ 9” and 45’ 10” to 28’ 1’’, respectively, by stepping them back into the site and eliminating 
one story of height (Building 5) and two stories of height (Building 9).  In addition, the applicant 
added trees in front of the south elevation of Building 9 and revised the landscaping in front of 
Building 5 to include a six foot tall masonry “privacy” wall from the project exit to the corner of 
Sierra College Boulevard.  The applicant also tried to work with the homeowner’s association 
(HOA) to the south to plant additional trees within the HOA-owned landscape area in front of 
the existing masonry wall, but was unsuccessful. 

As discussed above, the proposed project would include landscape buffers around the 
perimeter of the project site and retaining walls and “privacy” walls along portions of the 
perimeter.  The landscape buffers would utilize a mixture of trees, shrubs, groundcovers and 
granite boulders to help minimize views of project buildings and help blend rooflines with 
vertical architecture with the existing surroundings helping to reduce impacts associated with a 
change in the visual character or quality of the site and its surroundings.  Instead of an 
undeveloped, mostly oak-tree covered lot, the proposed project would change this view shed 
by inserting buildings, walls and landscaping between the existing roadways on the west and 
north, apartments on the east and single-family one and two story residences on the south.  
The existing apartment buildings to the east of the proposed project are approximately 80 feet 
away from the property lines of the single family subdivision to the south and by way of 
comparison, the proposed project’s buildings closest to the single family subdivision to the 
south would be located approximately 50 feet (Building 5) and 80 feet (Building 9) away from 
the property lines.  

The proposed project has been designed to be consistent with the provisions of the City’s 
Design Review Guidelines that encourage originality in building and landscaping design in a 
manner that will enhance the physical appearance of the community; encourage harmonious 
and compatible development; reduce potential visual conflicts with adjacent development 
(both existing and proposed), and involve area residents, owners, and merchants in the review 
process.  The proposed project is also subject to the City development standards set forth in the 

Packet Pg. 84

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

28 
 

City’s Zoning Ordinance.  Together, the Zoning Ordinance and Design Review Guidelines help to 
ensure that development form, character, height, and massing are consistent with the City’s 
vision for the character of the community.  

While compliance with the City’s Design Review Guidelines, Zoning Ordinance and General Plan 
policies would ensure visual compatibility with existing development as well as an evaluation of 
the preservation of unique natural features, the visual character of the City would still be 
altered as further development such as the proposed project occurs within the City.  The City’s 
General Plan EIR concluded that aside from implementation of the City’s Design Review 
Guidelines and the application of General Plan goals and policies addressing visual character 
and views, no other mitigation measures are available to fully mitigate impacts to existing visual 
character given the extent and density of proposed development, and significant aesthetic 
impacts will occur as a result of development under the General Plan.  The General Plan EIR 
further recognized that these impacts cannot be reduced to a less than significant level and that 
buildout of the Rocklin General Plan will change and degrade the existing visual character, will 
create new sources of light and glare and will contribute to cumulative impacts to scenic vistas, 
scenic resources, existing visual character and creation of light and glare.  Findings of fact and a 
statement of overriding considerations were adopted by the Rocklin City Council in regard to 
these impacts, which were found to be significant and unavoidable. 

The proposed project would result in an alteration to the visual character of the project site and 
its surroundings, but such an alteration is not considered to be substantial as further explained.  
The proposed project includes the use of natural building materials (e.g. masonry, plaster, 
concrete, wood and brick) and a perimeter landscaped buffer.  These design features would be 
encapsulated in recommended conditions of approval and project exhibits for the hearing body 
to review.  Despite some of the proposed project’s buildings being three stories in height, the 
building structures proposed are of consistent height and scale with surrounding development 
and anticipated future development.   

The anticipated future development in the surrounding project vicinity includes the 
development of the 35 +/- acre property across Rocklin Road and to the north of the proposed 
project site.  This property is designated as a Mixed Use land use designation under the City’s 
General Plan.  A property’s zoning designation is the typical regulatory tool that establishes 
building height levels, but in this instance the City has yet to apply a Mixed Use zoning 
designation to the property in question.  However, the definition of Mixed Use provided in the 
City’s General Plan notes that the density of the Mixed Use land use designation is 10 to 40 
dwelling units per acre and 0.25 to 1.6 Floor to Area ratio (FAR), with non-residential building 
intensities varying between 0.25 and 1.6 FAR, depending upon the location.  In addition, the 
Mixed Use definition notes that the population per acre is 26-104 persons per acre, with the 
population varying with allowed residential density.  Accordingly, it is reasonable to expect that 
the future development of the 35 +/- acre Mixed Use property will include multiple story 
buildings, as that is the only way that such FARs could be achieved (a FAR greater than 1.0 
would have to be by way of a multiple story building), and the only way that such dwelling units 
per acre and persons per acre could be achieved.   

Existing buildings in the area include single and multi-family residential buildings one and two 
stories in height and multi-story institutional uses.  These buildings and the anticipated future 

Packet Pg. 85

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

29 
 

development of buildings within the adjacent Sierra College campus area and Mixed Use land 
use designation to the north of Rocklin Road are collectively all of similar size and scale to the 
proposed project.  The height difference between the proposed project’s three story buildings 
as compared to the adjacent and nearby apartment complexes consisting of two stories is not 
considered to be a significant difference nor is it vastly different from the height differential in 
the single family subdivision to the south where there are both one- and two-story residences.  
Admittedly there is a mass difference between multi-family developments and single-family 
developments, but there is not a significant mass difference between two-story multi-family 
developments and three-story multi-family developments. 

A typical and obvious approach employed to address concerns related to building height is a 
reduction in height, as suggested in a comment received on the NOP.  However, in the 
proposed project’s circumstances, a reduction in height would negate the project’s ability to 
meet its density requirements as stipulated by the project site’s General Plan land use 
designation of High Density Residential and its zoning designation of Planned Development 
Residential, 20 dwelling units minimum per acre. 

The City of Rocklin Planning Commission would also make a determination as to whether the 
proposed project meets the City’s Design Review objectives and criteria and that hearing body 
has the ability to make modifications to the proposed project if they deem such necessary.  If 
the proposed project is approved, it would subsequently be required to submit Improvement 
Plans, building plans and landscape plans for the development of the project.  Prior to approval 
of Improvement plans, building plans and landscape plans, the project design elements would 
be subject to the review and approval of City staff.  The review would include, but not be 
limited to, a review of onsite landscaping (including the landscape buffer areas and other 
landscaped areas), retaining and “privacy” walls, fencing, lighting and building design and 
materials.   

The Design Review process, as well as the incorporation of project design features into 
conditions of approval and project exhibits, would ensure that the development of the 
proposed project would result in a less than significant impact to the visual character or quality 
of the site and its surroundings. 

Mitigation: None required. 

Impact 4.2-2: Cumulative Impact of Substantially Degrading the Existing Visual Character of 
Quality of the Site and its Surroundings. 

Implementation of the proposed project would not contribute to a cumulative impact relating 
to substantially degrading the existing visual character or quality of the site and its 
surroundings.  Therefore, any such impact would be less than cumulatively considerable and 
less than significant. 

Explanation: Future development in the City of Rocklin, including the Sierra Community College 
campus, as well as in the Town of Loomis to the east of the proposed project site could affect 
the same views analyzed for the proposed project.  This future development would result in 
changes to the existing land use environment through the conversion of vacant or partially 
developed land to developed uses that could result in a change in visual character or quality.  

Packet Pg. 86

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

30 
 

The City of Rocklin and Town of Loomis General Plans, and to some degree the Sierra College 
campus master plan, identify the location and type of future development and also specify 
goals, objective and standards of site development. 

The City of Rocklin, Town of Loomis and Sierra Community College and other surrounding areas 
are anticipated to experience growth in association with new and infill development, which 
would add to the alteration of existing visual conditions.  The City’s General Plan EIR concluded 
that the cumulative development of the City in combination with the buildout of western Placer 
County would result in a cumulatively considerable change in the visual character of the area.  
Aside from the application of General Plan goals and policies addressing visual character and 
views, no other mitigation measures are available to fully mitigate impacts to existing visual 
character given the extent and density of proposed development, and significant cumulative 
aesthetic impacts will occur as a result of development under the General Plan and in western 
Placer County.  The General Plan EIR further recognized that these impacts cannot be reduced 
to a less than significant level and that buildout of the Rocklin General Plan and western Placer 
County will contribute to cumulative impacts to scenic vistas, scenic resources, existing visual 
character and creation of light and glare.  Findings of fact and a statement of overriding 
considerations were adopted by the Rocklin City Council in regard to these impacts, which were 
found to be significant and unavoidable. 

Future surrounding development, as well as the development of the proposed project, would 
change the existing visual character or quality of those specific locations from vacant land to 
developed land uses.  Through land use entitlement and other review processes, future 
development is anticipated to be well designed and consistent and compatible with adjacent 
developments in the larger project vicinity.  Development patterns would include landscaping 
and setbacks that would help screen future development from adjacent land uses and provide a 
transition space from existing developed land uses.  Therefore, the impact would be considered 
less than cumulatively considerable and less than significant. 

Mitigation: None required. 

Section 4.3. Air Quality 

The Project’s potential impacts related to air quality are described and discussed on pages 4.3-1 
to 4.3-32 of the DEIR, as well as in the FEIR in the responses to comments received on the DEIR. 

Impact 4.3-1: Conflict with or Obstruct Implementation of the Applicable Air Quality Plan. 

Implementation of the proposed project would result in development that could conflict with 
or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan.  However, as explained further 
below, the Project’s operational emissions would not have this result and the impact would be 
less than significant. 

Explanation: The Placer County Air Pollution Control District (PCAPCD) and a number of other 
air districts in the Sacramento Valley Air Basin (SVAB) developed the Sacramento Regional 8-
Hour Ozone Attainment and Reasonable Further Progress Plan (the 2013 Plan) to address 
attainment of the federal 8-hour ozone standard.  Similarly, the PCACPD’s 2012 Triennial 

Packet Pg. 87

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

31 
 

Progress Report addresses attainment of the California 1-hour and 8-hour ozone standards.  
Projects in the SVAB could be considered to conflict with the 2013 Plan if the emissions impact 
of the project would be greater than what was projected in the emissions inventories of the 
Plan.  The 2013 Plan’s emissions inventories are developed based upon anticipated growth 
parameters such as population and housing, which are based upon local general plan and 
zoning designations, in this instance the City of Rocklin General Plan and the City of Rocklin 
Zoning Map. 

In general, a project would not interfere with the applicable air quality plan if it is consistent 
with growth assumptions used to form the applicable air quality plan and if the project 
implements all available and reasonably feasible air quality control measures.  Air quality 
impacts are controlled through policies and provisions of the PCAPCD, the City of Rocklin 
General Plan, the 2013 Plan, and the 2012 Triennial Progress Report.  

The most significant air quality impacts from a residential development are associated with 
mobile source emissions.  The vehicle trips generated by the proposed residential project would 
be less than the number of trips that could be generated if the project site was built out per the 
former retail commercial land use designation that was in place at the time that emission 
inventories were conducted for the 2013 Plan.  Specifically, based on the project’s traffic study 
and the Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation Manual (9th edition), the 
proposed residential project would generate 1,305 daily trips (195 dwelling units X 6.69 daily 
trips/dwelling unit for apartments).  Conversely, the former retail commercial designation 
would be expected to generate 4,744 daily trips (10.2 acres X 43,560 sf/acre = 444,312 sf X .25 
retail sf/site sf = 111,078 sf X 42.70 trips/1000 sf for shopping centers).  Thus, the proposed 
project would generate 3,439 fewer daily trips and the project would result in fewer overall 
emissions as compared to the emissions that would be generated by a retail commercial 
project.  Because emission inventories within the 2013 Plan were determined based on the 
then-allowed commercial uses, the emissions related to the proposed project would be less 
than what was estimated and included in emissions inventories.  Thus, the project would result 
in less mobile source emissions than anticipated and such emissions would be less overall when 
compared with emissions inventories of the 2013 Plan. 

General conformity requirements of the Plan include whether the project would contribute to 
new violations of NAAQS, increase the frequency or severity of an existing violation of any 
NAAQS, or delay timely attainment of any NAAQS. As indicated in Impacts 4.3-2 and 4.3-3 
below, the proposed project’s short-term construction emissions and long-term operational 
emissions would not exceed the PCAPCD’s project-level thresholds of significance with 
implementation of the identified mitigation measures. 

As demonstrated by the vehicle trip generation comparison presented above, the proposed 
project’s operational emissions are anticipated to be lower than that which could be generated 
by the level of development that was anticipated by the 2013 Plan and evaluated in the City of 
Rocklin General Plan EIR.  Given that the 2013 Plan contemplated and accounted for greater air 
quality impacts associated with the Project site’s previous planned commercial use, the current 
project would not conflict or obstruct implementation of the 2013 Plan.  Therefore, the 
proposed project would not conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air 
quality plan, and the impact would be less than significant. 

Packet Pg. 88

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

32 
 

Mitigation: None required. 

Impact 4.3-2: Violate Any Air Quality Standard or Contribute Substantially to an Existing or 
Projected Air Quality Violation. 

Implementation of the proposed project would result in the generation of ROG, NOx and PM10 
emissions that could violate an air quality standard or contribute substantially to an existing or 
projected air quality violation.  Therefore, this would be a potentially significant impact.  

Explanation: 

Construction Emissions 

Construction activities would result in temporary short-term emissions associated with vehicle 
trips from construction workers, operation of construction equipment, and the dust generated 
during construction activities.  These temporary and short-term emissions would generate 
ozone precursors (ROG and NOx) as well as PM10 and PM2.5.   

Construction-related fugitive dust emissions would vary from day to day, depending on the 
level and type of activity, silt content of the soil, and the weather. In the absence of mitigation, 
construction activities may result in significant quantities of dust, and as a result, local visibility 
and PM10 concentrations may be adversely affected on a temporary and intermittent basis.  In 
addition, fugitive dust generated by construction would include not only PM10, but also larger 
particles, which would fall out of the atmosphere within several hundred feet of the site and 
could result in nuisance-type impacts to nearby uses.   

To address short-term construction impacts related to dust emissions, the Placer County Air 
Pollution Control District has adopted Rule 228 – Fugitive Dust.  Rule 228 includes the following 
discussion related to Minimum Dust Control Requirements:  The following dust mitigation 
measures are to be initiated at the start and maintained throughout the duration of any 
construction or grading activity, including any construction or grading for road construction or 
maintenance. 

• Unpaved areas subject to vehicle traffic must be stabilized by being kept wet, treated 
with a chemical dust suppressant, or covered. 
 

• The speed of any vehicles and equipment traveling across unpaved areas must be no 
more than 15 miles per hour unless the road surface and surrounding area is sufficiently 
stabilized to prevent vehicles and equipment traveling more than 15 miles per hour 
from emitting dust exceeding Ringelmann 2 or visible emissions from crossing the 
project boundary line. 
 

• Storage piles and disturbed areas not subject to vehicular traffic must be stabilized by 
being kept wet, treated with a chemical dust suppressant, or covered when material is 
not being added to or removed from the pile.  
 

• Prior to any ground disturbance, including grading, excavating, and land clearing, 
sufficient water must be applied to the area to be disturbed to prevent emitting dust 

Packet Pg. 89

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

33 
 

exceeding Ringelmann 2 and to minimize visible emissions from crossing the boundary 
line. 
 

• Construction vehicles leaving the site shall be cleaned to prevent dust, silt, mud, and 
dirt, from being released or tracked offsite. 
 

• When wind speeds are high enough to result in dust emissions crossing the boundary 
line, despite the application of dust mitigation measures, grading and earthmoving 
operations shall be suspended. 
 

• No trucks are allowed to transport excavated material off-site unless the trucks are 
maintained such that no spillage can occur from holes or other openings in cargo 
compartments, and loads are either covered with tarps, or wetted and loaded such that 
the material does not touch the front, back, or sides of the cargo compartment at any 
point less than six inches from the top and that no point of the load extends above the 
top of the cargo compartment. 

In addition, the proposed project is required to comply with all PCAPCD rules and regulations 
for construction, with the following rules specifically applicable to construction-related air 
quality impacts: 

• Rule 202 related to visible emissions; 
• Rule 205 related to emissions that may cause nuisance conditions; 
• Rule 217 related to the emission of ROG from asphalt using for paving; and 
• Rule 218 related to architectural coatings 

The California Emission Estimator Model (CalEEMod) Version 2016.3.1 was used to estimate 
construction emissions for the proposed project and the modeling input parameters were 
adjusted to reflect the requirements of these applicable rules.  Table 4.3-6 (DEIR, p. 4.3-17) 
identifies that the PCAPCD’s established criteria pollutant threshold of significance for land use 
projects is 82 pounds per day for ROG, NOx and PM10 emissions for project construction.  Table 
4.3-7 (DEIR, p. 4.3-21 and reprinted below) shows the proposed project’s construction 
emissions for the construction years 2018 and 2019. 

TABLE 4.3-7 
CONSTRUCTION EMISSIONS (UNMITIGATED MAXIMUM DAILY LBS./DAY) 

 ROG NOx PM10 TOTAL PM2.5 TOTAL 
2018 (Summer) 12.0013 59.5767 20.7920 12.3416 
2018 (Winter) 11.9830 59.5907 20.7920 12.3416 
2019 (Summer) 14.4489 62.7993 3.8481 3.2224 
2019 (Winter) 14.4405 62.8367 3.8481 3.2224 
PCAPCD SIGNIFICANCE THRESHOLD 82 82 82 N/A 
EXCEEDANCE OF PCAPCD THRESHOLD NO NO NO NO 
NOTES:  N/A = Not Applicable 
SOURCES:  Placer County Air Pollution Control District, CEQA Air Quality Handbook, October 
2012, CALEEMOD (Version 2016.3.1). 

Packet Pg. 90

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

34 
 

As shown in the table above, with adherence to the PCAPCD rules, the construction emissions 
in the 2018 and 2019 construction season (winter and summer) do not exceed the PCAPCD 
thresholds of significance.   

Mitigation for Construction Emissions: None required. 

Operational Emissions 

The proposed project would be a direct and indirect source of air pollution, in that it would 
generate and attract vehicle trips in the region (mobile source emissions) and it would increase 
area source emissions and energy consumption.  The mobile source emissions would be 
entirely from vehicles, while the area source emissions would be primarily from the use of 
natural gas fuel combustion, hearth fuel combustion, landscape fuel combustion, consumer 
products and architectural coatings.   

The California Emission Estimator Model (CalEEMod) Version 2016.3.1 was used to estimate 
operational emissions for the proposed project.  Table 4.3-6 (DEIR, p. 4.3-17) identifies the 
PCAPCD’s established criteria pollutant threshold of significance for land use projects as 55 
pounds per day for ROG and NOx and 82 pounds per day for PM10 emissions for project 
operations.  Table 4.3-8 (DEIR, p. 4.3-22, and reprinted below) shows the proposed project’s 
operational emissions broken down into individual emission categories of area, energy and 
mobile, as well as a total of all emission categories. 

 

TABLE 4.3-8 
OPERATIONAL EMISSIONS (UNMITIGATED MAXIMUM DAILY LBS./DAY) 

 ROG NOx PM10 TOTAL PM2.5 TOTAL 
SUMMER 

Area 303.7635 6.0152 51.7384 51.7384 
Energy 0.0937 0.8010 0.0648 0.0648 
Mobile 5.4914 10.5509 8.0128 2.2144 
Total 309.3486 17.3671 59.8160 54.0175 
PCAPCD SIGNIFICANCE THRESHOLD 55 55 82 N/A 
EXCEEDANCE OF PCAPCD THRESHOLD YES NO NO NO 

WINTER 
Area 303.7635 6.0152 51.7384 51.7384 
Energy 0.0937 0.8010 0.0648 0.0648 
Mobile 4.6864 11.7168 8.0134 2.2149 
Total 308.5437 18.5330 59.8166 54.0181 
PCAPCD SIGNIFICANCE THRESHOLD 55 55 82 N/A 
EXCEEDANCE OF PCAPCD THRESHOLD YES NO NO NO 
NOTES:  N/A = Not Applicable 
SOURCES:  Placer County Air Pollution Control District, CEQA Air Quality Handbook, October 
2012, CALEEMOD (Version 2016.3.1). 
 

Packet Pg. 91

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

35 
 

Operational NOx and PM10 emissions are below the thresholds of significance for the individual 
emissions categories (i.e., area, energy and mobile sources), as well as the total for these 
categories.  The ROG emissions for the Area Source category, as well as the total for all 
categories, exceed the project-level operational threshold of significance.  The PCACPD has 
determined that projects with emissions that exceed this threshold are potentially significant 
and require mitigation to reduce emissions. 

The California Emission Estimator Model (CalEEMod) Version 2016.3.1 was used to estimate 
project-level operational emissions for the proposed project with implementation of mitigation 
measures.  The primary source of operational emissions that was targeted for mitigation in the 
model was the area source emissions, which are estimated at 303.7635 lbs./day (maximum 
daily).  Mitigation was entered into the model to reduce the total operational emissions.  
Mitigation included the following for area source emissions: 

• No Hearths 
• Energy Efficient Appliances 
• Low Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Paints 
• Implement Neighborhood Electric Vehicle (NEV) Network 

Table 4.3-9 (DEIR, p. 4.3-23, and reprinted below) shows the project-level operational 
emissions, which include area, energy and mobile source emissions that would result from 
operations of the proposed project with mitigation. 

TABLE 4.3-9 
OPERATIONAL EMISSIONS (MITIGATED MAXIMUM DAILY LBS./DAY) 

 ROG NOx PM10 TOTAL PM2.5 TOTAL 
SUMMER 

Area 5.3365 0.1873 0.0886 0.0886 
Energy 0.0937 0.8010 0.0648 0.0648 
Mobile 5.4785 10.5135 7.9728 2.2033 
Total 10.9087 11.5018 8.1261 2.3567 
Percent Reduction 96.5 33.8 86.4 95.6 
PCAPCD SIGNIFICANCE THRESHOLD 55 55 82 N/A 
EXCEEDANCE OF PCAPCD THRESHOLD NO NO NO NO 

WINTER 
Area 5.3365 0.1873 0.0886 0.0886 
Energy 0.0937 0.8010 0.0648 0.0648 
Mobile 4.6726 11.6738 7.9734 2.2039 
Total 10.1028 12.6620 8.1268 2.3573 
Percent Reduction 96.7 31.7 86.4 95.6 
PCAPCD SIGNIFICANCE THRESHOLD 55 55 82 N/A 
EXCEEDANCE OF PCAPCD THRESHOLD NO NO NO NO 
NOTES:  N/A = Not Applicable 
SOURCES:  Placer County Air Pollution Control District, CEQA Air Quality Handbook, October 2012, 
CALEEMOD (Version 2016.3.1). 
As shown in the table above, all emissions are reduced to a level that does not exceed the 
project-level operational thresholds of significance.   

Packet Pg. 92

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

36 
 

Mitigation for Operational Emissions: 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-2 (a): Prior to the start of any grading or construction activity, the 
Project applicant shall include the following standard notes on all Improvement and Building 
Plans approved in association with this Project and shall implement the notes during all grading 
and construction activities: 

1. No wood burning fireplaces/hearths shall be allowed.  Only natural gas or propane fired 
fireplace appliances are permitted.  These appliances shall be clearly delineated on the 
Building Plans submitted in conjunction with the Building Permit application.  (Based on 
PCAPCD Rule 225, section 302.2). 

2. Install Energy Efficient (Energy Star rated) appliances, including fans, refrigeration, and 
clothes washers and dryers in all of the apartment units. 

3. Install a total of eight electric vehicle charging stations within the Project site.  The 
location of all eight charging stations shall be identified on maps provided to the City of 
Rocklin.  In year one, all eight locations shall have conduit installed and available for 
installation of the charging stations.  Additionally, in year one, four electric vehicle 
charging stations shall be fully connected and actively available to residents.  At the end 
of year one, the applicant shall evaluate the demand for the four active charging 
stations and determine whether additional charging stations are warranted based on 
the demand by the residents.  The evaluation shall continue annually until all eight 
charging stations are fully installed and active.  The demand evaluation shall be based 
on a combination of physical observations, electric usage (i.e., bills) and resident 
surveys.  The annual demand evaluations shall be provided to the City of Rocklin until 
such time that all eight charging stations are fully installed and active. 

4. Low Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) paint shall be utilized for both the interiors and 
exteriors of the buildings.  To limit the quantity of VOCs in architectural coatings 
supplied, sold, offered for sale, applied, solicited for application, or manufactured for 
use within the PCAPCD boundaries, all projects must comply with PCAPCD Rule 218 
(based on PCAPCD Rule 218). 

 
Mitigation Measure 4.3-2 (b):  Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the Project 
applicant shall provide certification from a sustainability energy consultant that Energy Star 
rated fans, refrigerators, and clothes washers and dryers have been installed in all of the 
apartment units. 
 
Level of Significance After Mitigation: 

Implementation of Mitigation Measures 4.3-2 (a) and (b) would ensure that all operational 
emissions are reduced below the PCAPCD’s thresholds of significance.  Therefore, the Project 
would not violate any air quality standard or contribute substantially to an existing or projected 
air quality violation and the impact would be less than significant. 

  

Packet Pg. 93

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

37 
 

Impact 4.3-3: Expose Sensitive Receptors to Substantial Pollutant Concentrations. 

Implementation of the proposed Project could expose sensitive receptors to substantial 
pollutant concentrations.  However, as explained further below, the Project would not result in 
the exposure of sensitive receptors to localized concentrations of TACs or any other substantial 
pollutant concentrations, and the impact would be less than significant. 

Explanation: 

Localized Carbon Monoxide (CO) Exposure 

CO is a localized pollutant of concern (i.e., high concentrations are normally only found very 
near sources).  The major source of CO, a colorless, odorless, poisonous gas, is automobile 
traffic.  Elevated concentrations of CO (i.e., hotspots) are usually only found near crowded or 
congested intersections where traffic is slow and/or idling.  The proposed project would 
increase traffic on surrounding roadways and would increase concentrations of carbon 
monoxide along streets providing access to the project site.   

The CO screening approach outlined in the PCAPCD’s CEQA Air Quality Handbook: Assessing 
and Mitigating Air Quality Impacts under CEQA (2012) was used to estimate whether or not the 
proposed project’s traffic impact would cause a potential CO hotspot.  The CO screening 
approach uses the following screening criteria: 

• A traffic study for the project indicates that the peak-hour Level of Service (LOS) on one 
or more streets or at one of more intersections (both signalized and non-signalized) in 
the project vicinity will be degraded from an acceptable LOS (e.g., A, B, C or D) to an 
unacceptable LOS (e.g., LOS E or F); or 
 

• A traffic study indicates that the project will substantially worsen an already existing 
unacceptable peak-hour LOS on one or more streets or at one or more intersections in 
the project vicinity.  “Substantially worsen” includes situations where delay would 
increase by 10 seconds or more when project-generated traffic is included.   

If the answer to one or both of these screening criteria is “yes”, then the proposed project can 
be said to have the potential to create a violation of the CO standard and further modeling is 
warranted. If the answer to the screening criteria is “no”, then further modeling is not 
warranted and the proposed project would not create a violation of the CO standard.  

The Sierra Gateway Apartments Project Level of Service Analysis (Omni Means 2017) examined 
Level of Service (LOS) for the intersections affected by the proposed project. The traffic study 
indicates that the Sierra College Blvd/Rocklin Road intersection would operate at an LOS of D 
under the Short Term No Project and Short Term Plus Project conditions during the PM peak 
hour, but would deteriorate to an LOS E under the Short Term Plus Project with Outbound 
Access from Water Lily Lane condition during the PM peak hour. Therefore, this intersection 
would cause the proposed project to not screen out under the CO screening approach outlined 
in the Placer County Air Pollution Control District’s CEQA Air Quality Handbook Assessing and 
Mitigating Air Quality Impacts for Projects Under CEQA (2012). 

Packet Pg. 94

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

38 
 

The PCAPCD is currently in the process of updating their CO guidelines (4/12/17 phone 
correspondence with Dr. Yushuo Chang, Senior Planner at PCAPCD) and the PCAPCD has 
advised that the potential for a CO hotspot should be analyzed based on whether or not the 
proposed project would generate more than a maximum daily emission of 550 pounds of CO. If 
the project were to generate greater than this level of CO emissions during project operations, 
the proposed project would be considered to have a high potential for generating a CO hotspot, 
and therefore further analysis would be required. If the project were to generate equal to or 
less than a maximum daily emission of 550 pounds of CO during project operations, then 
further analysis would not be required (PCAPCD, 2017). Given that the proposed project would 
not generate greater than 436.0614 pounds/day of CO emissions under the unmitigated 
scenario, and no greater than 67.4809 pounds/day of CO emissions under the mitigated 
scenario (as provided by CalEEMod; See Appendices A and B), the proposed project would not 
be required to undergo further CO hotspot analysis.   

Furthermore, as described by the Sierra Gateway Apartments Project Level of Service Analysis 
(Omni Means 2017), the Rocklin General Plan EIR previously forecasted LOS E conditions at the 
intersection of Sierra College Boulevard/Rocklin Road (the affected intersection) in the 
Cumulative Conditions (Table 4.4-29 of the Rocklin General Plan EIR). Page 4.4-76 of the Rocklin 
General Plan EIR also identified a mitigation measure that would improve intersection 
operations to LOS B (modify the intersection to include a free eastbound right turn lane from 
Rocklin Road onto Sierra College Boulevard) that was adopted by the Rocklin City Council.  
Therefore, although the Sierra College Blvd/Rocklin Road intersection has been forecasted to 
undergo a degradation of LOS in the short-term, this degradation of LOS at the affected 
intersection is expected to be remedied in the long-term.  

Given that the proposed project is within an attainment area for carbon monoxide (ambient air 
quality standards are currently attained) and in an area with low background concentrations, 
and given the proposed project would not generate maximum daily emissions of greater than 
550 pounds of CO during project operations, the potential for a carbon monoxide hotspot 
impact represents a less than significant impact.  

Toxic Air Contaminant (TAC) Exposure 

A toxic air contaminant is defined as an air pollutant that may cause or contribute to an 
increase in mortality or in serious illness, or that may pose a hazard to human health.  TACs are 
usually present in minute quantities in the ambient air.  However, their high toxicity or health 
risk may pose a threat to public health even at very low concentrations.  In general, for those 
TACs that may cause cancer, there is no concentration that does not present some risk.  This 
contrasts with the criteria pollutants for which acceptable levels of exposure can be determined 
and for which the state and federal government have set ambient air quality standards.   

No sources of substantial TACs would be associated with operation of the proposed project. 
However, the proposed project would include development of residences, and because of the 
sensitivity of this use, an assessment of compatibility with surrounding land uses with respect 
to TAC emissions is provided. 

  

Packet Pg. 95

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

39 
 

 
There are no nearby industrial areas in the vicinity of the proposed project.  The primary source 
of TACs that could affect the proposed project would be on-road mobile sources on nearby 
surface streets.  The California Air Resources Board (CARB) published the Air Quality and Land 
Use Handbook: A Community Health Perspective to provide information to planners and 
decision-makers about land use compatibility issues associated with emissions from industrial, 
commercial and mobile sources of air pollution.  The CARB Handbook indicates that mobile 
sources continue to be the largest overall contributors to the State’s air pollution problems, 
representing the greatest air pollution health risk to most Californians.  The most serious 

TABLE 4.3-10 
CARB MINIMUM SEPARATION RECOMMENDATIONS ON  

SITING SENSITIVE LAND USES 
SOURCE CATEGORY ADVISORY RECOMMENDATIONS 
Freeways and High-
Traffic Roads 

Avoid siting sensitive land uses within 500 feet of a freeway, urban 
roads with 100,000 vehicles/day, or rural roads with 50,000 vehicles/day 

Distribution Centers Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 1,000 feet of a distribution 
center (that accommodates more than 100 trucks per day, more than 40 
trucks with operating transport refrigeration units (TRUs) per day, or 
where TRU unit operations exceed 300 hours per week).  Take into 
account the configuration of existing distribution centers and avoid 
locating residences and other new sensitive land uses near entry and 
exit points. 

Rail Yards Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 1,000 feet of a major service 
and maintenance railyard.  Within one mile of a rail yard, consider 
possible siting limitations and mitigation approaches. 

Ports Avoid siting of new sensitive land uses immediately downwind of ports 
in the most heavily impacted zones.  Consult local air districts or the 
CARB on the status of pending analyses of health risks. 

Refineries Avoid siting new sensitive land uses immediately downwind of 
petroleum refineries.  Consult with local air districts and other local 
agencies to determine an appropriate separation. 

Chrome Platers Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 1,000 feet of a chrome 
plater. 

Dry Cleaners Using 
Perchloro-ethylene 

Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 300 feet of any dry cleaning 
operation.  For operations with two or more machines, provide 500 feet.  
For operations with three or more machines, consult with the local air 
district.  Do not site new sensitive land uses in the same building with 
perc dry cleaning operations. 

Gasoline Dispensing 
Facilities 

Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 300 feet of a large gas station 
(defined as a facility with a throughput of 3.6 million gallons per year or 
greater).  A 50 foot separation is recommended for typical gas 
dispensing facilities. 

SOURCE:  Air Quality and Land Use Handbook: A Community Health Perspective, California Air 
Resources Board (CARB) 2005 

Packet Pg. 96

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

40 
 

pollutants on a statewide basis included diesel exhaust particulate matter (diesel PM or DPM), 
benzene, and 1, 3-butadiene, all of which are emitted by motor vehicles.  These mobile source 
air toxics are largely associated with freeways and high traffic roads.  Non-mobile source air 
toxics are largely associated with industrial and commercial uses.  Table 4.3-10 (DEIR, p. 4.3-27, 
and reprinted above) provides the California Air Resources Board minimum separation 
recommendations on siting sensitive land uses. 

The proposed project is a residential development project and does not include any of the 
source categories listed in Table 4.3-10.  There is one source category located in the vicinity of 
the project site (freeways).  Interstate 80 (I-80) is located approximately 3,500 feet to the 
northeast of the project site, which is beyond the 500 foot screening distance which results in 
the proposed project being consistent with the CARB Minimum Separation Recommendations 
on Siting Sensitive Land Uses for freeways.  Additionally, there are no other source categories 
(i.e., high-traffic roads, distribution centers, rail yards, ports, refineries, chrome platers, dry 
cleaners using perchloro-ethylene, gasoline dispensing facilities) located within the CARB 
recommended screening distances or in the project vicinity.  Therefore, implementation of the 
proposed project would not result in the exposure of sensitive receptors to localized 
concentrations of TACs or any other substantial pollutant concentrations, and the impact would 
be less than significant. 

Mitigation: None required 
 
Impact 4.3-4: Create Objectionable Odors Affecting a Substantial Number of People 
Implementation of the proposed Project could create objectionable odors affecting a 
substantial number of people.  However, as explained further below, the Project would not 
result in the development of land uses associated with the creation of substantial odors nor 
would the proposed Project locate sensitive receptors in the proximity of a known odor source 
and the impact would be less than significant. 
 
Explanation: 
 
While offensive odors rarely cause any physical harm, they can be very unpleasant, leading to 
considerable distress among the public and often generating citizen complaints to local 
governments and the PCAPCD.  The general nuisance rule (Health and Safety Code Section 
41700 and PCAPCD Rule 215) is the basis for the threshold.   

Examples of facilities that are known producers of odors include wastewater treatment 
facilities, chemical manufacturing, sanitary landfills, fiberglass manufacturing, transfer stations, 
painting/coating operations (e.g. auto body shops), composting facilities, food processing 
facilities, petroleum refineries, feed lots/dairy, asphalt batch plants, and rendering plants.  
Table 4.3-11 (DEIR, p. 4.3-29 and reprinted below) provides the PCAPCD’s recommended odor 
screening distances and suggested buffer distances for a variety of odor-generating facilities. 

  

Packet Pg. 97

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

41 
 

TABLE 4.3-11 
PCAPCD ODOR SCREENING DISTANCES 

LAND USE/TYPE OF OPERATION PROJECT SCREENING DISTANCE 
Wastewater Treatment Plant 2 miles 
Wastewater Pumping Facilities 1 mile 
Sanitary Landfill 2 miles 
Transfer Station 1 mile 
Composting Facility 1 mile 
Petroleum Refinery 2 miles 
Asphalt Batch Plant 2 miles 
Chemical Manufacturing 2 miles 
Fiberglass Manufacturing 1 mile 
Painting/Coating Operations 1 mile 
Rendering Plant 2 miles 
Coffee Roaster 1 mile 
Food Processing Facility 1 mile 
Confined Animal Facility/Feed Lot/Dairy 1 mile 
Green Waste and Recycling Operations 1 mile 
Metal Smelting Plants 2 miles 
SOURCE: Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District (SMAQMD), CEQA Guide 
to Air Quality Assessment, Chapter 7, Odors/Recommended Odor Screening Distances 
 

If a project would locate receptors and known odor sources in proximity to each other further 
analysis may be warranted; however if a project would not locate receptors and known odor 
sources in proximity to each other, then further analysis is not warranted. 

The proposed project would not result in the development of land uses associated with the 
creation of substantial odors (such as a wastewater treatment plant, rendering plant, 
composting facility, asphalt batch plant, etc.), nor would the proposed project locate sensitive 
receptors in the proximity of a known odor source and as such, further analysis is not 
warranted.  Therefore, implementation of the proposed project would not result in the 
exposure of a substantial number of people to objectionable odors and the impact would be 
less than significant. 

Mitigation: None required. 

Impact 4.3-5: Result in a Cumulatively Considerable Net Increase of any Criteria Air Pollutant 
for which the Project Region is Nonattainment under an Applicable Federal or State Ambient 
Air Quality Standard (including Releasing Emissions which Exceed Quantitative Thresholds for 
Ozone Precursors) 

Implementation of the proposed Project would result in development that could result in a 
cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria air pollutant for which the Project region 

Packet Pg. 98

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

42 
 

is nonattainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality standard (including 
releasing emissions which exceed quantitative thresholds for ozone precursors).  Therefore, this 
would be a potentially significant impact. 

Explanation: 

ROG and NOx are ozone precursors and are primarily of regional concern.  Thus, all other 
mobile, area, and energy sources in the SVAB that would operate concurrently with the 
proposed project would contribute to cumulative operational-related ROG and NOx emissions.   

The PCAPCD has historically recommended 10 lbs. per day as the cumulative thresholds for land 
use projects in Placer County. This threshold was established to identify a threshold for the 
implementation of BACT for stationary sources, and mitigation measures or other sources when 
the threshold is exceeded. However, the cumulative thresholds were updated by the recent 
PCAPCD CEQA Thresholds of Significance Justification Report, which are presented in Table 4.3-6 
of the DEIR. (DEIR, p. 4.3-17 and reprinted elsewhere in these Findings). 
 
The District does not recommend the use of this cumulative threshold to determine the need 
for an EIR. Rather, this threshold is used by the District to recommend mitigation measures to 
offset the project’s cumulative air quality impacts. Table 4.3-12 (DEIR, p. 4.3—31 and reprinted 
below) presents the PCAPCD’s cumulative thresholds. 
 

TABLE 4.3-12 
OPERATIONAL PHASE CUMULATIVE EMISSION THRESHOLDS 

 ROG NOx PM10 PM2.5 

Threshold  55 lbs/day  55 lbs/day  82 lbs/day N/A 

SOURCE: PCAPCD CEQA THRESHOLDS OF SIGNIFICANCE JUSTIFICATION REPORT (PCAPCD 2016) 

 

As previously discussed, the California Emission Estimator Model (CalEEMod)TM (v.2016.3.1) 
was used to estimate project-level operational emissions for the proposed project. Mitigation 
was entered into the model to reduce the total operational emissions. Mitigation included the 
following for area source emissions:  
 

• No Hearths 
• Energy Efficient Appliances 
• Low VOC Paints 
• Implement NEV Network (0.5 % - low penetration value of 0.04 NEV/household, 

equivalent to eight charging stations) 
 

It should be noted that the mitigation model input for low VOC paint (interior and exterior) is a 
standard requirement in Placer County in accordance with PCAPCD Rule 218, so while it is 
modeled as mitigation the standard requirement is not identified as a mitigation measure in 

Packet Pg. 99

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

43 
 

this report. Table 4.3-13 (DEIR, p. 4.3-32 and reprinted below) shows the project-level 
operational emissions, which include area, energy, and mobile source emissions that would 
result from operations of the proposed project with mitigation.  

(i)  
TABLE 4.3-13 

OPERATIONAL EMISSIONS (MITIGATED MAXIMUM DAILY LBS/DAY) 

 ROG NOx PM10 Total PM2.5 Total 
Summer 

Area 5.3365 0.1873 0.0886 0.0886 
Energy  0.0937 0.8010 0.0648 0.0648 
Mobile  5.4785 10.5135 7.9728 2.2033 
Total  10.9087 11.5018 8.1261 2.3567 

Percent Reduction 96.5% 33.8% 86.4% 95.6% 
Winter 

Area  5.3365 0.1873 0.0886 0.0886 
Energy  0.0937 0.8010 0.0648 0.0648 
Mobile  4.6726 11.6738 7.9734 2.2039 
Total  10.1028 12.6620 8.1268 2.3573 

Percent Reduction 96.7% 31.7% 86.4% 95.6% 
SOURCES: CALEEMOD (V.2016.3.1) AND PCAPCD CEQA THRESHOLDS OF SIGNIFICANCE JUSTIFICATION REPORT 

(PCAPCD 2016) 
 

As shown in the table above, the proposed project’s operational related emissions impacts 
would be below cumulative thresholds of significance for ROG and NOx during both the 
summer and winter in the adjusted (mitigated) scenario.  

Mitigation: 

To address the potentially significant cumulative air quality impact as a result of operational 
emissions and to ensure compliance with the operational emissions reduction measures noted 
above, the following mitigation measure is being applied to the project: 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-5: 

Implement Mitigation Measures 4.3-2(a) and 4.3-2(b). 

Level of Significance After Mitigation: 

Implementation of Mitigation Measure 4.3-5 would ensure that the operational activities 
associated with the proposed project would not result in a cumulatively considerable net 
increase of any criteria pollutant for which the project region is in nonattainment under an 
applicable federal or state ambient air quality standard.  Therefore, the impact would be 
considered less than cumulatively considerable and less than significant. 

 

Packet Pg. 100

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

44 
 

Section 4.4. Biological Resources 

The Project’s potential impacts related to biological resources are described and discussed on 
pages 4.4-1 to 4.4-28 of the DEIR, as well as in the FEIR in the responses to comments received 
on the DEIR. 

Impact 4.4-1 Substantial Adverse Effect on Special-Status Species. 

Implementation of the proposed Project would have impacts on biological resources as the site 
is converted from a vacant site to a developed site, which could affect candidate, sensitive or 
special status species.  Therefore, this would be a potentially significant impact. 

Explanation: 

Based on the findings of the biological resource surveys discussed above, although special-
status plant or wildlife species were not observed during surveys, there is still the potential for 
the occurrence of one special-status plant species (Big-scale balsam root) and several special-
status wildlife species (Western pond turtle, Cooper’s hawk, Sharp-shinned hawk, purple martin 
and other raptors and migratory birds) on the project site.   

Impacts to species that are not considered to be special-status species that may occur on the 
project site, such as black-tailed deer, raccoons, skunks and common birds, etc., will also occur 
as the project site is converted from a vacant site to a developed site and the majority of the 
project site’s habitat is converted from annual grassland and oak woodland to an urban setting 
consisting of structures and ornamental landscaping.  However, because such species are not 
considered to be special-status species and are thus not afforded protection by federal, state or 
local legislation, impacts to those species are not considered to be significant.   

Impacts to all biological resources (including species that are not considered to be special-
status species) were considered in the City of Rocklin General Plan EIR.  The General Plan EIR 
analyzed the anticipated impacts that would occur to the biological resources of the Planning 
Area as a result of the future urban development that was contemplated by the General Plan, 
including the development of the proposed project site.  These impacts included special-status 
species, species of concern, non-listed species, biological communities and migratory wildlife 
corridors (City of Rocklin General Plan Update Draft EIR, 2011, pages 4.10-1 through 4.10-47).  
Mitigation measures to address these impacts are incorporated into the General Plan in the 
Open Space, Conservation and Recreation Element, and include policies that encourage the 
protection and conservation of biological resources and require compliance with rules and 
regulations protecting biological resources, including the City of Rocklin Oak Tree Preservation 
Ordinance. 

The General Plan EIR concluded that, despite these goals, policies and rules and regulations 
protecting biological resources, significant biological resources impacts will occur as a result of 
development under the General Plan and further, that these impacts cannot be reduced to a 
less than significant level.  Specifically the General Plan EIR found that buildout of the Rocklin 
General Plan will impact sensitive biological communities, will result in the loss of native oak 
and heritage trees, will result in the loss of oak woodland habitat and will contribute to 
cumulative impacts to biological resources.  Findings of fact and a statement of overriding 

Packet Pg. 101

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

45 
 

considerations were adopted by the Rocklin City Council in regard to these impacts, which were 
found to be significant and unavoidable. 

Mitigation: 

To address the potentially significant impact to one special-status plant species (Big-scale 
balsam root), the following mitigation measure is being applied to the Project and shall be 
incorporated as notes on the grading and/or improvement plans: 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-1 (a):  A pre-construction botanical survey for Big-scale balsamroot 
shall be conducted by a qualified botanist during the appropriate blooming period (March to 
June) to determine presence of absence of this species on the Project site. If no Big-scale 
balsam root is found, no further mitigation is required.  If the species is found, the botanist shall 
establish an approximately 10-foot buffer around the individuals and the Project should avoid 
impacts to the plants.  If avoidance is not feasible, a plan should be developed prior to the 
commencement of construction activities that includes measures for preserving and enhancing 
existing populations, creating off-site populations through seed collection or transplantation, 
and/or restoring or creating suitable habitat to achieve no net loss of occupied habitat or 
individuals.  The plan should also include monitoring and reporting requirements for 
populations to be preserved on the Project site or protected or enhanced off site.  The plan 
shall be approved by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW).  

To address the potentially significant impact to the western pond turtle, the following 
mitigation measure is being applied to the Project and shall be incorporated as notes on the 
grading and/or improvement plans: 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-1 (b):  A pre-construction survey for western pond turtle shall be 
conducted by a qualified biologist within 14 days prior to start of any grading or construction 
activities to determine presence of absence of this species on the Project site.  If no western 
pond turtles are found, no further mitigation is required so long as construction commences 
within 14 days of the preconstruction survey and, once construction begins, it does not halt for 
more than 14 days.  If western pond turtles are found, the biologist shall relocate the species to 
suitable habitat away from the construction zone to similar habitat outside of the construction 
footprint, but within the Project area. 

To address the potentially significant impacts to Cooper’s hawk, Sharp-shinned hawk, purple 
martin and other nesting raptors and migratory birds, the following mitigation measure is being 
applied to the Project and shall be incorporated as notes on the grading and/or improvement 
plans: 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-1 (c):  The applicant/developer shall attempt to time the removal of 
potential nesting habitat for raptors and migratory birds to avoid the nesting season (February 
1 – August 31).  

If vegetation removal and/or Project grading or construction activities occur during the nesting 
season for raptors and migratory birds (February 1-August 31), the applicant/developer shall 
hire a qualified biologist approved by the City to conduct pre-construction surveys no more 
than 14 days prior to initiation of development activities.  The survey shall cover all areas of 

Packet Pg. 102

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

46 
 

suitable nesting habitat within 500 feet of Project activity and shall be valid for one 
construction season.  Documentation of the survey shall be provided to the City and if the 
survey results are negative, no further mitigation is required and necessary tree removal may 
proceed.  If there is a break in construction activity of more than 14 days, then subsequent 
surveys shall be conducted. 

If the survey results are positive (active nests are found), impacts shall be avoided by the 
establishment of appropriate buffers.  The biologist shall consult with the California 
Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) and the City to determine the size of an appropriate 
buffer area (CDFW guidelines recommend implementation of 500-foot buffers).  Monitoring of 
the nest by a qualified biologist may be required if the activity has the potential to adversely 
affect an active nest. 

If construction activities are scheduled to occur during the non-breeding season (September- 
January), a survey is not required and no further studies are necessary. 

Level of Significance After Mitigation: 

Implementation of Mitigation Measures 4.4-1 (a), (b) and (c) would ensure that impacts to 
special-status plant and animal species that have the potential to occur on the Project site 
would be reduced below a level of significance.  Therefore, the impact would be less than 
significant. 
 
Impact 4.4-2 Substantial Adverse Effect on Riparian Habitat and/or Federally Protected 
Wetlands. 

Implementation of the proposed Project would have impacts on biological resources as the site 
is converted from a vacant site to a developed site, which could affect riparian habitat and 
federally protected wetlands.  Therefore, this would be a potentially significant impact. 

Explanation: 

Based on the findings of the biological resource surveys and wetland delineations discussed 
above, the proposed project site includes some areas of riparian habitat and 0.02 acres of 
wetlands.  The development of the proposed project will result in the loss of some riparian 
habitat and the permanent loss of 0.02 acres of wetlands.  As discussed above, impacts to these 
resources are regulated by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife Code and the Clean 
Water Act, respectively, and require permitting by the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the Regional Water Quality Control Board, as 
well as potential consultation with the United States Fish and Wildlife Service. 

Mitigation: 

To address the potentially significant impact to riparian habitat and federally protected 
wetlands, the following mitigation measure is being applied to the project and shall be 
incorporated as notes on the grading and/or improvement plans: 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-2: Prior to any grading or construction activities, the appropriate 
Section 404 permit will need to be acquired for any Project-related impacts to waters of the 

Packet Pg. 103

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

47 
 

U.S.  Any waters of the U.S. that would be lost or disturbed should be replaced or rehabilitated 
on a “no-net-loss” basis in accordance with the Corps’ mitigation guidelines.  Habitat 
restoration, rehabilitation, and/or replacement should be at a location and by methods 
agreeable to the Corps of Engineers.  In association with the Section 404 permit and prior to the 
issuance of improvement plans, a Section 401 water quality certification from the Regional 
Water Quality Control Board shall be obtained.  All terms and conditions of said permits shall be 
complied with. 

If it is determined through consultation efforts between the U.S. Corps of Engineers and the 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) that a Biological Opinion is required, the applicant shall 
obtain one and all terms and conditions of the Biological Opinion shall be complied with. 

For potential impacts to riparian habitat, the Project shall obtain a Section 1600 Streambed 
Alteration Agreement (SAA) from the California Department of Fish and Wildlife and all terms 
and conditions of the SAA shall be complied with. 

Prior to any grading or construction activities, the applicant shall submit documentation to the 
City of Rocklin that they have obtained an Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 permit, a 
Regional Water Quality Control Board Section 401 water quality certification, a California 
Department of Fish and Wildlife Section 1600 Streambed Alteration Agreement, and if 
applicable, a United States Fish and Wildlife Service Biological Opinion.  The applicant shall also 
demonstrate to the City of Rocklin that they have implemented habitat restoration, 
rehabilitation, and/or replacement as stipulated in their Section 404 permit.  The applicant shall 
also demonstrate to the City of Rocklin how they have complied with the terms and conditions 
of the Section 404 permit, the Section 401 water quality certification, the Section 1600 
Streambed Alteration Agreement, and if applicable, the Biological Opinion. 

Level of Significance After Mitigation: 

Implementation of Mitigation Measure 4.4-2 would ensure that impacts to riparian habitat and 
federally protected wetlands that occur on the Project site would be reduced below a level of 
significance.  Therefore, the impact would be less than significant. 
 
Impact 4.4-3 Interfere Substantially with Fish or Wildlife Movement, with Wildlife Corridors, 
or Impede the Use of Native Wildlife Nursery Sites. 

As further explained below, implementation of the proposed Project would not have significant 
impacts on biological resources as the site is converted from a vacant site to a developed site, 
which could interfere with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife 
species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of 
native wildlife nursery sites.  Therefore, this would be a less than significant impact. 

Explanation: 

The surrounding area is mostly developed in an urban fashion, including retail commercial 
development to the west and residential development to the west, east and south of the 
Project site.  The Project site is also bound on the west by Sierra College Boulevard and on the 
north by Rocklin Road.   

Packet Pg. 104

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

48 
 

The Project site is used by native resident wildlife species but not by any migratory wildlife 
species (in the sense of wildlife species migrating significant distances between winter and 
summer habitat areas).  The southern edge of the “panhandle” portion of the Project site is 
adjacent to an existing open space preserve area that contains a ponded area and an 
intermittent tributary of Secret Ravine.  This open space preserve area was established with the 
subdivision that is located to the south of the intermittent tributary through the application of 
City policies that require areas like these to be set aside from development activities.  Such 
open space areas provide habitat, cover, water and food source and movement corridor 
opportunities for use by wildlife species.  Because development by the Sierra Gateway 
Apartments project is not proposed in the “panhandle” portion of the Project site (other than 
roadway frontage and drainage improvements adjacent to Sierra College Boulevard), that 
portion of the Project site as well as the adjacent open space preserve area to the south can 
continue to function as wildlife habitat and allow for wildlife movement.   

The loss of the wildlife habitat that exists on the Project site was considered in the City of 
Rocklin General Plan EIR.  The General Plan EIR analyzed the anticipated impacts that would 
occur to the biological resources of the Planning Area as a result of the future urban 
development that was contemplated by the General Plan, including the development of the 
proposed Project site.  These impacts included special-status species, species of concern, non-
listed species, biological communities and migratory wildlife corridors (City of Rocklin General 
Plan Update Draft EIR, 2011, pages 4.10-1 through 4.10-47).  Mitigation measures to address 
these impacts are incorporated into the General Plan in the Open Space, Conservation and 
Recreation Element, and include policies that encourage the protection and conservation of 
biological resources and require compliance with rules and regulations protecting biological 
resources, including the City of Rocklin Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance. 

The General Plan EIR concluded that, despite these goals, policies and rules and regulations 
protecting biological resources, significant biological resources impacts will occur as a result of 
development under the General Plan and further, that these impacts cannot be reduced to a 
less than significant level.  Specifically the General Plan EIR found that buildout of the Rocklin 
General Plan will impact sensitive biological communities, will result in the loss of native oak 
and heritage trees, will result in the loss of oak woodland habitat and will contribute to 
cumulative impacts to biological resources.  Findings of fact and a statement of overriding 
considerations were adopted by the Rocklin City Council in regard to these impacts, which were 
found to be significant and unavoidable.  Therefore, the proposed Project would not interfere 
substantially with wildlife movement or wildlife corridors and there would be a less than 
significant impact. 

The Dudek Biological Resource Assessment report noted that the intermittent tributary of 
Secret Ravine that occurs in the “panhandle” portion of the Project site has a low potential 
occurrence for central valley steelhead and Chinook salmon-central valley fall-run, the two 
special status fish species that were identified as having the potential to occur in the Project 
region.  There are likely other fish species that occupy the intermittent tributary of Secret 
Ravine.  Because development by the Sierra Gateway Apartments Project is not proposed in the 
“panhandle” portion of the Project site (other than roadway frontage and drainage 
improvements adjacent to Sierra College Boulevard, which will have no significant impacts to 

Packet Pg. 105

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

49 
 

the tributary or biological resources), that portion of the Project site and the intermittent 
tributary of Secret Ravine as well as the adjacent open space preserve area to the south can 
continue to function as fish species habitat and allow for fish species movement.  Therefore, 
the proposed Project would not interfere substantially with fish movement or fish movement 
corridors and there would be a less than significant impact. 

There are no native wildlife nursery sites on the Project site or in the immediate vicinity; 
therefore the proposed Project is not anticipated to interfere or impede the use of native 
wildlife nursery sites and there would be a less than significant impact. 

Mitigation: None required.   
 
Impact 4.4-4 Conflict with Local Policies or Ordinances Protecting Biological Resources, such 
as a Tree Preservation Policy or Ordinance. 

Implementation of the proposed Project would have impacts on biological resources as the site 
is converted from a vacant site to a developed site, which could result in the removal of oak 
trees that are regulated by the City of Rocklin Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance.  Therefore, this 
would be a potentially significant impact. 

Explanation: 

The firm of Abacus, a Sacramento area consulting firm with recognized expertise in 
arboriculture, prepared an arborist report for the Sierra Gateway Apartments project.  Their 
report, dated October 19, 2016 is included as Appendix G to this Draft EIR.  Per the arborist 
report, the project area includes 385 total trees, of which 368 are oak trees within the 
boundaries of the project that qualify as “protected trees” by the standards of the City of 
Rocklin Oak Tree Preservation Guidelines.  Composition of the 368 oak trees includes 309 
interior live oaks, 53 blue oaks, 5 valley oaks and 1 oracle oak.  Of the 368 oak trees, 5 are rated 
0 (dead), 133 are rated 1 (dangerous/non-correctable), 122 are rated 2 (poor), 107 are rated 3 
(fair) or 4 (good), and 1 is rated 5 (excellent).  As explained further below, the project proposes 
to remove 321 of the 368 protected trees. (See Figure 4.4-2 Oak Tree Removal) 

As discussed above, the City of Rocklin has recognized the value of native trees through the 
adoption of the City of Rocklin Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance, Chapter 17.77 of the City of 
Rocklin Municipal Code.  The ordinance contains policies which regulate both the removal of 
protected trees and the encroachment of construction activities into the protected zones of 
these trees.  Sections 17.77.030 and 17.77.050 prohibit the removal of oak trees without the 
issuance of a permit and require that preservation and removal of healthy oak trees from 
undeveloped property shall be addressed in the development application review process, and 
shall be governed by the guidelines adopted under Section 17.77.100.   

Prior to removal of any native oak tree, the property owner must submit an application to the 
City of Rocklin for an Oak Tree Removal Permit.  The application will provide the species, size 
and condition of the tree(s) proposed for removal, and include a site plan indicating the 
location of the tree(s) proposed for removal and the proximity of the tree(s) to structures or 
other manmade improvements.  Additionally, if deteriorating health or the tree is a factor for 
removal, the applicant may be required to provide a certified arborist report on the health of 

Packet Pg. 106

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

50 
 

the tree(s).  Mitigation for the removal of healthy oak trees (those rated 3, 4 or 5 in the arborist 
report) will be required, and can either be by tree replacement or by payment into the City of 
Rocklin Oak Tree Preservation Fund. 

Of the 368 total “protected” oak trees on the project site, the proposed project will remove 321 
of the oak trees as a result of the grading that is necessary to accommodate structures, access, 
handicap accessibility, drainage, sewer and other infrastructure requirements.  Mitigation for 
the removal of the 108 healthy oak trees rated 3, 4, and 5 will be required pursuant to the 
Ordinance.  Mitigation will not be required for the remaining 260 trees that are rated 0, 1, or 2, 
as the arborist’s report has identified them as being poor quality (i.e. diseased) or as dead or 
dying.   

The “panhandle” portion of the project site will require some oak tree removal due to roadway 
frontage and drainage improvements adjacent to Sierra College Boulevard, but otherwise 47 
oak trees will be preserved in this area of the project site (of the 47 trees to be preserved, 1 is 
rated 0 (dead), 21 are rated 1 (dangerous/not correctable), 10 are rated 2 (poor) and 15 are 
rated 3 (fair) or 4 (good)).  It should be noted that the previously approved Sierra College 
Center project located on this project site also included the removal of the majority of the oak 
trees, with the exception of the oak trees in the “panhandle” portion of the site and 4 oak trees 
located on the eastern edge of the project site that were included in a parking landscape area 
(those 4 oak trees are now scheduled for removal with the proposed project due to structures 
and hardscape being proposed in that area). 
 
Mitigation: 
 
To address the potentially significant impact of conflicting with local policies or ordinances 
protecting biological resources (i.e., the City of Rocklin Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance), the 
following mitigation measures is being applied to the project: 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-4:  Prior to the issuance of improvement plans or grading permits, the 
applicant shall: 

1) Clearly indicate on the construction documents that oak trees not scheduled for 
removal will be protected from construction activities in compliance with the pertinent sections 
of the City of Rocklin Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance. 

2) Mitigate for the removal of oak trees on the Project site consistent with the 
requirements of the City’s Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance (Rocklin Municipal Code Section 
17.77.080.B).  The required mitigation shall be calculated using the formula provided in the Oak 
Tree Preservation Ordinance and to that end the Project arborist shall provide the following 
information:  

• The total number of surveyed oak trees; 
• The total number of oak trees to be removed; 
• The total number of oak trees to be removed that are to be removed because they are 

sick or dying, and  

Packet Pg. 107

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

51 
 

• The total, in inches, of the trunk diameters at breast height (TDBH) of all surveyed oak 
trees on the site in each of these categories.  

3) The protection of oak trees not scheduled for removal shall comply with the pertinent 
sections of the City’s Oak Tree Protection Guidelines. 

Level of Significance After Mitigation: 

Implementation of Mitigation Measure 4.4-4 would ensure that impacts to oak trees regulated 
by the City of Rocklin Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance would be reduced below a level of 
significance.  Therefore, the impact would be less than significant. 
 
Impact 4.4-5 Conflict with the Provisions of an Adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural 
Community Conservation Plan, or Other Approved, Local, Regional or State Habitat 
Conservation Plan. 

Implementation of the proposed Project would not conflict with the provisions of an adopted 
Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community Conservation Plan, or other approved local, 
regional, or state habitat conservation plan.  Therefore, this would be a less than significant 
impact. 

Explanation: 

The Project site is not within a Habitat Conservation Plan or Natural Community Conservation 
Plan area, nor is it within a local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan area.  Therefore 
the proposed Project would not conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation 
Plan or other approved local, regional or state habitat conservation plan, and the impact would 
be less than significant. 

Mitigation: None required.   

Cumulative Impacts 

The cumulative context for biological resources impacts would be both the City of Rocklin and 
the surrounding area of western Placer County.  This cumulative setting condition includes 
proposed and approved projects, planned development under the City of Rocklin General Plan, 
and planned and proposed uses in the region.   
 
Impact 4.4-6 Construction of the Proposed Project, in Conjunction with Other Development in 
the City of Rocklin and Western Placer County, Could Contribute to the Loss of Native Plant 
Communities, Wildlife Habitat Values, Special-Status Species and Wetland Resources in the 
Region. 

Implementation of the proposed Project and continued development in the City of Rocklin and 
in the region could directly and indirectly affect biological resources as a result of the 
development of natural areas that contain wildlife habitats and plant communities.  Therefore, 
this would be a potentially significant impact. 

  

Packet Pg. 108

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

52 
 

Explanation: 

The proposed project would contribute incrementally to the cumulative loss of native plant 
communities, wildlife habitat values, special-status species and their potential habitat, and 
wetland resources.  Growth and urbanization of the City of Rocklin, as well as growth and 
urbanization in western Placer County, cumulatively contribute to the loss of these resources.  
Construction and operation of the proposed project would degrade and/or destroy some of the 
project site’s biological resources, which would contribute to the cumulative loss of biological 
resources in the region.   

Cumulative impacts to biological resources were analyzed in the City’s General Plan EIR.  The 
General Plan EIR noted that the cumulative setting condition includes proposed and approved 
projects, planned development under the proposed General Plan Update, and planned and 
proposed land uses in the region, as well as consideration of development patterns on 
communities in western Placer County, the Central Valley and the Sierra foothills.  The General 
Plan EIR analyzed the anticipated impacts that would occur to the biological resources of the 
Planning Area as a result of the future urban development that was contemplated by the 
General Plan, including the development of the proposed project site.  It was recognized that 
continued development in the City and in the region could directly and indirectly affect 
biological resources, and the development of natural areas could cause loss of wildlife habitats 
or plant communities.  The implementation of the proposed General Plan Update would 
contribute incrementally to the cumulative loss of native plant communities, wildlife habitat 
values, special-status species and their potential habitat and wetland resources in the western 
Placer County region, and the growth and urbanization of the City of Rocklin and other 
communities in western Placer County cumulatively contribute to the loss of these resources.  
The General Plan Update and its associated project components, along with other development 
in the region, would result in adverse impacts on special-status species, biologically sensitive 
habitat, native oak trees, heritage trees and oak woodland, and jurisdictional features 
(wetlands and waters of the U.S.)(City of Rocklin General Plan Update Draft EIR, 2011, pages 
4.10-1 through 4.10-47).  Mitigation measures to address these impacts are incorporated into 
the General Plan in the Open Space, Conservation and Recreation Element, and include policies 
that encourage the protection and conservation of biological resources and require compliance 
with rules and regulations protecting biological resources, including the City’s Oak Tree 
Preservation Ordinance.  Implementation of these policies would ensure that impacts to 
special-status species are mitigated by requiring replacement of habitat lost as well as 
maintenance of special-status species viability.  However, complete offset of the habitat loss in 
the City cannot be ensured in every circumstance.  The City specifically noted that balancing the 
needs of the City may result in some modification of existing undeveloped land and natural 
resources. 

The General Plan EIR concluded that, despite these goals, policies and rules and regulations 
protecting biological resources, significant biological resources impacts will occur as a result of 
development under the General Plan and further, that these impacts cannot be reduced to a 
less than significant level.  Aside from the application of General Plan goals and policies 
addressing impacts to biological resources, no other mitigation measures are available to fully 
mitigate impacts to biological resources given the extent and location of proposed 

Packet Pg. 109

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

53 
 

development, and significant cumulative biological resources impacts will occur as a result of 
development under the General Plan and in western Placer County.  The General Plan EIR 
further recognized that these impacts cannot be reduced to a less than significant level and that 
buildout of the Rocklin General Plan and western Placer County will contribute to cumulative 
impacts to sensitive biological communities, cumulative impacts to the loss of native oak and 
heritage trees and cumulative impacts to the loss of oak woodland habitat.  Findings of fact and 
a statement of overriding considerations were adopted by the Rocklin City Council in regard to 
these impacts, which were found to be significant and unavoidable.  

Future surrounding development, as well as the development of the proposed project, would 
impact biological resources as vacant land is converted to developed uses.  These biological 
resources impacts were considered and analyzed at a programmatic level in the General Plan 
EIR and are considered to contribute to the significant cumulative impacts to biological 
resources discussed above.  Future development within the City of Rocklin would be required to 
comply with the City’s goals, policies and ordinances to mitigate impacts to biological 
resources.  The site-specific significant impacts to biological resources as a result of the 
proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project identified above can all be reduced to a less than 
significant level through the application of the identified mitigation measures (see Impacts 4.4-
1, 4.4-2 and 4.4-4, above) or are not considered to be significant impacts (see Impacts 4.4-3 and 
4.4-5, above).  Because the above analysis has concluded that the proposed project will not 
result in any significant impacts due to the application of the identified mitigation measures 
and the proposed project will not result in any significant biological resources impacts more 
severe than those disclosed in the General Plan EIR, the City finds, pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 
section 15168, subdivision (c) (4), that the cumulative environmental effects of the proposed 
Sierra Gateway Apartments project were covered in the program EIR for the General Plan.  The 
City also finds, pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15183 (j), that cumulative impacts to 
biological resources, including the contribution to those cumulative impacts as a result of the 
proposed project, were adequately discussed in the General Plan EIR and further analysis of 
that cumulative impact is not necessary in this Draft EIR.  Therefore, with the application of the 
previously identified mitigation measures the impact would be considered less than 
cumulatively considerable and less than significant.  

Mitigation: To address the potentially significant biological resources impacts as a result of the 
Project site being converted from a vacant site to a developed site, the following mitigation 
measures are being applied to the Project: 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-6: 

Implement Mitigation Measures 4.4-1 (a), (b) and (c), Mitigation Measure 4.4-2 and Mitigation 
Measure 4.4-4. 

Level of Significance After Mitigation: 

Implementation of Mitigation Measures 4.4-1 (a), (b) and (c), Mitigation Measure 4.4-2 and 
Mitigation Measure 4.4-4 would ensure that the biological resources impacts associated with 
the proposed Project would not result in any significant impact nor in an increase in the severity 

Packet Pg. 110

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

54 
 

of significant biological resources impacts disclosed in the General Plan EIR.  Therefore, the 
impact would be considered less than cumulatively considerable and less than significant. 
 
Section. 4.5. Transportation/Traffic 

The Project’s potential impacts related to transportation and traffic are described and discussed 
on pages 4.5-1 to 4.5-61 of the DEIR, as well as in the FEIR in the responses to comments 
received on the DEIR. 

Impact 4.5-1 Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of 
Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System – Existing Plus Project Condition 

Implementation of the proposed Project would not have significant transportation/traffic 
impacts as an undeveloped site becomes developed and automobile trips are generated.  
Therefore, this would be a less than significant impact. 

Explanation:  

As presented in Table 4.5-8 (Existing Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access 
Intersection Levels of Service) (DEIR, p. 4.5-22), the intersections of Rocklin Road/I-80 EB Ramps 
and Rocklin Road/I-80 WB Ramps are projected to operate at an unacceptable LOS in the PM 
peak hour based on the City of Rocklin LOS standards.  

Although the Existing Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access condition adds to an 
unacceptable LOS at the intersection of these two freeway ramps, the impact is considered less 
than significant because the increase in delay due to the proposed project is less than five 
seconds at a signalized intersection that operates at an unacceptable LOS in the “no project” 
condition (WB Ramp: 40.1 – 37.9 = 2.2 seconds and EB Ramp: 40.8 – 39.9 = 0.9 seconds).  

As presented in Table 4.5-8, all other study intersections are projected to continue to operate 
at an acceptable LOS in both the AM and PM peak hours. 

As presented in Table 4.5-9 (Existing Plus Project Freeway Mainline and Ramp Levels of Service) 
(DEIR, p. 4.5-23), all freeway mainline segments and ramps are projected to continue to 
operate at an acceptable LOS based on Caltrans LOS standards. 

As presented in Table 4.5-10 (Existing Plus Project, Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane 
Intersection Levels of Service) (DEIR, p. 4.5-25), the intersections of Rocklin Road/I-80 EB Ramps 
and Rocklin Road/I-80 WB Ramps are projected to operate at an unacceptable LOS in the PM 
peak hour based on the City of Rocklin LOS standards.  

Although the Existing Plus Project, Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane condition adds to an 
unacceptable LOS at the intersection of these two freeway ramps, the impact is considered less 
than significant because the increase in delay due to the proposed project is less than five 
seconds at a signalized intersection that operates at an unacceptable LOS in the “no project” 
condition (WB Ramp: 40.1 – 37.9 = 2.2 seconds and EB Ramp: 40.8 – 39.9 = 0.9 seconds).  

As presented in Table 4.5-10, all other study intersections are projected to continue to operate 
at an acceptable LOS in both the AM and PM peak hours. 

Packet Pg. 111

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

55 
 

Therefore, because the traffic generated by the proposed project would not cause any study 
location LOS operations to deteriorate past the identified LOS thresholds, there would be a less 
than significant impact.  

Mitigation: None required. 

Although no mitigation measures are required, the proposed Project would be subject to the 
payment of applicable Traffic Impact Mitigation (TIM) fees, South Placer Regional 
Transportation Authority (SPRTA) fees and Highway 65 Interchange Improvement fees as 
applicable on a fair share basis. 

Impact 4.5-2 Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of 
Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System – Short Term Plus Project 
Condition 

Implementation of the proposed Project would not have significant transportation/traffic 
impacts as an undeveloped site becomes developed and automobile trips are generated.  
Therefore, this would be a less than significant impact. 

Explanation: 

As presented in Table 4.5-14 (Short Term Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access 
Intersection Levels of Service) (DEIR, p. 4.5-30), the intersections of Rocklin Road/I-80 EB Ramps 
and Rocklin Road/I-80 WB Ramps are projected to operate at an unacceptable LOS in the PM 
peak hour based on the City of Rocklin LOS standards.  As noted in Tables 4.5-4 and 4.5-12, 
(DEIR pp. 4.5-17 and 4.5-28) these two intersections operate at an unacceptable LOS in the PM 
peak hour under Existing Conditions and in the Short Term No Project Condition. 

Although the Short Term Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access condition adds to an 
unacceptable LOS at the intersection of these two freeway ramps, the impact is considered less 
than significant because the increase in delay due to the proposed project is less than five 
seconds at a signalized intersection that operates at an unacceptable LOS in the “no project” 
condition (WB Ramp: 43.7 – 42.7 = 1 second and EB Ramp: 66.3 - 65.5 = 0.8 second).  

As presented in Table 4.5-14, the intersection of Sierra College Boulevard/Rocklin Road is 
projected to operate at an unacceptable LOS in the PM peak hour based on the City of Rocklin 
LOS standards. 

Although the Short Term Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access condition adds to an 
unacceptable LOS at the Sierra College Boulevard/Rocklin Road intersection, the impact is 
considered less than significant because the increase in delay due to the proposed project is 
less than five percent (0.05 V/C) at a signalized intersection that operates at an unacceptable 
LOS in the “no project” condition (0.89 – 0.89 = 0.0 change in V/C). 

As presented in Table 4.5-14, all other study intersections are projected to continue to operate 
at an acceptable LOS in both the AM and PM peak hours. 

As presented in Table 4.5-15 (Short Term Plus Project Freeway Mainline and Ramp Levels of 
Service) (DEIR, p. 4.5-32), all freeway mainline segments and ramps are projected to continue 
to operate at an acceptable LOS based on Caltrans LOS standards. 

Packet Pg. 112

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

56 
 

As presented in Table 4.5-16 (Short Term Plus Project, Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane 
Intersection Levels of Service)(DEIR, p. 4.5-34), the intersections of Rocklin Road/I-80 EB Ramps 
and Rocklin Road/I-80 WB Ramps are projected to operate at an unacceptable LOS in the PM 
peak hour based on the City of Rocklin LOS standards.  As noted in Tables 4.5-4 and 4.5-12, 
these two intersections operate at an unacceptable LOS in the PM peak hour under Existing 
Conditions and in the Short Term No Project Condition. 

Although the Short Term Plus Project, Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane condition adds to 
an unacceptable LOS at the intersection of these two freeway ramps, the impact is considered 
less than significant because the increase in delay due to the proposed project is less than five 
seconds at a signalized intersection that operates at an unacceptable LOS in the “no project” 
condition (WB Ramp: 43.7 – 42.7 = 1 second and EB Ramp: 66.3 - 65.5 = 0.8 second).  

As presented in Table 4.5-16, the intersection of Sierra College Boulevard/Rocklin Road is 
projected to operate at an unacceptable LOS in the PM peak hour based on the City of Rocklin 
LOS standards. 

Although the Short Term Plus Project, Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane condition adds to 
an unacceptable LOS at the Sierra College Boulevard/Rocklin Road intersection, the impact is 
considered less than significant because the increase in delay due to the proposed project is 
less than five percent (0.05 V/C) at a signalized intersection that operates at an unacceptable 
LOS in the “no project” condition (0.92 – 0.89 = 0.03 change in V/C). 

As presented in Table 4.5-16, all other study intersections are projected to continue to operate 
at an acceptable LOS in both the AM and PM peak hours. 

Therefore, because the traffic generated by the proposed project would not cause any study 
location LOS operations to deteriorate past the identified LOS thresholds, there would be a less 
than significant impact. 

Mitigation: None required. 

Although no mitigation measures are required, the proposed Project would be subject to the 
payment of applicable Traffic Impact Mitigation (TIM) fees, South Placer Regional 
Transportation Authority (SPRTA) fees and Highway 65 Interchange Improvement fees as 
applicable on a fair share basis. 

Impact 4.5-3 Conflict with an Applicable Congestion Management Program Established by a 
County Congestion Management Agency 

Implementation of the proposed Project would not conflict with an applicable congestion 
management program, including, but not limited to level of service standards and travel 
demand measures, or other standards established by the county congestion management 
agency for designated roads or highways.  Therefore, this would be a less than significant 
impact. 

Explanation: 

The City of Rocklin does not have an applicable congestion management program that has been 
established by a county congestion management agency for designated roads or highways. 

Packet Pg. 113

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

57 
 

Therefore, because there is no conflict with an applicable congestion management program, 
there would be a less than significant impact. 

Mitigation: None required. 

Impact 4.5-4 Change in Air Traffic Patterns 

Implementation of the proposed Project would not result in a change in air traffic patterns, 
including either an increase in traffic levels or a change in location that results in substantial 
safety risks.  Therefore, this would be a less than significant impact 

Explanation: 

The proposed Project is not anticipated to have any impacts on air traffic because it is not 
located near an airport or within a flight path.  In addition, the proposed Project will not result 
in a change in location of planned development that results in substantial safety risks.  

Therefore, because there is no change in air traffic patterns, there would be a less than 
significant impact. 

Mitigation: None required. 

Impact 4.5-5 Substantially Increase Hazards Due to a Design Feature 

Implementation of the proposed Project would not result in a substantial increase in hazards 
due to a design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections or incompatible uses 
(e.g., farm equipment).  Therefore, this would be a less than significant impact. 

Explanation: 

Per the Historical Collision Data discussed above and represented in Table 4.5-6, there have 
been less than four vehicle accidents at the study intersections closest to the Project site per 
year for the five years included in the collected data, and there have been no accidents 
reported at either Project access point intersection (Sierra College Boulevard/Water Lily Lane 
and Rocklin Road/Rocklin Manor Drive (west)) during the five-year study period.  

Per the Project Site Access – Focused Analysis discussion above, the proposed Project’s site 
access at Rocklin Road and Rocklin Manor Drive will have acceptable level of service (LOS) and 
adequate queue lengths during the AM and PM peak periods under the Existing Plus Project, 
Short Term Plus Project, and Cumulative Plus Project for both the Water Lily Lane Emergency 
Access and Outbound Access to Water Lily Lane access conditions.  The addition of Project 
traffic at the ingress point of Rocklin Road and Rocklin Manor Drive is not anticipated to result 
in an increase of hazards nor is it anticipated to exacerbate what are historically low levels of 
accidents at the study intersections closest to the Project site. 

In addition, the proposed Project is evaluated by the City Engineer to assess such items as 
hazards due to a design feature or incompatible use, and no such conditions were found. 

Therefore, because recent accident data demonstrates a low level of accidents at the study 
intersections closest to the Project site, an analysis has shown that the Project’s site access at 
Rocklin Road and Rocklin Manor Drive will have acceptable level of service and adequate queue 

Packet Pg. 114

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

58 
 

lengths and the proposed Project has been reviewed by the City Engineer, there would be a less 
than significant impact. 

Mitigation: None required. 
 
Impact 4.5-6 Result in Inadequate Emergency Access 

Implementation of the proposed Project would not result in inadequate emergency access.  
Therefore, this would be a less than significant impact 

Explanation: 

Per the Project Site Access – Focused Analysis discussion above (DEIR p. 4.5-48), the proposed 
Project’s site access at Rocklin Road and Rocklin Manor Drive will have acceptable level of 
service (LOS) and adequate queue lengths during the AM and PM peak periods under the 
Existing Plus Project, Short Term Plus Project, and Cumulative Plus Project for both the Water 
Lily Lane Emergency Access and Outbound Access to Water Lily Lane access conditions.  

In addition, the proposed Project is evaluated by representatives of the City of Rocklin’s Fire 
and Police Departments to ensure that adequate emergency access is provided. 

Therefore, because an analysis has shown that the Project’s site access at Rocklin Road and 
Rocklin Manor Drive will have acceptable level of service and adequate queue lengths and the 
proposed Project has been reviewed by representatives of the Fire and Police Departments, 
there would be a less than significant impact. 

Mitigation: None required. 
 
Impact 4.5-7 Conflict with Adopted Policies, Plans or Programs Regarding Public Transit, 
Bicycle or Pedestrian Facilities 

Implementation of the proposed Project would not conflict with adopted policies, plans or 
programs regarding public transit, bicycle or other pedestrian facilities, or otherwise decrease 
the performance or safety of such facilities.  Therefore, this would be a less than significant 
impact 

Explanation: Because the Project will not conflict with the existing public transit, bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities in the Project area and an evaluation of the proposed Project by City staff 
did not identify potential conflicts with public transit, bicycle and pedestrian facilities, there 
would be a less than significant impact. 

Mitigation: None required. 
 
  

Packet Pg. 115

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

59 
 

XII. CUMULATIVE IMPACTS 
 
The cumulative context for transportation/traffic impacts would be the City of Rocklin and the 
surrounding areas of western Placer County.  This cumulative setting condition includes 
proposed and approved projects, planned development under the City of Rocklin General Plan 
and other jurisdiction’s General Plans (i.e., Placer County, Town of Loomis, City of Roseville and 
City of Lincoln), and planned and proposed uses in the region. 
 
Impact 4.5-8 Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of 
Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System – Cumulative Plus Project 
Condition 

Implementation of the proposed Project and continued development in the City of Rocklin and 
in the region could affect transportation/traffic as result of the development of undeveloped 
areas and the generation of additional automobile trips on roadways.  Therefore, this would be 
a potentially significant impact. 

Explanation: 

As presented in Table 4.5-19 (Cumulative (Year 2030) Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency 
Access Intersection Levels of Service)(DEIR, p. 4.5-41) and Table 4.5-21 (Cumulative (Year 2030) 
Plus Project, Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane)(DEIR, p. 4.5-46), five intersections are 
projected to operate at an unacceptable LOS based on the City of Rocklin LOS standards: 

• Sierra College Boulevard/Rocklin Road – AM and PM peak hours 
• Sierra College Boulevard/Interstate 80 EB Ramps – AM peak hour 
• Sierra College Boulevard/Interstate 80 WB Ramps – AM peak hour 
•  Rocklin Road/Interstate 80 WB Ramps – AM and PM peak hours 
• Rocklin Road/Interstate 80 EB Ramps – AM and PM peak hours 

Sierra College Boulevard/Rocklin Road Intersection 

Although the Cumulative (Year 2030) Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access and 
Cumulative (Year 2030) Plus Project, Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane conditions add to 
an unacceptable LOS at the intersection of Sierra College Boulevard and Rocklin Road, the 
impact is considered less than significant because the V/C increase due to the Project is less 
than 0.05 at a signalized intersection that operates at an unacceptable LOS in the “no project” 
condition (AM Peak Hour: 0.93 – 0.92 = 0.01 change in V/C; PM Peak Hour: 0.93 – 0.92 = 0.01 
change in V/C).  

The General Plan EIR forecasted LOS E conditions at the intersection of Sierra College 
Boulevard/Rocklin Road in the Cumulative conditions.  (See Table 4.4-28 on page 4.4-68 of the 
General Plan EIR)  The discussion on page 4.4-76 of the General Plan EIR identifies a mitigation 
measure (modify the intersection to include a free eastbound right turn lane from Rocklin Road 
onto Sierra College Boulevard to improve intersection operations to LOS B (V/C = 0.698)) that 
would result in acceptable LOS operations at this intersection; this mitigation measure was 
previously adopted as a part of the General Plan EIR.  In addition, the AM peak hour traffic 
analysis performed for this Project evaluated whether the addition of a southbound free right 

Packet Pg. 116

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

60 
 

turn lane will mitigate the AM peak hour to an acceptable LOS.  The traffic analysis 
demonstrates that this is an effective mitigation measure.  It should be noted that the General 
Plan EIR did not identify this mitigation measure because the AM peak hour was not analyzed.  
This measure is identified here for informational purposes and for future consideration by the 
City.  Since the Project does not cause this impact, this measure is not a responsibility of the 
Project.   

Sierra College Boulevard/Interstate 80 EB Ramps Intersection 

Under the Cumulative (Year 2030) Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access and 
Cumulative (Year 2030) Plus Project, Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane conditions, the 
proposed project does not create a significant impact at the intersection of Sierra College 
Boulevard/I-80 EB Ramps in the AM peak hour because the increase in delay due to the Project 
is less than 5 seconds at a signalized intersection that operates at an unacceptable LOS in the 
“no project” condition (79.7 – 77.4 = 2.3 seconds).   

A potential improvement to bring the intersection to an acceptable LOS C in both the AM and 
PM peak hours would be the construction of an eastbound free-right turn lane.  This measure is 
identified here for informational purposes and for future consideration by the City.  Since the 
Project does not cause this impact, this measure is not a responsibility of the Project.   

Sierra College Boulevard/Interstate 80 WB Ramps Intersection 

Under the Cumulative (Year 2030) Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access and 
Cumulative (Year 2030) Plus Project, Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane conditions, the 
proposed project does not create a significant impact at the intersection of Sierra College 
Boulevard/I-80 WB Ramps because the increase in delay due to the Project is less than 5 
seconds at a signalized intersection that operates at an unacceptable LOS in the “no project” 
condition (39.5 – 39.4 = 0.1 second).   

A potential improvement to bring the intersection to an acceptable LOS C in both the AM and 
PM peak hours would be to convert the eastbound and westbound approaches to split phasing. 
This measure is identified here for informational purposes and for future consideration by the 
City.  Since the Project does not cause this impact, this measure is not a responsibility of the 
Project.   
 
  

Packet Pg. 117

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

61 
 

XIII. SIGNIFICANT AND UNAVOIDABLE IMPACTS 

Section 15126.2(b) of the CEQA Guidelines requires that an EIR describe any significant impacts 
that cannot be avoided, even with the implementation of feasible mitigation measures.  Such 
impacts would be considered unavoidable when it has been determined that either no 
mitigation, or only partial mitigation, is feasible.  This section identifies significant impacts that 
could not be eliminated or reduced to a less than significant level by mitigation measures 
imposed by the City as lead agency.  The City of Rocklin would make the final determination of 
the significance of impacts and of the feasibility of mitigation measures as part of its 
certification action.  The environmental effects of the proposed project on various aspects of 
the environment are discussed in detail in Chapter 4, Environmental Setting, Impacts, and 
Mitigation Measures.  The analysis concluded there would not be any project-specific 
significant and unavoidable impacts.  However, the analysis did conclude that there would be 
one cumulative significant and unavoidable impact of the Sierra Gateway Apartments project:   
 
Impact 4.5-8: Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of 
Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System – Cumulative Plus Project 
Condition  

Level of Significance After Mitigation: Significant and Unavoidable (DEIR, pp. 4.5-58, 5.4-1) 

Finding: Specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations, including 
considerations for the provision of employment opportunities for highly trained workers, make 
infeasible the mitigation measures or alternatives identified in the environmental impact 
report. 

Explanation: 

Rocklin Road/Interstate 80 WB and EB Ramp Intersections 

Under the Cumulative (Year 2030) Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access and 
Cumulative (Year 2030) Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane conditions, the increase in delay 
at the intersections of Rocklin Road/Interstate 80 WB and EB ramps is each more than five 
seconds at an intersection that operates at an unacceptable LOS in the Cumulative No Project 
condition in the PM peak hour (WB Ramp: 82.5 – 70.5 = 12 seconds; EB Ramp: 115.7 – 102.7 = 
13 seconds).  This is considered to be a significant impact. 

As presented in Table 4.5-20 (Cumulative (Year 2030) (DEIR, p. 4.5-58) Plus Project Freeway 
Mainline and Ramp Levels of Service) (DEIR, p. 4.5-44), all freeway mainline segments and 
ramps are projected to operate at an acceptable LOS based on Caltrans LOS standards. 

Under the Cumulative (Year 2030) Plus Project, Water Lily Lane Emergency Access and 
Outbound Access from Water Lily Lane conditions, the increase in delay at the intersections of 
Rocklin Road/Interstate 80 WB and EB ramps is each more than five seconds at an intersection 
that operates at an unacceptable LOS in the Cumulative No Project condition in the PM peak 
hour (WB Ramp: 82.5 – 70.5 = 12 seconds; EB Ramp: 115.7 – 102.7 = 13 seconds).  Therefore, 
the impact would be considered cumulatively considerable and significant and unavoidable.  

Packet Pg. 118

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

62 
 

Mitigation: The proposed Project will be subject to the payment of applicable Traffic Impact 
Mitigation (TIM) fees, South Placer Regional Transportation Authority (SPRTA) fees and 
Highway 65 Interchange Improvement fees as applicable on a fair share basis; however, 
payment of these fees alone will not fund the necessary improvements that are needed to 
remedy the anticipated cumulative unacceptable levels of service at the Rocklin Road/I-80 
interchange. 

While the City has policies and traffic impact fees currently in place that are expected to help 
reduce impacts to freeway ramp intersections, the City does not have the complete jurisdiction 
or authority, would not be the sole source of funding and does not have the capability to fund 
implementation of any of the identified alternative improvements to the highway ramp 
intersections.  Since mitigation of this impact is outside of the City’s control, the impact is 
considered to be significant and unavoidable. 

Mitigation for this Project under the Cumulative condition is also not feasible in light of the 
following considerations:  (1) the Rocklin Road/Interstate 80 EB and WB Ramp intersections will 
operate at an unacceptable LOS in both the AM and PM peak hours regardless of whether the 
proposed Project is approved (see Table 4.5-18, Cumulative (Year 2030) No Project Intersection 
Levels of Service), (2) the proposed Project only contributes a small percentage (an increase of 
32 vehicles and 12 seconds of delay at the WB Ramp intersection with Rocklin Road during the 
PM peak hour and an increase of 44 vehicles and 13 seconds of delay at the EB Ramp 
intersection with Rocklin Road during the PM peak hour) to the cumulative impact, (3) the 
intersection is outside of the control of the City, and (4) the decision and planning of whether 
and how to improve the future operation of this intersection depends on future discussions and 
agreements between the City and Caltrans. 

The General Plan EIR also forecasted unacceptable LOS conditions at the Rocklin Road/I-80 
interchange intersections in the cumulative conditions.  (See Table 4.4-30 on page 4.4-86 of the 
General Plan EIR).  The determination of the Sierra Gateway Apartment project’s cumulative 
significant impact to the Rocklin Road/I-80 interchange as a significant and unavoidable impact 
is consistent with the findings of the General Plan EIR.  The following is quoted from the 
General Plan EIR (pages 4.4-87 and 4.4-88): 

“As discussed in the Regulatory Framework subsection above, the City provides 
funding for highway facility improvements in the southern portion of Placer County 
through collection of traffic impact fees under SPRTA and the Highway 65 
Interchange Improvement Fee.  However, the City does not have the authority to 
independently implement improvements to state/interstate highways and highway 
ramp intersections.  The City recognizes the need for local development to 
contribute to highway facility improvements.  Beyond the SPRTA and Highway 65 
Interchange Improvement fees noted above, the City also collects fees for 
improvements to highway interchange and ramp intersection improvements 
through its Capital Improvement Program (CIP) and Traffic Impact Mitigation (TIM) 
fee program.  The City conditions projects to contribute their fair share cost of 
circulation improvements via the existing citywide TIM fee program that is applied 
as a uniformly applied development policy and standard.  The TIM fee is one of the 
various methods that the City of Rocklin uses for financing improvements identified 

Packet Pg. 119

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

63 
 

in the CIP.  The CIP, which is overseen by the City’s Engineering Division, is updated 
periodically to assure that growth in the city and surrounding jurisdictions does not 
degrade the level of service on the city’s (and to some degree the state’s) roadways.  

The roadway improvements that are identified in the CIP in response to anticipated 
development and population growth are consistent with the City’s Circulation 
Element.  The TIM fee program collects funds from new development in the city to 
finance a portion of the roadway improvements that result from traffic generated by 
new development.  Fees are calculated on a citywide basis, differentiated by type of 
development in relationship to their relative traffic impacts.  The intent of the fee is 
to provide an equitable means of ensuring that future development contributes its 
fair share of roadway improvements, so that the City’s General Plan circulation 
policies and quality of life can be maintained. 

The City’s decision to include highway interchange and ramp intersections in its CIP 
is consistent with the Caltrans policy that has encouraged local and private funding 
of state highway improvements for the last 20 years (Caltrans 2004, pg. 9-1.1).  
Caltrans notes that projects constructed on the state highway system that are 
sponsored by a city, county, local transportation authority, local transit agency, or 
private entity generally use local or private funding.  Thus, the City’s CIP, SPRTA, and 
Highway 65 Interchange Improvement fee programs are consistent with the Caltrans 
policy, which encourages local agencies to develop and implement local funding 
programs that supplement federal and state funding programs to meet their current 
and future transportation needs. 

The City’s decision to include highway interchange and ramp intersections in its CIP 
is also consistent with the Caltrans policy that compels the local or private entities 
sponsoring state highway system projects to be responsible for the construction 
contract administration when such projects are financed with local and private 
funds.  (Caltrans 2004).  Moreover, cooperation with local agencies in identifying 
and implementing mitigation is a general Caltrans policy and a responsibility for the 
Caltrans Deputy District Directors of Planning.  The Caltrans Deputy Directive 
Number Dd-25-R1 “Local Development-Intergovernmental Review” (June 2005) 
notes that the Deputy District Directors of Planning must: (1) ensure potential 
significant impacts to state highway facilities are fully identified, evaluated and 
articulated and that reasonable measures that avoid or adequately mitigate 
identified potential impacts are recommended consistent with state planning 
priorities; and (2) work with local jurisdictions to identify mitigation measures that 
adequately address development impacts.  Caltrans has previously cooperated with 
local agencies in Placer County to construct a number of highway improvement 
projects funded largely by developer impact fees.  For instance, the recently 
completed Sierra College Boulevard at I-80 interchange reconstruction project was 
advanced in its timing due to the City of Rocklin’s work with Caltrans, the California 
Transportation Commission, the Placer County Transportation and Planning Agency 
(PCTPA), and local developers in putting together a creative financing plan.  The City 
advanced $5 million and worked with local developers to have them advance $20 

Packet Pg. 120

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

64 
 

million in order to build the project sooner than Caltrans had scheduled delivery of 
the project.  As another example, Caltrans cooperated with PCTPA and the City of 
Roseville to construct the $35 million Douglas/I-80 interchange improvement 
project, where over $24 million of the cost was funded from development-paid 
traffic impact mitigation fees collected by the City of Roseville; only about $11 
million came from federal and state highway monies.” 

Rocklin Road Interchange Improvement Alternatives 

The City of Rocklin worked with Caltrans to develop a Project Study Report-Project 
Development Support (PSR-PDS, August 24, 2012) to request approval for a locally funded 
project and to proceed to Project Approval and Environmental Document Phase.  This report 
identified several technically feasible alternatives for mitigating future, cumulative traffic 
impacts at the Rocklin Road/I-80 interchange so that it will operate at acceptable levels of 
service.  These potential alternatives are discussed in the DEIR (DEIR, pp. 4.5-61) and reprinted 
below:  Alternative 1 – Flyover (Westbound Rocklin Road to Westbound Interstate 80) 

 
This alternative consists of a flyover structure from westbound Rocklin Road to 
Interstate 80.  This would alleviate traffic congestion on westbound Rocklin Road and at 
the intersection of Rocklin Road/I-80 WB Ramps.  This alternative would require 
additional right of way and modification of existing roadways, bridges and ramps.  This 
alternative would provide LOS C or better conditions at the intersection of Rocklin 
Road/I-80 WB Ramps and the intersection of Rocklin Road/I-80 EB Ramps. 
 

• Alternative 2 – Roundabouts on Rocklin Road 
 
This alternative would consist of multi-lane roundabouts at the intersections of Rocklin 
Road/I-80 WB Ramps, Rocklin Road/I-80 EB Ramps, and Rocklin Road/Aguilar Road.  
Roundabouts would allow uninterrupted flow of traffic and reduced queuing along 
Rocklin Road while providing access to freeway ramps.  This alternative would require 
additional right of way, ramp widening, lengthening, and metering, and a shared-use 
path along Rocklin Road underneath the interstate.  This alternative would provide LOS 
B at the intersection of Rocklin Road/I-80 WB Ramps and LOS B at the intersection of 
Rocklin Road/I-80 EB Ramps. 
 

• Alternative 3 – Replacement Diamond 

This alternative would consist of a replacement diamond for the undercrossing at I-80.  
This alternative would require additional right of way, lengthening of the freeway 
structure for additional lanes, and modification to the I-80 WB and EB Ramps.  The 
mainline would be raised approximately one foot to meet current standard vertical 
clearance for the Rocklin Road undercrossing.  This alternative would provide LOS C or 
better conditions at the intersections of Rocklin Road/I-80 WB Ramps and Rocklin 
Road/I-80 EB Ramps. 

Packet Pg. 121

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

65 
 

Implementation of any of these alternatives would mitigate the significant and cumulative 
impact of the Project to the Rocklin Road/I-80 interchange to a less than significant level, and 
the City anticipates reaching agreement with Caltrans to implement one of them.  However, 
until such agreement is in place and formal plans are adopted, this EIR is conservatively treating 
the impact as significant and unavoidable.  It would not be feasible to require this Project to 
solely mitigate this cumulative impact to the exclusion of all other contributors given this 
project’s comparatively small contribution to this impact and for the other reasons discussed 
above. 
 
XIV. FINDINGS RELATED TO PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 

As required by CEQA, a discussion of possible alternatives to the Sierra Gateway Apartments 
was included in the FEIR.  The City makes the following findings to support its rejection of the 
three alternatives. Another alternative was considered and screened out of the range of 
alternatives analyzed in the EIR for the reasons discussed at pages 6-3 through 6-5 of the DEIR, 
which is incorporated herein by reference. 

Section 15091 (a)(3) of the State CEQA Guidelines describes that one of the findings that a lead 
agency can make concerning significant project impacts is that specific economic, legal, social, 
technological, or other considerations, make infeasible the project alternatives identified in the 
EIR.  In the EIR, the alternatives were screened for technical, logistical, and financial feasibility, 
but the alternatives were not evaluated for all economic, legal, social or other considerations 
that make up the broader definition of “feasibility” in Section 15091 (a)(3).  Thus, the use of the 
term “infeasible” in the findings below concerning the alternatives is more expansive than 
references to “feasible” in the EIR’s discussion of alternatives, which was limited to technical, 
logistical and financial feasibility.  An alternative may have been determined to be technically, 
logistically, and financially “feasible” in the EIR and still ultimately be concluded by the City to 
meet the definition of “infeasibility” per Section 15091 (a)(3) when all considerations are taken 
into account. The term “infeasible” in the findings below uses the broader definition in Section 
15091 (a)(3), which is consistent with case law interpreting this provision of CEQA. The 
determination of infeasibility “involves a balancing of various ‘economic, environmental, social, 
and technological factors.’” (City of Del Mar v. City of San Diego (1982) 133 Cal.App.3d 401, 
417). Where there are competing and conflicting interests to be resolved, the determination of 
infeasibility “is not a case of straightforward questions of legal or economic feasibility,” but 
rather, based on policy considerations. (Cal. Native Plant Society v. City of Santa Cruz (2009) 177 
Cal.App.4th 957, 1001-02). “[A]n alternative that is impractical or undesirable from a policy 
standpoint may be rejected as infeasible.” (Id. at p. 1002, citing 2 Kostka & Zischke, Practice 
Under the Cal. Environmental Quality Act, (Cont.Ed.Bar 2010) section 17.29, p. 824). 

Consistent with CEQA, primary consideration was given to alternatives that could reduce 
significant impacts while still meeting most of the basic project objectives. Any alternative that 
would have impacts identical to or more severe than the proposed project, or that would not 
meet any or most of the project objectives were dismissed from further consideration. 
One alternative was considered but dismissed in the EIR:  

Packet Pg. 122

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

66 
 

Off-Site Alternatives  
 
This EIR does not analyze any off-site alternatives to the proposed project, based on 
consideration of all of the following factors:  (1) an off-site alternative would not accomplish 
some of the basic project objectives, including the applicant’s desire to build a high density 
residential project uniquely located adjacent to its existing apartment complex it is already 
currently operating, thereby allowing it to achieve certain efficiencies and economies of scale in 
the joint operation of two adjacent apartment complexes; (2) the applicant lacks ownership or 
control of any alternative sites; (3) the project proposes development of the site specifically 
consistent with its current General Plan and zoning designations; (4) the applicant has a legal 
right to develop its property consistent with the existing zoning, and the scope of the City’s 
discretion to prohibit the applicant from so developing the property is constrained under local 
and state law; (5) the project is located on a site at the intersection of two major arterials that 
the City has designated and planned for urban development for over 30 years; and (6) the City 
has identified the location of this site as being particularly well-suited for high density 
residential development, given its adjacency to the existing apartment complex and its 
proximity to Sierra College and to numerous existing and planned commercial developments.  
Some of these points are further discussed below. 

When proposed residential development is consistent with existing land use and planning 
policies, CEQA does not require review of alternative project sites.  The California Supreme 
Court has held that a city need not re-examine existing land use plans and policies in evaluating 
alternative project sites.  (See Citizens of Goleta Valley v. Board of Supervisors (1990) 52 Cal.3d 
553, 573.)  Instead, when proposed development is consistent with existing plans and policies, 
CEQA requires that the EIR’s alternatives analysis focus on environmentally superior 
alternatives for development of the site consistent those plans and policies.   

Because the proposed project is a permitted use under the applicable zoning, the scope of the 
City’s discretion under its own local laws is limited to design review and approval of an oak tree 
preservation permit.  Furthermore, because the project to construct residential units is 
consistent with the existing zoning, state law expressly limits the ability of the City to deny the 
development or even to require a reduction in its density.  For example, under Government 
Code section 65589.5(j), such a development may not be disapproved or conditioned on a 
reduction in density unless a city can find that the proposed project would have a specific, 
adverse impact on the public health or safety.   While this EIR is nonetheless analyzing a 
reduced density alternative for the purpose of informing its environmental analysis, an off-site 
alternative would be particularly infeasible for the City to mandate under the limited scope of 
its current discretion, as such an alternative would effectively prohibit the applicant from 
developing its current property consistent with its existing zoning. 

Even if the City had the discretion to mandate an off-site alternative, the City would 
nonetheless reject such an alternative as being inconsistent with its land use planning for the 
project site.  For over 30 years, since the site was first annexed to the City in 1985, the City’s 
General Plan has designated the project site for urban development.  The City previously 
approved a commercial and office development project on the site in 2007, for which the City 
prepared and certified the Sierra College Center Final Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 

Packet Pg. 123

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

67 
 

2006052130).  That project was never constructed.  On April 16, 2013, the City Council 
approved a General Plan Amendment to change the land use designation of the project site 
from Retail Commercial (RC) to High Density Residential (HDR), and a Rezone to change the 
zoning from Planned Development Commercial (PD-C) to Planned Development Residential, 20 
units minimum per acre (PD-20).  As discussed in the Project Description, the City approved 
these land use changes for several reasons, including: 1) the project site is adjacent to existing 
multi-family residential development and the project was seen as an extension of the existing 
multi-family residentially designated land; 2) the site is at the intersection of two arterial 
roadways and has existing neighborhood commercial centers within walking distance as well as 
developing major commercial centers within a few miles, as well as recently designated Mixed 
Use property located to the north across Rocklin Road (allowing for commercial uses) that 
would all benefit by having additional residents (potential customers) located nearby; 3) the 
provision of additional housing opportunities for faculty, staff and/or students at the adjacent 
Sierra Community College; 4) to introduce more residential uses in this area of the City given 
the recent development of the Rocklin Crossings and Commons shopping centers in close 
proximity and to better accommodate the recent Mixed Use designation of property to the 
north across Rocklin Road which may also contain some commercial development, and 5) in 
recognition of the rights of a land owner to develop property that has long been designated for 
urban development. 

As part of the NOP comments, a suggestion was made to consider an alternative to the 
proposed project that would involve a “land swap” with Sierra Community College for their land 
that is located to the north of Rocklin Road.  As discussed in Chapter 1, Introduction and Scope 
of EIR, because of the College’s desire to create student housing and to develop their property 
with long-term revenue possibilities, its plans for the College’s property do not align with a 
“land swap” concept and therefore the project applicant does not have the ability to attain site 
control.  It should also be noted that the stated goals in the College’s RFP are significantly 
different than the Sierra Gateway Apartments project objectives detailed in this FEIR. Per CEQA 
Guidelines section 15126.6 (f)(1), one of the criteria for the selection of feasible alternatives is 
“…whether the project proponent can reasonably acquire, control or otherwise have access to 
the alternative site (or the site is already owned by the proponent).” The applicant and Sierra 
College met on a number of occasions at the request of Citizens for Tree Preservation to discuss 
the land swap proposal. Both parties concluded that a land swap does not meet either party’s 
development objectives. Citizens for Tree Preservation also listed the concept of the land swap 
as a possible settlement alternative for the legal challenge to the previous approval for this 
project. At that point, it was also determined that the land swap did not achieve the City’s 
objectives for the site. This is a clear indication that the land swap proposal has not been 
accepted by either the applicant or Sierra College despite the persistent efforts by those 
advocating the proposal.  Thus, such an alternative is not considered feasible. 
 

The following alternatives were considered and evaluated in this EIR: 
• No Project Alternative; 
• Reduced Intensity Alternative, and 
• Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative 

 

Packet Pg. 124

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

68 
 

Each of the project alternatives are described in further detail below with analyses of 
each alternative’s impacts with regards to each environmental resources area.  
No Project Alternative 

The No Project Alternative would allow the project site to continue in its existing vacant state.  
Under this alternative, the City of Rocklin would not approve development of the proposed 
project.  This non-development alternative is characterized primarily by the benefits of 
continued natural space on the proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project site.  However, it 
should be anticipated that the project site would ultimately be developed based on its long-
standing designations in the City General Plan and zoning map for urban development and the 
presence of available infrastructure.  The No Project Alternative would not meet any of the 
project objectives. 

 Aesthetics 

The No Project Alternative would not impact the existing visual character or quality of 
the project site and its surroundings.  Therefore, the No Project Alternative would result 
in fewer aesthetic impacts than the proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project in the 
near term, but not ultimately if the General Plan and zoning designations remain the 
same. 

Air Quality 

The No Project Alternative would not result in the generation of emissions associated 
with the proposed project’s construction and operation.  Therefore, the No Project 
Alternative would result in fewer impacts to air quality than the proposed Sierra 
Gateway Apartments project in the near term, but not ultimately if the General Plan and 
zoning designations remain the same.  

Biological Resources 

The No Project Alternative would not impact the project site’s vegetation, including 
wetland, woodland and seasonal grassland habitat as well as wildlife habitat.  Therefore, 
the No Project Alternative would result in fewer impacts to biological resources than the 
proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project in the near term, but not ultimately if the 
General Plan and zoning designations remain the same. 

Transportation/Traffic 

The No Project Alternative would not result in the generation of automobile trips 
associated with the proposed project’s construction and operation.  Therefore, the No 
Project Alternative would result in fewer impacts to transportation/traffic than the 
proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project in the near term, but not ultimately if the 
General Plan and zoning designations remain the same. 

Reduced Intensity Alternative 

The Reduced Intensity Alternative would remove one of the proposed buildings from the 
proposed project plan in an effort to reduce the intensity of buildings on the site and avoid 
impacting a cluster of trees that were determined by the project arborist to be in fair-good 

Packet Pg. 125

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

69 
 

condition.  Although one might think there are a multitude of ways in which such a reduction 
could be accomplished, when the location of healthy trees and grading realities were examined, 
the most effective scenario would be to remove building number 2, a 3-story building located 
adjacent to Rocklin Road and the existing Rocklin Manor apartment complex, from the 
proposed project plan.  By eliminating this building, the total living space square footage for the 
proposed project would be reduced by 23,248 square feet, leaving a living space total square 
footage remaining of 171,485 square feet, and the total number of parking stalls for the 
proposed project would be reduced by 31 spaces, resulting in a parking stall total of 356 spaces.  
The total unit count would also be reduced by 25 units, leaving a total of 170 units.  A site plan 
of the Reduced Intensity Alternative is provide in Figure 6-1 (DEIR p. 6-8, and reprinted below). 

 Aesthetics 

The Reduced Intensity Alternative would decrease the total number of residential 
buildings on the project site from eleven to ten and result in a reduction of 25 units.  
The elimination of a proposed 3-story residential structure would result in a lesser 
change of the project site’s visual character or quality and its surroundings.  This change 
would be particularly evident as it relates to the view/look of the project site from the 
north along Rocklin Road where building number 2 would not be built resulting in an 
increased separation between the project’s buildings along Rocklin Road and the 
adjacent Rocklin Manor apartment complex.  Building number 2 is proposed to be 
located approximately 160 feet from the closest Rocklin Manor apartment building to 
the east; with the removal of building number 2, the distance between the closest 
Rocklin Manor apartment building to the east and building number 1 (the next closest 
building) would be approximately 360 feet.  Therefore, the Reduced Intensity 
Alternative would result in a lesser change of the project site’s visual character or 
quality and its surroundings than the proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project. 

Air Quality 

The Reduced Intensity Alternative would decrease the total number of buildings on the 
project site from eleven to ten and result in a reduction of 25 units.  The reduction of 
the number of site structures and units would result in approximately 167 fewer vehicle 
trips per day to and from the project site (25 units x 6.69 trips/unit per the ITE Traffic 
Manual trip generation rate per unit for apartments).  This reduction in vehicle trips, 
together with fewer construction emissions and a reduction in project operational 
emissions from less natural gas combustion exhaust from water and space heating as a 
result of fewer units, would result in a lesser amount of overall emissions associated 
with the proposed project’s construction and operation.  Therefore, the Reduced 
Intensity Alternative would result in a lesser amount of overall air quality emissions than 
the proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project.  

Biological Resources 

The Reduced Intensity Alternative would decrease the total number of buildings on the 
project site from eleven to ten and result in a reduction of 25 units.  The reduction of 
the number of site structures would result in fewer impacts to woodland and seasonal 

Packet Pg. 126

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

70 
 

grassland habitat as well as wildlife habitat when compared to the proposed Sierra 
Gateway Apartments project.  The reduction in the number of site structures would 
minimally reduce the amount of impacts to different habitat types because while the 
area where building number 2 would not be built would have no to limited grading 
impacts, the rest of the development area would still require grading to accommodate 
the remaining site structures, parking, landscape, handicap accessibility, drainage, sewer 
and other infrastructure requirements.  The area where building number 2 would not be 
built contains eighteen oak trees deemed by the project arborist to be in fair-good 
condition and it is likely that these oak trees could be preserved.  However, one oak tree 
(rated as a 2 (poor) by the project arborist ) at the Rocklin Manor apartment complex 
would require removal because the shared driveway for the proposed project would 
have to be shifted to the east to reduce the grading impact around the oak trees to be 
preserved.  Therefore, the Reduced Intensity Alternative would result in fewer effects to 
biological resources than the proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project.  

Transportation/Traffic 

The Reduced Intensity Alternative would decrease the total number of buildings on the 
project site from eleven to ten and result in a reduction of 25 units.  The reduction of 
the number of site structures would decrease the number of projected daily automobile 
trips in the project area, as well as have a smaller contribution to traffic levels on nearby 
roadways and intersections.  Specifically, the reduction of the number of building 
structures and units would result in approximately 167 fewer vehicle trips per day to 
and from the project site (25 units x 6.69 trips/unit per the ITE Traffic Manual trip 
generation rate per unit for apartments).  Therefore, although roadway conditions will 
not be significantly lessened, the Reduced Intensity Alternative would result in a lesser 
contribution to traffic levels on nearby roadways and intersections than the proposed 
Sierra Gateway Apartments project but not reduce such impacts to a less than 
significant level (see DEIR Appendix L, February 27, 2017 Reduced Intensity Alternative 
memorandum from Omni Means).  

 

 

Packet Pg. 127

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

71 
 

FIGURE 6-1, SITE PLAN FOR REDUCED INTENSITY ALTERNATIVE 

Packet Pg. 128

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

72 
 

Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative 

The Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative would include approximately the 
same square footage and unit number as the proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project 
development; however the buildings would contain an increased number of stories to result in 
an overall smaller development footprint.  Although there are a multitude of ways in which 
such a reduction could be accomplished, one example would be to remove building numbers 3, 
4 and 5, the three westernmost buildings located adjacent to Sierra College Boulevard, and 
apply their square footages to building numbers 1, 2 and 8, making those combined buildings 
five-six stories instead of three stories.  The overall lot coverage for the buildings would be 
reduced; however the same number of parking spaces would be required.  A site plan of the 
Reduced Footprint Alternative is provide in Figure 6-2 (DEIR, p. 6-11, and reprinted below). 

 Aesthetics 

The Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative would include 
approximately the same square footage and unit numbers as the proposed Sierra 
Gateway Apartments project development; however the buildings would contain an 
increased number of stories to result in an overall smaller development footprint.  The 
reduction of the number of site structures could be considered beneficial from an 
aesthetics viewpoint particularly as it relates to the view/look of the project site from 
the Sierra College Boulevard where building numbers 3, 4 and 5 would not be built, 
resulting in an increased separation between the project’s buildings and Sierra College 
Boulevard.  Building numbers 3, 4 and 5 are located approximately 40, 60 and 40 feet, 
respectively, at their closest point from the eastern edge of Sierra College Boulevard; 
with the removal of building numbers 3, 4 and 5, the distance between the eastern edge 
of Sierra College Boulevard and building numbers 6a, 6b 7a and 7c (the next closest 
buildings in the central portion of the project site) would be approximately 205, 230, 
240 and 230 feet, respectively, from their closest point from the eastern edge of Sierra 
College Boulevard.  However, the increase in the height to five-six stories (which would 
be beyond the building height allowed by the project site’s zoning regulations and 
would require a variance at the City’s discretion) could more significantly affect the 
project site’s visual character or quality of the project site and its surroundings.  
Therefore, the Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative would result in 
a greater change of the project site’s visual character or quality and its surroundings 
than the proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project. 

Air Quality 

The Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative would include 
approximately the same square footage and unit numbers as the proposed Sierra 
Gateway Apartments project development; however the buildings would contain an 
increased number of stories to result in an overall smaller development footprint.  
Therefore, the Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative would mirror 
the amount of overall air quality emissions expected under the proposed Sierra 

Packet Pg. 129

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

73 
 

Gateway Apartments project because the square footage and unit count would be the 
same under both projects. 

Biological Resources 

The Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative would include 
approximately the same square footage and unit number as the proposed Sierra 
Gateway Apartments project development; however the buildings would contain an 
increased number of stories to result in an overall smaller development footprint.  The 
reduction of the number of site structures would result in fewer impacts to woodland 
and seasonal grassland habitat as well as wildlife habitat when compared to the 
proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project.  The reduction in the number of site 
structures would reduce the amount of impacts to different habitat types because the 
area where building numbers 3, 4 and 5 would not be built would have no to limited 
grading impacts, although the rest of the development area would still require grading 
to accommodate the remaining site structures, parking, landscape, handicap 
accessibility, drainage, sewer and other infrastructure requirements.  The area where 
building numbers 3, 4 and 5 would not be built contains fifty-seven oak trees deemed by 
the project arborist to be in various states of condition (i.e., dead, dangerous/non-
correctable, poor and fair-good condition) and it is likely that these oak trees could be 
preserved, although the health of some of the trees may result in their ultimate demise 
despite not being impacted by grading.  Therefore, the Reduced Building 
Footprint/Increased Height Alternative would result in fewer effects to biological 
resources than the proposed Sierra Gateway Apartments project. 

Transportation/Traffic 

The Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative would include 
approximately the same square footage and unit number as the proposed Sierra 
Gateway Apartments project development; however the buildings would contain an 
increased number of stories to result in an overall smaller development footprint.  
Therefore, the Reduced Building Footprint/Increased Height Alternative would mirror 
the contribution to traffic levels on nearby roadways and intersections and the 
associated transportation/traffic impacts expected under the proposed Sierra Gateway 
Apartments project because the square footage/unit number and the associated 
number of daily vehicle trips generated by such an alternative would be approximately 
the same under both projects. 
 

 

Packet Pg. 130

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

74 
 

FIGURE 6-2, SITE PLAN FOR REDUCED FOOTPRINT ALTERNATIVE

Packet Pg. 131

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

75 
 

 
XV. ENVIRONMENTALLY SUPERIOR ALTERNATIVE 
 
An EIR is required to identify the environmentally superior alternative from among the range 
of reasonable alternatives that are evaluated.  
In addition to the discussion and comparison of impacts of the alternatives to the proposed 
project, CEQA requires that an “environmentally superior” alternative be selected and the 
reasons for such selection disclosed.  In general, the environmentally superior alternative is the 
alternative that would be expected to generate the least adverse impacts.  CEQA requires that 
if the No Project Alternative is the environmentally superior alternative, an additional 
alternative that is environmentally superior must be identified. (CEQA Guidelines Section 
15126(e)(2)) 

It should also be noted that environmental considerations are one portion of the factors that 
must be considered by the public and the decision makers in deliberations on the proposed 
project and alternatives.  Other factors of importance include urban design, economics, social 
factors, legal requirements and fiscal considerations. 

The environmentally superior alternative must reduce the overall impact of the proposed 
project.  The No Project Alternative would eliminate all of the projected environmental impacts 
of the proposed project; however, CEQA does not allow the No Project Alternative to be 
identified as environmentally superior. 

Of the alternatives analyzed, the Reduced Intensity Alternative provides the greatest reduction 
in the level of environmental effects while meeting most of the overall objectives of the project.  
The reduction in number of site structures and unit count would result in a lesser change of the 
project site’s visual character or quality and its surroundings, a lesser amount of overall air 
quality emissions, fewer effects to biological resources and a lesser contribution to traffic levels 
on nearby roadways and intersections.  While the Reduced Intensity Alternative does reduce 
the amount of square footage available for the proposed project site buildings, the Reduced 
Intensity Alternative would still generally meet most of the objectives of the proposed project 
to provide a residential apartment project in close proximity to retail commercial uses and 
educational facilities, as well as, the adjacent existing apartment complex with common 
ownership.  Therefore, the Reduced Intensity Alternative is the Environmentally Superior 
Alternative. 

The City rejects the Reduced Intensity Alternative as infeasible because it would either not 
achieve, or not achieve as well as the proposed project, the objectives of the proposed project. 
The Reduced Intensity Alternative would result in a reduction of housing units constructed, 
providing less benefit to the need for additional housing stock in the City. For these reasons, 
and each of them individually, the Reduced Intensity Alternative is determined to be infeasible. 
 
  

Packet Pg. 132

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

76 
 

XVI. STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 21081 and CEQA Guidelines Section 15093, the City 
adopts and makes the following Statement of Overriding Considerations regarding the 
significant unavoidable impacts of the Project, as discussed above, and the anticipated 
economic, social and other benefits of the Project.   

The City finds and determines that: (i) the majority of the potentially significant impacts of the 
Project will be reduced to acceptable levels by the mitigation measures recommended in these 
Findings; (ii) the City’s approval of the Project as proposed will result in certain significant 
adverse environmental effects that cannot be avoided even with the incorporation of all 
feasible mitigation measures into the Project; and (iii) there are no other feasible mitigation 
measures or other feasible Project alternatives that would further mitigate or avoid the 
remaining significant environmental effects. The significant effects that have not been 
mitigated to a less than significant level and are therefore considered significant and 
unavoidable are: 

• Impact 4.58 – Traffic and Circulation – Cumulative Plus Project Condition: Rocklin 
Road/Interstate 80 WB and EB Ramp Intersections 

In light of the environmental, social, economic and other considerations set forth below related 
to this Project, the City chooses to approve the Project because, in its view, the economic, 
social, technological, and other benefits resulting from the Project substantially outweigh the 
Project’s significant and unavoidable adverse environmental effects. 

The following statements identify the reasons why, in the City’s judgment, the benefits of the 
Project outweigh the significant and unavoidable effects. The substantial evidence supporting 
the enumerated benefits of the Project can be found in the preceding findings, which are herein 
incorporated by reference, in the Project itself, and in the record of proceedings as defined 
herein, including the City’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. Each of the overriding 
considerations set forth below constitutes a separate and independent ground for finding that 
the benefits of the Project outweigh its significant adverse environmental effects and is an 
overriding consideration warranting approval.   

The City finds that the Project, would have the following economic, social, technological, and 
environmental benefits:   

1. Consistency with the City’s General Plan. The Project is consistent with the land use 
designation for the underlying property set forth in the City’s 2012 General Plan, as 
amended on April 16, 2013: High Density Residential. (DEIR, p. 3-5) 

 
2. Consistency with the City’s Zoning Ordinance. The Project is consistent with the zoning 

designation for the underlying property set forth in the City’s Zoning Ordinance, as 
amended on April 16, 2013: Planned Development Residential, 20 units minimum per 
acre (PD-20). (DEIR, p. 3-5) 

Packet Pg. 133

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

77 
 

 
3. Consistency with the General Plan EIR. The General Plan EIR contemplates the 

environmental impacts of implementation of the General Plan land use designations, 
goals and policies, and identifies impacts, mitigation measures and statements of 
overriding consideration. The DEIR for this Project, and these Findings, incorporate, 
either expressly or by reference, such impacts, mitigation measures and statements of 
overriding consideration. 

   
4. Compliance with the City’s Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance. The removal of those oak 

trees on site that have not been identified by the arborist as dead, diseased or dying will 
be mitigated by compliance with the City’s Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance.  

 
5. General Plan Land Use Goals and Policies. The Project is consistent with and will 

advance the City’s goals and policies for new residential developments as set forth in 
the City’s General Plan dated October, 2012, including, but not limited to, the following 
selected goals and policies of the Land Use and Open Space, Conservation and 
Recreation Elements of the General Plan (paraphrased in some instances): 

 
a. Providing for an orderly and well planned development that will enhance the 

City of Rocklin. (General Land Use Goal, General Plan, p. 2-1); 
b. Is responsive to the objective of promoting flexibility and innovation in new 

development through the use of planned unit developments and other 
innovative design and planning techniques. (LU-1, General Plan, p. 2-2); 

c. Is responsive to the objective of encouraging a variety of building sites, building 
types, and land use concepts in High Density Residential areas located along 
major streets. (LU-2, General Plan, p. 2-2) 

d. Is responsive to the objective of minimizing the adverse effects of light and glare 
on surrounding properties. (LU-4, General Plan, p. 2-2); 

e. Is consistent with the General Plan designation for the property of High Density 
Residential (HDR) and thus meets the objectives of a variety of residential land 
use designation to meet the future needs of the City (LU-12) and designated 
residential densities (LU-17(. (Policies for New residential Land Use, General 
Plan, p. 2-3); 

f. Is responsive to the objective of encouraging High Density Residential uses near 
major arterial and/or collector streets. (LU-20, General Plan, p. 2-4) 

g. Is consistent with the zoning designation for the site (Planned Development 
Residential, 20 units minimum per acre (PD-20)), which is, in turn, consistent 
with the General Plan policy of adopting zoning designations consistent with the 
General Plan. (LU-62, General Plan, p. 2-8) 
 

General Plan Open Space, Conservation and Recreation Goals and Policies. The 
Project is consistent with and will advance many of the goals and policies set forth in 
the City’s General Plan. Specifically, the Project is consistent with the goals and 

Packet Pg. 134

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

78 
 

policies of the Open Space, Conservation and Recreation Element of the General 
Plan, including, by way of example: 
 
h. The DEIR and these Findings are consistent with the policy of utilizing the 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) as the primary regulatory tool for 
identifying and mitigating, where feasible, impacts to open space and natural 
resources when reviewing proposed development projects. (OCR-5, General 
Plan, p. 2-9); 

i. The Project is consistent with the policy mitigating for the removal of oak trees 
and impacts to oak woodlands in accordance with the City’s Oak Tree 
Preservation Ordinance. (OCR-43, General Plan, p. 2-13); 

j. The Project is consistent with the policy of preserving significant archaeological 
resources and paleontological resources in place if feasible, or providing for 
mitigation prior to disturbance. (OCR-65, General Plan, p. 2-15). 
 

General Plan Circulation Element Goals and Policies. The Project is consistent with 
and will advance many of the goals and policies set forth in the City’s General Plan. 
Specifically, the Project is consistent with the goals and policies of the Circulation 
Element of the General Plan, including, by way of example: 
 
k. Is consistent with the policy of coordinating land use and transportation planning 

to support transit services, NEV facilities and non-motorized transportation. (C-2, 
General Plan, p. 2-15); 

l. The DEIR and these Findings are consistent with the policy of determining when 
improvements are needed to City streets to maintain an acceptable level of 
service. (C-7, General Plan, p. 2-15). 
 

General Plan Housing Element Goals and Policies. The Project is consistent with and 
will advance many of the goals and policies set forth in the City’s General Plan. 
Specifically, the Project is consistent with the goals and policies of the 2013-2021 
Housing Element (Housing Element) of the General Plan, including, by way of 
example: 
 
m. Facilitating the provision of a range of housing types to meet the diverse needs 

of the community. (Goal 2, Housing Element, p. 7-83) 
n. Provide quality housing opportunities for current and future residents with a 

diverse range of income levels. (Policy 2.1, Housing Element, p. 7-83) 
o. Provide expanded housing opportunities for the community’s workforce. (Policy 

2.2, Housing Element, p. 7-83) 
p. Facilitate the development of multi-family housing on vacant parcels designated 

for medium-high and high density residential uses. (Policy 3.3, Housing Element, 
p. 7-84) 

 

Packet Pg. 135

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

79 
 

6. Consistency with Smart Growth Principles. The Project is generally consistent with 
commonly accepted principles of Smart Growth supporting the development of mixed 
use and mixed income communities; supporting a range of housing types as well as 
social diversity; promoting the use of existing infrastructure investments, and 
encouraging efficient land development and proximity to activity centers. This high 
density residential project includes a range of residential unit sizes to meet the needs of 
varying household incomes and housing preferences. The Project is located adjacent to 
existing residential uses to the east and south, retail uses to the west, and a large 
community college campus to the northwest, and in the context of surrounding uses 
may be considered an infill development. The Project is located on existing community 
streets and will cause no new streets to be constructed. The proximity of the Project to 
retail, a large education campus and employment centers will encourage and 
accommodate the use of alternative modes of transportation, including bicycle and 
pedestrian modes, and encourage the reduced reliance on the automobile as a travel 
mode. The proximity to these same activity centers means the housing opportunities 
presented by the Project will be available to students and employees, including faculty. 
(American Planning Association (APA), US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA).) 

 
7.  Consistency with the SACOG Blueprint Project. The Project is generally consistent with 

the SACOG Blueprint Project and would implement several of the growth principles of 
the Preferred Scenario adopted unanimously by the SACOG Board of Directors in 
December, 2004, including, by way of example, transportation choices, compact 
development, housing choice and diversity, use of existing assets and quality design. 
(see “Blueprint Preferred Scenario” and “Blueprint growth principles,” SACOG Blueprint 
web page) The Project is also consistent with the Blueprint preferred scenario summary 
statistics for Rocklin reflecting a goal of increasing the percentage of the housing stock 
comprised of attached products. (see “Blueprint Summary Statistics, Rocklin,” SACOG 
Blueprint web page). 

 
8. Revitalize an Underutilized Area of the City. The Project will foster and facilitate the 

development of an underutilized area of the City. The underutilized site will be 
revitalized with economically beneficial uses, new buildings of quality architecture, 
landscape and hardscape design, and improved vehicular and pedestrian circulation. 

 
9. Create Employment Opportunities for Local Residents. The Project will have a positive 

impact on job creation in the City and will generate diversity in employment 
opportunities, including temporary construction jobs as well as permanent full-time and 
part-time jobs. Consequently, it is reasonably expected that the City and its residents 
will enjoy the economic and social benefits from added employment opportunities 
created by the Project.  

 
10. Contribute to and Fund Needed Infrastructure Improvements. The Project consists of 

new development that will be required to contribute to needed transportation 
infrastructure improvements by paying its fair share towards infrastructure 

Packet Pg. 136

Agenda Item #7.a.



 

80 
 

improvements. The Project will also construct or contribute to funding other 
infrastructure improvements which will benefit additional development projects and 
City residents and visitors. 

 
11. Increase Customer Base for Retail Activity. The Project will provide additional workers 

and residents to the City who will have disposable income to support the City’s retailers 
and increase retail activity. 

 
12. Generate Economic Benefits from Taxes. The Project will provide increased sales tax 

and property tax revenue to the City, local schools and other agencies. These revenues 
will benefit the City and other local governmental agencies, and their residents and 
constituencies, by providing needed revenue for the provision of required services and 
amenities. Specific to the City of Rocklin, these revenues will go to the City’s General 
Fund, which is the primary source of funding for the construction, operation and 
maintenance of a number of essential City services, programs and facilities, including 
fire and police services, recreation programs, transit operations and administrative 
functions, among other things. 

 
13. Expansion of the City’s Housing Stock. The Project will provide housing resources to 

meet the demands of a growing population of the south Placer County region, thereby 
helping to lessen upward pressure on housing costs. 

 
XVII. CONCLUSION 
 
The City has balanced these benefits and considerations against the potentially significant 
unavoidable environmental effects of the Project and has concluded that the impacts are 
outweighed by these benefits, among others. After balancing environmental impacts against 
Project benefits, the City has concluded that the benefits the City will derive from the Project, 
as compared to existing and planned future conditions, outweigh the risks. The City believes the 
Project benefits outlined above override the significant and unavoidable environmental costs 
associated with the Project. 

In sum, the City adopts the mitigation measures in the final Mitigation Monitoring Plan, and 
finds that any residual or remaining effects on the environment resulting from the Project, 
identified as significant and unavoidable in the preceding Findings of Fact, are acceptable due 
to the benefits set forth in this Statement of Overriding Considerations. 

Packet Pg. 137

Agenda Item #7.a.



PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION PC-2017- 
  

RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION 
OF THE CITY OF ROCKLIN RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF A DESIGN REVIEW AND AN 

OAK TREE PRESERVATION PLAN PERMIT 
 

(Sierra College Apartments / DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001) 
 
 The Planning Commission of the City of Rocklin does resolve as follows: 
 
 Section 1. The Planning Commission of the City of Rocklin finds and 
determines that: 
 

A. Design Review (DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001) would approve the site 
design, landscaping and architectural designs, colors and materials of a 195-unit multi-
family apartment project and the associated oak tree removal and protection on an 
approximately 10.2 gross acre/9.6 net acre site generally located at the southeast 
corner of Rocklin Road and Sierra College Boulevard (APNs 045-160-014, 045-160-015, 
and 045-160-016).   
 

B. An Environmental Impact Report has been recommended for approval 
for this project via Planning Commission Resolution No. ______ 
 
 C. The design of the site is compatible with surrounding development, 
natural features and constraints. 
 
 D. The height, bulk, area, color scheme and materials of the buildings and 
structures are compatible with surrounding development. 
 
 E. The buildings and structures have been oriented with consideration given 
to minimizing energy consumption and maximizing use of natural lighting. 
 
 F. Adverse light and glare impacts upon adjoining properties have been 
eliminated or reduced to a less than significant level by consideration and / or 
modification of the location and height of light standards, orientation of exterior lighting 
fixtures, and conditioning the project to use light fixtures that will direct light 
downward. 
 
 G. The landscaping design is compatible with surrounding development and 
has been designed with provisions for minimizing water usage and maintenance needs. 
 
 H. The design of the site and buildings or structures is consistent with the 
goals, policies, land use designations in the General Plan, and with the zoning, 
regulations, standards, and restrictions applicable to the property. 

Packet Pg. 138

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 2  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

 
 Section 2. The Design Review and Oak Tree Preservation Permit for the 
Sierra Gateway Apartments (DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001) as depicted in Exhibits A, 
B, and C, attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein, are hereby 
recommended for approval subject to the conditions listed below. The approved 
Exhibits A, B, and C shall govern the design and construction of the project. Any 
condition directly addressing an element incorporated into Exhibits A, B, and C shall be 
controlling and shall modify Exhibits A, B, and C. All other plans, specifications, details, 
and information contained within Exhibits A, B, and C shall be specifically applicable to 
the project and shall be construed as if directly stated within the conditions for 
approval. Unless otherwise expressly stated, the applicant / developer shall be solely 
responsible for satisfying each condition prior a final Building Permit Inspection or 
Issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy as applicable. The agency and / or City 
department(s) responsible for ensuring implementation of each condition is indicated in 
parenthesis with each condition. 
 
 A. Notice to Applicant of Fees & Exaction Appeal Period 
 
The conditions of project approval set forth herein include certain fees, dedication 
requirements, reservation requirements, and other exactions. Pursuant to Government 
Code §66020(d), these conditions constitute written notice of the amount of such fees, 
and a description of the dedications, reservations, and other exactions. 
 
The applicant is hereby notified that the 90-day protest period, commencing from the 
date of approval of the project, has begun. If the applicant fails to file a protest 
regarding any of the fees, dedication requirements, reservation requirements or other 
exaction contained in this notice, complying with all the requirements of Government 
Code §66020, the applicant will be legally barred from later challenging such exactions. 
 
 B. Conditions 
 
1. Utilities 

 
a. All utilities, including but not limited to water, sewer, telephone, gas, 

electricity, and conduit for cable television shall be provided to the 
project in compliance with all-applicable standards and requirements of 
the applicable provider.  (APPLICABLE UTILITY) 

 
b. The applicant shall install masonry trash enclosures with solid metal gates 

to the satisfaction of the Economic and Community Development 
Director. The location and design of trash enclosures shall provide for a 
minimum clear width and gate opening of 11 feet, a minimum interior 
depth of 14 feet to accommodate two trash bins. (RECOLOGY AUBURN 
PLACER, ENGINEERING, BUILDING, PLANNING) 

Packet Pg. 139

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 3  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

 
c.  Prior to issuance of a Building Permit, the project shall be included in the 

appropriate City Financing Districts as needed to most efficiently provide 
for public maintenance of public landscaping, improvements such as 
sound walls, and provision of new or enhanced services such as street 
lighting to the satisfaction of the City Finance Officer. (FINANCE, 
ENGINEERING, PUBLIC WORKS) 
 

2. Schools 
 
The following condition shall be satisfied to mitigate the impact of the proposed 
development on school facilities: (LOOMIS UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT, BUILDING) 
 
a. At the time of issuance of a building permit, the developer shall pay to 

the Loomis Union School District all fees required under Education Code 
section 17620 and Government Code Section 65995, to the satisfaction of 
the Loomis Union School District. 

 
b.   The above condition shall be waived by the City Council if the applicant 

and the District reach agreement to mitigate the impacts on the school 
facilities caused by the proposed development and jointly request in 
writing that the condition be waived. 

 
3. Improvements / Improvement Plans 

 
Prior to any grading, site improvements, or other construction activities 
associated with this project improvement plans shall be prepared consistent 
with the exhibits and conditions incorporated as a part of this entitlement, and 
in compliance with all applicable city standards, for the review and approval of 
the City Engineer, Public Services Director, and/or the Economic and Community 
Development Director. 
 
Improvement plans shall be valid for a period of two years from date of approval 
by the City Engineer. If substantial work has not been commenced within that 
time, or if the work is not diligently pursued to completion thereafter, the City 
Engineer may require the improvement plans to be resubmitted and/or modified 
to reflect changes in the standard specifications or other circumstances. 
 
The project improvement plans shall include the following:  (ENGINEERING, 
PUBLIC SERVICES, PLANNING) 
 
a. A detailed grading and drainage plan prepared by a registered civil 

engineer, in substantial compliance with the approved project exhibit(s).  
The grading and drainage plan shall include the following: 

Packet Pg. 140

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 4  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

 
i) Stormwater Management 
 

1.  Prior to issuance of improvement plans, to ensure 
compliance with the National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System MS4s General Permit and the 
regulations and orders of the State Water Resources 
Control Board, the applicant shall prepare and implement 
a Stormwater Management Facility Operation and 
Maintenance Plan for the on-site treatment systems and 
hydromodification controls if any, or acceptable 
alternative to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and 
Environmental Services Manager.   All specified treatment 
systems and hydromodification controls shall be privately 
owned and maintained.  (Building, Public Services) 

 
2. Prior to issuance of improvement plans (or building permit 

if no improvement plans and still applicable), unless 
waived by the City Engineer and Environmental Services 
Manager, the developer shall grant a Stormwater 
Management Compliance Easement over the project site 
to the City of Rocklin, in a form acceptable to the City 
Attorney. The Stormwater Management Compliance 
Easement shall be recorded with the County Clerk’s office 
and a copy of the recorded document shall be provided to 
the Environmental Services division. Said easement shall 
provide for the following: (City Attorney, Building, Public 
Services) 
 
A. Grant site access to City employees for the purpose 

of performing operations and maintenance 
inspections of the installed treatment system(s) 
and hydromodification control(s) (if any). 

B. Grant site access to City employees for the purpose 
of performing operations and maintenance work 
on the installed treatment system(s) and 
hydromodification control(s) (if any) in the event 
that that the Director of Public Services 
determines, based upon the inspection results, that 
said work is not being performed adequately and 
has or will compromise the system’s ability to 
function as required. 

Packet Pg. 141

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 5  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

C. A statement that the City may, at its option, cause 
the operational and maintenance responsibilities 
set forth in the Stormwater Management Facility 
Operation and Maintenance Plan to be performed 
and place a special assessment against the project 
site to recover the costs to the City in the event the 
project is not operated and maintained in accord 
with the approved Stormwater Management 
Facility Operation and Maintenance Plan.  (RMC 
§8.30.150). 

 
3. All storm drainage inlets shall be stamped with City 

Engineer approved wording indicating that dumping of 
waste is prohibited and identifying that the inlets drain 
into the creek system.  

 
4. Detaining run-off is not recommended, however the 

developer shall assess the capacity of the existing 
downstream drainage facilities to determine if mitigation 
measures are needed for controlling stormwater run-off. 
(PLACER COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT) 

 
5. Individual lot drainage management areas including 

individual drainage features, such as lined drainage swales.  
 

6. The developer shall prepare a Storm Water Pollutant 
Protection Plan (SWPPP) for review and approval by the 
State Regional Water Quality Control Board as part of the 
project’s drainage improvement plans. 

 
7. Prior to any grading or construction activities, the 

developer shall: 
  

A. Obtain a General Construction Activity Storm 
Water Permit as a part of the National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit 
process from the Regional Water Quality Control 
Board.  

 
B. Submit verification from the U.S. Army Corp of 

Engineers and the California Department of Fish 
and Wildlife that the project meets all regulations 

Packet Pg. 142

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 6  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

and that the subdivider has obtained all required 
permits relating to wetlands and waterways. 

 
b. Prior to the commencement of grading operations, and if the project site 

will not balance with respect to grading, the contractor shall identify the 
site where any excess earthen material shall be deposited. If the deposit 
site is within the City of Rocklin, the contractor shall submit a report 
issued by a technical engineer to verify that the exported materials are 
suitable for the intended fill and show proof of all approved grading 
plans. Haul routes to be used shall be specified. If the site requires 
importing of earthen material, then prior to the commencement of 
grading operations, the contractor shall identify the site where the 
imported earthen material is coming from and the contractor shall 
submit a report issued by a technical engineer to verify that the imported 
materials are suitable for the intended fill and show proof of all approved 
grading plans. Haul routes to be used shall be specified. 
 

c. If at any time during the course of grading or construction activities 
evidence of the existence of old wells, septic systems or other similar 
features is encountered, work shall be halted within 100 feet of the find 
and the City of Rocklin Engineer shall be notified. The City Engineer shall 
make a determination as to the nature of the feature (or features), the 
appropriate size for a buffer around the feature beyond which work 
could continue on the balance of the site, and which outside agencies, if 
any, should be notified and involved in addressing and/or remediation of 
the feature. At the discretion of the City Engineer and at the applicant’s 
expense, a qualified consultant(s) shall be retained to assess and 
characterize the feature and to determine appropriate remediation, if 
any. Remediation of the feature including obtaining any special permits 
and/or approvals as needed shall be completed and documented to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer and any responsible agencies, such as 
but not limited to the Placer County Department of Environmental 
Health, prior to completion of grading/construction in the affected area. 

 
d. If blasting activities are to occur in conjunction with site development, 

the contractor shall conduct the blasting activities in compliance with 
State and local regulations. The contractor shall obtain a blasting permit 
from the City of Rocklin prior to commencing any blasting activities. 
Information submitted to obtain a blasting permit shall include a 
description of the work to be accomplished and a statement of necessity 
for blasting as opposed to other methods considered, including 
avoidance of hard rock areas, safety measures to be implemented, such 
as blast blankets, and traffic groundshaking impacts. The contractor shall 
coordinate any blasting activities with police and fire departments to 

Packet Pg. 143

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 7  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

ensure proper site access control, traffic control, and public notification 
including the media and affected residents and businesses, as 
appropriate. Blasting specifications and plans shall include a schedule 
that outlines the time frame that blasting will occur to limit noise and 
traffic inconveniences. 

 
e. Prior to any grading or construction activities, the subdivider shall comply 

with the following biological resource conditions and include on the 
improvement plans as notes: (ENGINEERING, PUBLIC SERVICES) 

 
 i) Big-scale balsamroot 
 

A pre-construction botanical survey for Big-scale balsamroot shall 
be conducted by a qualified botanist during the appropriate 
blooming period (March to June) to determine presence or 
absence of this species on the project site. The applicant shall 
submit documentation of the survey for Big-scale balsamroot to 
the City’s Public Services Department.  If no Big-scale balsam root 
is found, no further mitigation is required. 
 
If the species is found, the botanist shall establish an 
approximately 10-foot buffer around the individuals and the 
project should avoid impacts to the plants. If avoidance is not 
feasible, a plan should be developed prior to the commencement 
of construction activities that includes measures for preserving 
and enhancing existing populations, creating off-site populations 
through seed collection or transplantation, and/or restoring or 
creating suitable habitat to achieve no net loss of occupied 
habitat or individuals. The plan should also include monitoring 
and reporting requirements for populations to be preserved on 
the project site or protected or enhanced off site. The plan shall 
be approved by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife 
(CDFW). {MM4.4-1 (a)} 

 
ii) Western Pond Turtles 

 
A pre-construction survey for western pond turtle shall be 
conducted by a qualified biologist within 14 days prior to start of 
any grading or construction activities to determine presence or 
absence of this species on the project site. If no western pond 
turtles are found, no further mitigation is required so long as 
construction commences within 14 days of the preconstruction 
survey and, once construction begins, it does not halt for more 
than 14 days. If western pond turtles are found, the biologist shall 

Packet Pg. 144

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 8  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

relocate the species to suitable habitat away from the 
construction zone to similar habitat outside of the construction 
footprint, but within the project area. {MM 4.4-1 (b)} 

 
iii) Nesting Raptors and Migratory Birds 

 
The applicant/developer shall attempt to time the removal of 
potential nesting habitat for raptors and migratory birds to avoid 
the nesting season (February 1 – August 31).  

 
If vegetation removal and/or project grading or construction 
activities occur during the nesting season for raptors and 
migratory birds (February 1 – August 31), the applicant/developer 
shall hire a qualified biologist approved by the City to conduct 
pre-construction surveys no more than 14 days prior to initiation 
of development activities. The survey shall cover all areas of 
suitable nesting habitat within 500 feet of project activity and 
shall be valid for one construction season. Prior to the start of 
grading or construction activities, documentation of the survey 
shall be provided to the City of Rocklin Public Services 
Department. If the survey results are negative, no further 
mitigation is required and necessary tree removal may proceed. If 
there is a break in construction activity of more than 14 days, then 
subsequent surveys shall be conducted. 

 
If the survey results are positive (active nests are found), impacts 
shall be avoided by the establishment of appropriate buffers. The 
biologist shall consult with the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife (CDFW) and the City to determine the size of an 
appropriate buffer area (CDFW guidelines recommend 
implementation of 500-foot buffers). Monitoring of the nest by a 
qualified biologist may be required if the activity has the potential 
to adversely affect an active nest. 

 
If construction activities are scheduled to occur during the non-
breeding season (September- January), a survey is not required 
and no further studies are necessary. {MM 4.4-1 (c)} 

 
iv) Waters of the U.S. 

 
Prior to any grading or construction activities, the appropriate 
Section 404 permit will need to be acquired for any project-
related impacts to waters of the U.S. Any waters of the U.S. that 
would be lost or disturbed should be replaced or rehabilitated on 

Packet Pg. 145

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 9  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

a “no-net-loss” basis in accordance with the Corps’ mitigation 
guidelines. Habitat restoration, rehabilitation, and/or replacement 
should be at a location and by methods agreeable to the Corps. In 
association with the Section 404 permit and prior to the issuance 
of improvement plans, a Section 401 water quality certification 
from the Regional Water Quality Control Board shall be obtained. 
All terms and conditions of said permits shall be complied with. 

 
If it is determined through consultation efforts between the U.S. 
Corps of Engineers and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) 
that a Biological Opinion is required, the applicant shall obtain 
one and all terms and conditions of the Biological Opinion shall be 
complied with. 

 
For potential impacts to riparian habitat, the project may be 
required to obtain a Section 1600 Streambed Alteration 
Agreement (SAA) from the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife. If it is determined that a SAA is required, the applicant 
shall obtain one and all terms and conditions of the SAA shall be 
complied with. 

 
Prior to any grading or construction activities, the applicant shall 
submit documentation to the City of Rocklin Public Services 
Department that they have obtained an Army Corps of Engineers 
Section 404 permit, a Regional Water Quality Control Board 
Section 401 water quality certification, and if applicable, a United 
States Fish and Wildlife Service Biological Opinion and a California 
Department of Fish and Wildlife Section 1600 Streambed 
Alteration Agreement. The applicant shall also demonstrate to the 
City of Rocklin Public Services Department that they have 
implemented habitat restoration, rehabilitation, and/or 
replacement as stipulated in their Section 404 permit. The 
applicant shall also demonstrate to the City of Rocklin Public 
Services Department how they have complied with the terms and 
conditions of the Section 404 permit, the Section 401 water 
quality certification, the Section 1600 Streambed Alteration 
Agreement, and if applicable, the Biological Opinion. {MM 4.4-2} 

 
f. All on-site standard improvements, including but not limited to:  
 (ENGINEERING, PUBLIC SERVICES, PLANNING) 

 
i) Paving, curbs (including concrete curbs to contain all landscape 

areas adjacent to vehicle parking areas or travel lanes), gutters, 
sidewalks, drainage improvements, irrigation improvements 

Packet Pg. 146

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 10  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

(main lines and distribution where located under paved areas), 
utility improvements, parking lot lights, fire hydrants (where 
necessary), retaining walls, fences, pilasters, enhanced pavement 
treatments, trash enclosures, etc.  

 
ii) All necessary easements for drainage, access, utilities, etc. shall be 

shown and offered for dedication (or Irrevocable Offer of 
Dedication provided) with the improvement plans. 

 
iii) To the extent possible, underground facilities such as but not 

limited to electrical, gas, water, drainage, and irrigation lines shall 
be located outside of or to the edge of areas designated for 
landscaping so as to minimize impacts to the viability of these 
areas.   

 
g. A detailed parking lot striping plan designed per City standards, which 

indicates all parking spaces, aisles, entrances, and exits. (ENGINEERING, 
PLANNING) 

 
h. The following on-site special improvements in substantial compliance 

with Exhibit A:  (ENGINEERING, PUBLIC SERVICES, PLANNING) 
 
i) Stacked block retaining walls and concrete with stone veneer 

retaining walls. 
 
ii) Sound wall extension to match existing sound wall along Water 

Lily Lane. 
 
iii) Pedestrian barrier railing/fence constructed of a low-maintenance 

and durable material such as powder-coated medium gauge, or 
better, steel or aluminum or composite wood. 

 
iv) Permanent landscape barriers shall be installed along the 

boundary between the project site and the adjacent Rocklin 
Manor Apartment property (APN 045-160-023) to provide a clear 
visual edge for maintenance purposes and a physical barrier to 
retard the spread of plants between the groomed landscaping and 
the adjacent natural vegetation. Said barrier could consist of a 
concrete mow strip, concrete curbing, or other durable method / 
material. 

 
v) A post and cable fence shall be installed along the length of the 

project site’s frontage along Sierra College Boulevard and Water 
Lily Lane at the back of sidewalk of the triangular “panhandle” 

Packet Pg. 147

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 11  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

open space area south of Water Lily Lane. Said fencing shall be 
constructed of a single steel cable strung between steel posts 
approximately four feet high spaced approximately six feet on 
center and set in concrete. The location and construction of the 
fence shall avoid damage to any oak tree roots. A gate shall be 
provided to allow utility and maintenance access.  

 
i. The following off-site improvements:  (ENGINEERING, PUBLIC SERVICES) 

 
i) Frontage improvements, including road widening and a right turn 

lane, on Sierra College Boulevard north of Water Lily Lane. 
 
ii) Frontage improvements along Sierra College Boulevard south of 

Water Lily Lane, including curb, gutter and sidewalk. 
 
iii) Frontage improvements along the south side of Water Lily Lane, 

including curb, gutter and sidewalk. 
 
iv) No parking signs along the Rocklin Road frontage. 
 

j. All rights-of-way associated with the project improvements shall be 
offered by separate instrument prior to issuance of a building permit; 
that the following shall be offered by means of an irrevocable offer of 
dedication:  Sierra College Boulevard. 

 
k. Prior to any grading or construction activities including issuance of 

improvement plans, the developer shall submit a design-level soil 
investigation for the review and approval of the City Engineer and Chief 
Building Official that evaluates soil and rock conditions, particularly the 
potential for expansive soils. The professional engineer that prepared the 
soil investigation shall recommend appropriate roadway construction and 
foundation techniques and other best practices that are to be 
implemented by the project during construction. These techniques and 
practices shall address expansive soils or other geological concerns 
requiring remediation, including but not limited to: 

 
• Recommendations for building pad and footing construction; 
• Use of soil stabilizers or other additives; and 
• Recommendations for surface drainage. 

 
l. Provisions for dust control, re-vegetation of disturbed areas, and erosion 

control, in conformance with the requirements of the City of Rocklin, 
including but not limited to the following which shall be included in the 
project notes on the improvement plans: 

Packet Pg. 148

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 12  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

 
i) The prime contractor shall submit to the District a comprehensive 

inventory (e.g., make, model, year, emission rating) of all the 
heavy-duty off-road equipment (50 horsepower or greater) that 
will be used in aggregate of 40 or more hours for the construction 
project.  If any new equipment is added after submission of the 
inventory, the prime contractor shall contact the District prior to 
the new equipment being utilized. At least three business days 
prior to the use of subject heavy-duty off-road equipment, the 
project representative shall provide the District with the 
anticipated construction timeline including start date, name, and 
phone number of the property owner, project manager, and on-
site foreman. 

 
ii) During construction the contractor shall utilize existing power 

sources (e.g., power poles) or clean fuel (e.g., gasoline, biodiesel, 
natural gas) generators to minimize the use of temporary diesel 
power generators. 

 
iii) During construction, the contractor shall minimize idling time to a 

maximum of 5 minutes for all diesel powered equipment. 
 
iv) Traffic speeds on all unpaved road surfaces shall be posted at 15 

mph or less. 
 
v) All grading operations shall be suspended when fugitive dust 

emissions exceed District Rule 228-Fugitive Dust limitations.  The 
prime contractor shall be responsible for having an individual who 
is CARB-certified to perform Visible Emissions Evaluations (VEE).  
This individual shall evaluate compliance with Rule 228 on a 
weekly basis. 

 
vi) Fugitive dust emissions shall not exceed 40% opacity and shall not 

go beyond the property boundary at any time. If lime or other 
drying agents are utilized to dry out wet grading areas, the 
developer shall ensure such agents are controlled so as not to 
exceed District Rule 228-Fugitive Dust limitations. 

 
vii) The prime contractor shall be responsible for keeping adjacent 

public thoroughfares clean of silt, dirt, mud, and debris, and shall 
“wet broom” the streets (or use another method to control dust 
as approved by the individual jurisdiction) if silt, dirt mud or 
debris is carried over to adjacent public thoroughfares. 

 

Packet Pg. 149

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 13  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

viii) The prime contractor shall suspend all grading operations when 
wind speeds (including instantaneous gusts) are excessive and 
dust is impacting adjacent properties. 

 
ix) The contractor shall apply water or use other method to control 

dust impacts offsite.  Construction vehicles leaving the site shall 
be cleaned to prevent dust, silt, mud, and dirt from being released 
or tracked off-site. 

 
x) All construction equipment shall be maintained in clean condition. 
 
xi) Chemical soil stabilizers, vegetative mats, or other appropriate 

best management practices, in accordance with manufacturers’ 
specifications, shall be applied to all-inactive construction areas 
(previously graded areas which remain inactive for 96 hours). 

 
xii) All exposed surfaces shall be revegetated as quickly as feasible. 
 
xiii) If fill dirt is brought to or exported from the construction site, 

tarps or soil stabilizers shall be placed on the dirt piles to minimize 
dust problems. 

 
xiv) Water shall be applied to control fugitive dust, as needed, to 

prevent impacts offsite. Operational water trucks shall be onsite 
to control fugitive dust. Construction vehicles leaving the site shall 
be cleaned to prevent dust, silt, mud, and dirt from being released 
or tracked off-site. 

 
xv) Processes that discharge 2 pounds per day or more of air 

contaminants, as defined by California State Health and Safety 
Code Section 39013, to the atmosphere may require a permit.  
Developers / Contractors should contact the PCAPCD prior to 
construction or use of equipment and obtain any necessary 
permits. 

 
xvi) In order to minimize wind driven dust during construction, the 

prime contractor shall apply methods such as surface 
stabilization, establishment of a vegetative cover, paving, or use 
another method to control dust as approved by the City.  

 
xvii) Construction equipment exhaust emissions shall not exceed 

Placer County APCD Rule 202 Visible Emission limitations.  
Operators of vehicles and equipment found to exceed opacity 

Packet Pg. 150

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 14  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

limits are to be immediately notified by APCD to cease operations 
and the equipment must be repaired within 72 hours. 

 
xviii) Open burning of any kind shall be prohibited.  All removed 

vegetative material shall be either chipped on site or taken to an 
appropriate recycling site, or if a site is not available, a licensed 
disposal site. 

 
xix) Any diesel powered equipment used during project construction 

shall be Air Resources Board (ARB) certified. 
 

m. The developer shall comply with the following cultural resource condition 
which shall be included as project notes on the improvement plans:  
{MM V.-1} (ENGINEERING, PUBLIC SERVICES) 

 
If an inadvertent discovery of cultural materials (e.g., unusual amounts of 
shell, charcoal, animal bone, bottle glass, ceramics, burned soil, 
structure/building remains) is made during project-related construction 
activities, ground disturbances in the area of the find shall be halted and 
a qualified professional archaeologist, the City’s Environmental Services 
Manager and the Native American Heritage Commission shall be notified 
regarding the discovery. The archaeologist shall determine whether the 
resource is potentially significant as per CEQA (i.e., whether it is a 
historical resource, a unique archaeological resource, or a unique 
paleontological resource) and shall develop specific measures to ensure 
preservation of the resource or to mitigate impacts to the resource if it 
cannot feasibly be preserved in light of costs, logistics, technological 
considerations, the location of the find, and the extent to which 
avoidance and/or preservation of the find is consistent or inconsistent 
with the design and objectives of the project. Specific measures for 
significant or potentially significant resources would include, but are not 
necessarily limited to, preservation in place, in-field documentation, 
archival research, subsurface testing, and excavation. The specific type of 
measure necessary would be determined according to evidence 
indicating degrees of resource integrity, spatial and temporal extent, and 
cultural associations, and would be developed in a manner consistent 
with CEQA guidelines for preserving or otherwise mitigating impacts to 
archaeological and cultural artifacts.  
 
In the event of the inadvertent discovery or recognition of any human 
remains, there shall be no further excavation or disturbance of the site or 
any nearby area reasonably suspected to overlie adjacent human 
remains, until compliance with the provisions of Sections 15064.5 (e) (1) 
and (2) of the CEQA Guidelines, as well as Public Resources Code Section 

Packet Pg. 151

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 15  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

5097.98, has occurred. If any human remains are discovered, all work 
shall stop in the immediate vicinity of the find and the County Coroner 
shall be notified, according to Section 7050.5 of the California Health and 
Safety Code. The City’s Environmental Services Manager shall also be 
notified. If the remains are Native American, the Coroner will notify the 
Native American Heritage Commission, which in turn will inform a most 
likely descendant. The descendant will then recommend to the 
landowner appropriate disposition of the remains and any grave goods, 
and the landowner shall comply with the requirements of AB2641 (2006).  
 

4. Improvements in the Public Right-of-Way 
 
The applicant shall obtain an encroachment permit for all improvements within 
the public right-of-way.  Applicant shall post a performance bond and labor and 
materials payment bond (or other equivalent financial security) in the amount of 
100% of the cost of the improvements to be constructed in the public right-of-
way as improvement security to ensure the faithful performance of all duties and 
obligations required of applicant in the construction of the improvements.  Such 
improvement security shall be in a form acceptable to the City Attorney.  Such 
security shall be either a corporate surety bond, a letter of credit, or other 
instrument of credit issued by a banking institution subject to regulation by the 
State or Federal government and pledging that the funds necessary to carry out 
this Agreement are on deposit and guaranteed for payment, or a cash deposit 
made either directly with the City or deposited with a recognized escrow agent 
for the benefit of the City. (PUBLIC WORKS) 
 

5. Oak Tree Protection and Removal 
 
Prior to the issuance of improvement plans or grading permits, the developer 
shall: {MM 4.4.-4} (ENGINEERING, PLANNING) 
 
 a. Clearly indicate on the construction documents that oak trees not 

scheduled for removal will be protected from construction activities in 
compliance with the pertinent sections of the City of Rocklin Oak Tree 
Preservation Ordinance. 

 
b. Mitigate for the removal of oak trees on the project site consistent with 

the requirements of the City’s Oak Tree Preservation Ordinance (Rocklin 
Municipal Code Section 17.77.080.B). The required mitigation shall be 
calculated using the formula provided in the Oak Tree Preservation 
Ordinance and to that end the project arborist shall provide the following 
information:  

 
• The total number of surveyed oak trees; 

Packet Pg. 152

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 16  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

• The total number of oak trees to be removed; 
• The total number of oak trees to be removed that are to be 

removed because they are sick or dying, and  
• The total, in inches, of the trunk diameters at breast height 

(TDBH) of all surveyed oak trees on the site in each of these 
categories.  

 
c. The protection of oak trees not scheduled for removal shall comply with 

the pertinent sections of the City’s Oak Tree Protection Guidelines.  
 

6. Landscaping 
 
a. Final landscape plans shall be provided by the developer and approved by 

the Director of Economic and Community Development. The landscape 
plans shall comply with the following requirements: (PLANNING) 
 
i) The landscaping plan shall be prepared by a landscape architect 

and shall include: 
 

1. A legend of the common and botanical names of specific 
plant materials to be used. The legend should indicate the 
size of plant materials. 

 
A. Shrubs shall be a minimum five (5) gallon container 

size. 
 
B. Trees a minimum of fifteen (15) gallon container 

size and meet the minimum height specified by the 
American Standards for Nursery Stock.  

 
2. A section diagram of proposed tree staking. 
 
3. An irrigation plan including an automatic irrigation system.  

The plan shall include drip irrigation wherever possible. 
 
4. Berming of landscape strips along the public right-of-way 

and the installation of shrubs to screen the undercarriages 
of vehicles as viewed from off-site. 

 
5. Provision for the shading of the parking lot spaces by 

shade trees of appropriate size(s) and characteristic(s) in 
locations to achieve 50% shading oat maturity (15 years). 

 

Packet Pg. 153

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 17  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

6. Use of granite or moss rock boulders, unfinished granite 
slabs, or an approved equal accent feature in the planting 
areas along the Sierra College Boulevard and Rocklin Road 
frontages. 

 
ii) The plan shall be certified by the landscape architect that the 

landscape plan meets the requirements of the water Conservation 
and Landscaping Act. Government Code §65591, et seq. 

 
b. The parking lot lighting plan shall be designed to accommodate shade 

trees and provide for illumination of the parking areas. Light standards 
and underground utilities shall be located such that required parking lot 
shade trees can still be planted. (ENGINEERING, BUILDING, PLANNING) 

 
c. All landscaping shall be installed and the landscape architect shall certify, 

in writing, that the landscaping and irrigation system have been installed 
in full compliance with the approved plans prior to issuance of a 
Certificate of Occupancy. (PLANNING) 

 
d. Prior to building permit issuance the applicant shall revise the project 

landscape plans to provide heavy screening of the stacked block retaining 
wall along Sierra College Boulevard, with both vertical and horizontal 
plant elements. (PLANNING) 

 
7. Landscaping Maintenance Agreement 

 
Prior to issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, the property owner shall enter 
into an agreement with the City of Rocklin providing for the maintenance of the 
landscaping and irrigation within the public rights-of-way along Sierra College 
Boulevard and Rocklin Road. The agreement shall stipulate that the property 
owner shall maintain the irrigation system and all plant materials. The 
agreement shall also indemnify the City against claims arising from developer’s 
activities and shall be recorded and binding on successors in interest of the 
developer. (ENGINEERING / PUBLIC WORKS) 
 

8. Lighting 
 
All exterior lighting shall be designed and installed to avoid adverse glare on 
adjacent properties. Decorative cut-off type lighting fixtures, or equivalent, shall 
be used and mounted such that all light is projected directly toward the ground.  
Light poles shall be a maximum of 20 feet in height as measured from grade to 
the top of the light. The lighting design plan shall be approved by the Economic 
and Community Development Director for compliance with this condition. 
(PLANNING) 

Packet Pg. 154

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 18  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

9. Signs 
 
All signs shall conform to the Sign Ordinance of the City of Rocklin and the sign 
design(s) and location(s) as shown on Exhibit A, except as modified herein. 
(PLANNING) 
 
a. All monument signs shall be located outside of any public utility 

easements. 
 
b. Prior to building permit issuance the freestanding entry sign shall be 

modified to include the project site address, to the satisfaction of the 
Economic and Community Development Director and Fire Chief. 

 
10. Screening of Mechanical Equipment 

 
a. All mechanical equipment, whether ground- or roof-mounted, shall be 

screened from view from all public rights-of-way to the satisfaction of the 
Economic and Community Development Director. The design of the 
screening shall be in harmony with the architectural design of the 
building. (PLANNING) 

 
b. The appearance of large utility features such as double detector check 

valves shall be minimized through the use of utility blankets or other 
acceptable screening methods. The developer shall also demonstrate 
that these facilities have been moved as far as possible from the public 
right-of-way. (PLANNING) 

 
11.       Security  

 
Prior to building permit issuance the applicant shall prepare a security plan for 
review by the Rocklin Police Department, and shall provide the Rocklin Police 
Department with the name(s) and telephone number(s) of a responsible party to 
contact.  (POLICE) 
 

12. Outdoor Storage 
 
All incidental and miscellaneous outdoor storage areas shall be completely 
screened from public view by a decorative masonry or concrete wall or approved 
equal.  All gates shall be solid and view obstructing, constructed of metal or 
other durable and sturdy materials acceptable to the Economic and Community 
Development Director. (PLANNING) 

Packet Pg. 155

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 19  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

13. Maintenance  
 
a. The property owner shall remove within 72 hours all graffiti placed on 

any fence, wall, existing building, paved area or structure on the property 
consistent with the provisions of Rocklin Municipal Code Section 9.32.  
Prior to removal of said graffiti, the property owner shall report the 
graffiti vandalism to the Rocklin Police Department. (PLANNING, POLICE) 

 
b. The project, including but not limited to paving, landscaping, structures, 

and improvements shall be maintained by the property owners, to the 
standard of similarly situated properties in equivalent use zones, to the 
satisfaction of the Economic and Community Development Director. 
(PLANNING) 

 
14. Parks 

 
a. Park fees shall be paid as required by Rocklin Municipal Code Chapter 

17.71 and Chapter 16.28. The amount of the fee per multifamily unit is 
currently $1,648.00. (BUILDING) 

 
b. Community Park fees shall be paid as required by City Council Resolution 

#99-82. The amount of the fee per dwelling unit is currently $569.00. 
(BUILDING) 

 
15. Riparian Area and Creek Protection 

 
An open space easement (as described in Government Code section 51070, et 
seq.) shall be recorded to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and shall be over 
that portion of the project site described as follows for purposes of riparian area 
and creek protection: (PLANNING, ENGINEERING) 
 
Those portions of Assessor’s Parcel Number 045-161-014 and 045-161-015 that 
are south of the existing access easement/roadway, Water Lily Lane. 
 
a. The easement shall be in substantial compliance with the City's form 

Grant Of Open Space Easement, and shall prohibit, among other things, 
grading, removal of native vegetation, deposit of any type of debris, lawn 
clippings, chemicals, or trash, and the building of any structures, 
including fencing; provided, that native vegetation may be removed as 
necessary for flood control and protection pursuant to a permit issued by 
the California Department of Fish and Game. 

 
b. The open space area shall be marked in the field with a concrete post and 

steel cable fence consistent with Condition B.4.d.v). 

Packet Pg. 156

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 20  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

 
16. Reciprocal Easements 

 
If needed to accommodate the revised circulation and continue to provide 
access to the Rocklin Manor Apartments (APN 045-160-023) and the project 
(APN 045-160-014, 045-160-015, and 045-160-016), the existing reciprocal 
access easement, or a legal equivalent in a form acceptable to the City Attorney, 
shall be modified. The easement or legal equivalent shall be recorded prior to 
the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the first building of this project. 
(CITY ATTORNEY, ENGINEERING, BUILDING) 
 

17. Air Quality 
 
a. Electrical outlets shall be installed in the exterior walls of the building(s) 

in this project to promote the use of electrical landscaping equipment. 
(BULDING, PLANNING) 

 
b. Low nitrous oxide (NOx) natural gas hot water heaters shall be installed if 

gas hot water heaters are to be used in this project. (BUILDING, 
PLANNING) 

 
c. Prior to the start of any grading or construction activity, the project 

applicant shall include the following standard notes on all Improvement 
and Building Plans approved in association with this project and shall 
implement the notes during all grading and construction activities: 
{MM 4.3-2 (a)} (BUILDING, ENGINEERING, PLANNING) 
 
i) No wood burning fireplaces/hearths shall be allowed. Only natural 

gas or propane fired fireplace appliances are permitted. These 
appliances shall be clearly delineated on the Building Plans 
submitted in conjunction with the Building Permit application. 
(Based on PCAPCD Rule 225, section 302.2). 
 

ii) Install Energy Efficient (Energy Star rated) appliances, including 
fans, refrigeration, and clothes washers and dryers in all of the 
apartment units. 

 
iii) Install a total of eight electric vehicle charging stations within the 

project site. The location of all eight charging stations shall be 
identified on maps provided to the City of Rocklin. In year one, all 
eight locations shall have conduit installed and available for 
installation of the charging stations. Additionally, in year one, four 
electric vehicle charging stations shall be fully connected and 
actively available to residents. At the end of year one, the 

Packet Pg. 157

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 21  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

applicant shall evaluate the demand for the four active charging 
stations and determine whether additional charging stations are 
warranted based on the demand by the residents.  The evaluation 
shall continue annually until all eight charging stations are fully 
installed and active. The demand evaluation shall be based on a 
combination of physical observations, electric usage (i.e., bills) 
and resident surveys. The annual demand evaluations shall be 
provided to the City of Rocklin until such time that all eight 
charging stations are fully installed and active. 

 
iv) Low Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) paint shall be utilized for 

both the interiors and exteriors of the buildings.  To limit the 
quantity of VOCs in architectural coatings supplied, sold, offered 
for sale, applied, solicited for application, or manufactured for use 
within the PCAPCD boundaries, all projects must comply with 
PCAPCD Rule 218. (Based on PCAPCD Rule 218). 

 
d. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the project applicant 

shall provide certification from a sustainability energy consultant that 
Energy Star rated fans, refrigerators, and clothes washers and dryers 
have been installed in all of the apartment units. {MM 4.3-2 (b)} 
(BUILDING, PLANNING) 

 
18. Noise 

 
a. All “self-powered” construction equipment and stationary noise sources 

(i.e. pumps, electrical generators, etc.) shall be equipped with noise 
control devices (e.g., mufflers). (ENGINEERING, BUILDING) 

 
b. Equipment “warm-up” areas, water storage tanks, equipment storage 

areas, and stationary noise-generating machinery (i.e. pumps, electrical 
generators, etc.) shall be located away from existing residences and other 
sensitive noise receptors to the extent feasible. (ENGINEERING, 
BUILDING) 

 
c. All phases of project development shall be subject to the City of Rocklin 

Construction Noise Guidelines, including restricting construction-related 
noise generating activities within or near residential areas to between 
7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. on weekdays, and between 8:00 a.m. and 7:00 
p.m. on weekends.  The Economic and Community Development Director 
may grant exceptions to the Construction Noise Guidelines if, in the 
opinion of the Economic and Community Development Director, special 
and unusual circumstances exist that make strict adherence to the 
Construction Noise Guidelines infeasible. (ENGINEERING, BUILDING)  

Packet Pg. 158

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 22  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

 
19. Special 
 

a. Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall demonstrate 
on their building plans that the 2nd and 3rd floor windows of the first 
row of buildings facing Sierra College Boulevard are fitted with windows 
with a minimum STC rating of 32 (this only applies to the building facades 
which are parallel to Sierra College Boulevard). Alternatively, once 
construction plans, floor plans and building elevations are available the 
applicant can have a professional acoustical engineer calculate interior 
noise levels and submit a report to the City demonstrating compliance 
with the City’s interior noise level standard. {MM XII.-1} (BUILDING)  

 
b. Prior to the issuance of Building Permits, the applicant shall pay the 

appropriate Traffic Impact Mitigation (TIM), South Placer Regional 
Transportation Authority (SPRTA) and Highway 65 Interchange 
Improvement fees. {MM 4.5-8} (BUILDING) 

 
c. If requested by the homeowners association (HOA) for the Hidden Creek 

subdivision, the developer shall work with the HOA to plant additional 
trees within the landscape area between the existing sound wall and 
Water Lily Lane. Subject to HOA approval or acceptance and prior to 
planting the trees, the developer shall submit final planting plans to the 
City for review and approval by the Economic and Community 
Development Director. This condition may be satisfied in advance of 
processing the improvement plans or building permits for the project. 
(PLANNING)    

 
c. The developer shall work with the owner of Rocklin Manor Apartments to 

remove existing turf and plant trees on the property. Subject to Rocklin 
Manor Apartments owner approval or acceptance and prior to 
commencing the work, the developer shall submit final planting plans to 
the City for review and approval by the Economic and Community 
Development Director. This condition may be satisfied in advance of 
processing the improvement plans or building permits for the project. 
(PLANNING) 

 
d. The developer shall work with staff to revise the architecture consistent 

with the direction of the Planning Commission to provide, if needed, 
further revisions to the buildings, to the satisfaction of the Community 
Development Director. 

Packet Pg. 159

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 23  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

20. Monitoring 
 
Prior to any grading on the property, the developer shall deposit with the City of 
Rocklin the current fee to pay for the City’s time and material cost to administer 
the Mitigation Monitoring Program. The Economic and Community Development 
Director shall determine if and when additional deposits must be paid for 
administering the Mitigation Monitoring Program, including additional deposits 
on subsequent phases of construction. These amounts shall be paid prior to 
construction for additional phases on this project. (ENGINEERING, PUBLIC 
WORKS, BUIDLING, PLANNING) 
 

21. Indemnification and Duty to Defend 
Within 15 days of approval of the design review by the City, the developer shall 
execute an Indemnity Agreement, approved by the City Attorney’s Office, to 
indemnify, defend, reimburse, and hold harmless the City of Rocklin and its 
agents, officers and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding against the 
City of Rocklin to set aside, void or annul an approval of the design review by the 
City’s planning commission or City Council. The City will promptly notify the 
developer of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City will cooperate in 
the defense of the claim, action or proceeding. Unless waived by the City, no 
further processing, permitting, implementation, plan checking or inspections 
related to the design review shall be performed by the City if the Indemnity 
Agreement has not been fully executed.  (CITY ATTORNEY) 

 
22. Validity 

 
This entitlement shall expire two years from the date of approval unless prior to 
that date a building permit has been issued or a time extension has been 
granted. (PLANNING) 

Packet Pg. 160

Agenda Item #7.b.



Page 24  
Reso. No. PC-2017- 

 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of November, 2017, by the following roll call 
vote: 
 
AYES:  Commissioners: 
 
NOES:  Commissioners: 
 
ABSENT: Commissioners: 
 
ABSTAIN: Commissioners: 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Secretary 
 
P:\PUBLIC PLANNING FILES\__ PROJECT FILES\Sierra Gateway Apts (Sierra College Apts II)\Meeting Packets\PC 11-7-
17\04 Sierra Gateway Apts PC Reso (DR2015-0018 TRE2016-0001) 11-7-17 - final.doc 
 
 

Packet Pg. 161

Agenda Item #7.b.



 

Page 1 of Exhibit A 
to Reso. No.  

EXHIBIT A 
 

DR2014-0007 / TRE2014-0006 
 
 

Available at the Economic and Community Development Department, Planning Division 
 
 

Packet Pg. 162

Agenda Item #7.b.



P
acket P

g. 1
6

3

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.

stemple
A

stemple
Typewritten Text
DR2015-0018, TRE2016-0001



P
acket P

g. 1
6

4

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
6

5

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
6

6

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
6

7

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
6

8

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
6

9

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

0

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

1

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

2

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

3

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

4

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

5

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

6

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

7

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

8

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
7

9

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
8

0

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



 

Page 1 of Exhibit B 
to Reso. No.  

 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

DR2014-0007 / TRE2014-0006 
 

Available at the Economic and Community Development Department, Planning Division 
 

Packet Pg. 181

Agenda Item #7.b.



P
acket P

g. 1
8

2

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.

stemple
B

stemple
Typewritten Text
DR2015-0018, TRE2016-0001



P
acket P

g. 1
8

3

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
8

4

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



Previous brick locations
Added brick locations

P
acket P

g. 1
8

5

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
8

6

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
8

7

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
8

8

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
8

9

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

2
A-A.30.1

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT*

F.F.

925901

930 802 910.1 910.2

910.4

910.2 510

F.F.

F.F.

LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

2
A-A.30.1

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT*

F.F.

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

930 910.2910.3902510 802

902.4 925901 902

F.F.

F.F.

902.4902.4902.4 910.4902 902

5 10 20

NOTE:
*PER ROCKLIN ROAD EAST OF I-80 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BUILDING HEIGHT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE,
DEFINITION OF HEIGHT OF BUILDING) IS 35’ MEASURED FROM THE REFERENCE DATUM TO THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF AND
THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF STORIES IS (3). THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF FOR THIS PROJECT IS 34’ – 10” (MEASURED TO THE
MIDDLE OF HIPPED ROOF, PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE) ABOVE THE REFERENCE DATUM. BUILDING TYPE A AND B ARE (3) STORIES. BUILDING
TYPE C AND E ARE (3) STORIES WITH BASEMENT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE DEFINITION OF BASEMENT, STORY, AND STORY, FIRST. THE FIRST
STORY IS THE LOWEST STORY WHERE THE FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL DIRECTLY ABOVE A USABLE SPACE IS MORE THAN 6’ ABOVE GRADE FOR MORE
THAN 50% OF THE TOTAL PERIMETER). BUILDING TYPE D AND F (CLUB HOUSE) ARE (2) STORIES.

JOB NO.

DATE

SCALE

REVISIONS

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

THIS DOCUMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION PROPRIETARY TO MVE & PARTNERS INC.

AND IS FURNISHED IN CONFIDENCE FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSE OF EVALUATION,

BIDDING OR REVIEW. THIS DOCUMENT OR ITS CONTENTS MAY NOT BE USED FOR ANY

OTHER PURPOSE AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR DISCLOSED TO OTHERS

WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF MVE & PARTNERS INC. ALL RIGHTS

RESERVED, © COPYRIGHT 2014.

T
E

L
E

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(8
1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
0
0
 F

A
X

: 
(8

1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
3
6

2
3
6
2
2
 C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
 R

O
A

D
, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

0
0
, 
C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
, 
C

A
 9

1
3
0
2

R
O

C
K

L
IN

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

, 
L

L
C

A1 A2

B3

B4

E5

D6

D6

D7

D7

C9

A8

F

 3/16" = 1'-0"

10/25/2017 17:47:33

2013-10152

1/31/2017A-A.20.1

BUILDING A
ELEVATIONS

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

S
 D

E
S

IG
N

S
IE

R
R

A
 G

A
T

E
W

A
Y

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

R
o

c
k
li
n

 R
d

 &
 S

ie
rr

a
 C

o
ll
e
g

e
 B

lv
d

 3/16" = 1'-0" 1BUILDING A NORTH ELEVATION

 3/16" = 1'-0" 2BUILDING A SOUTH ELEVATION

510 METAL RAILING TYPE PER ELEVATION TAG, FOR DETAILS SEE SHEET 11/A-45.2 RAILING
DETAILS

802 VINYL WINDOW PLY GEM, EARTHTONE

901 ARTISAN V-RUSTIC HARDIE BOARD, COLOR DE6062, TEA BAG

902 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DET 453, MAJOLICA EARTHENWARE

902.4 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

910.1 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 725, WEATHERED CORAL

910.2 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DE 6169, MILK MUSTACHE

910.3 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 773, HEATHER

910.4 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

925 BRICK VENEER, CORONADO STONE PRODUCTS, WIRECUT BRICK, LA JOLLA BRICK

930 ROOF SHINGLE TIMBERLINE ULTRA HD, MISSION BROWN

1

2

**BUILDING (2) ELEVATION ILLUSTRATED. BUILDING (1) PLAN IS MIRRORED FROM BUILDING (2). BUILDING (8) PLAN IS
IDENTICAL TO BUILDING (1) EXCEPT BRICK VENEER (KEYNOTE 925) WILL BE REPLACED WITH STUCCO (KEYNOTE 902).

DESCRIPTION DATE

P
acket P

g. 1
9

0

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

1
A-A.30.1

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

F.F.

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

930 910.1 910.2 910.3 901802 910.2510

902925

F.F.

F.F.

902

LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

1
A-A.30.1

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

F.F.

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

910.1 802 930 510 910.2

910.2 910.4

910.3901

925

F.F.

F.F.

925910.4802

5 10 20

NOTE:
*PER ROCKLIN ROAD EAST OF I-80 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BUILDING HEIGHT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE,
DEFINITION OF HEIGHT OF BUILDING) IS 35’ MEASURED FROM THE REFERENCE DATUM TO THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF AND
THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF STORIES IS (3). THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF FOR THIS PROJECT IS 34’ – 10” (MEASURED TO THE
MIDDLE OF HIPPED ROOF, PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE) ABOVE THE REFERENCE DATUM. BUILDING TYPE A AND B ARE (3) STORIES. BUILDING
TYPE C AND E ARE (3) STORIES WITH BASEMENT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE DEFINITION OF BASEMENT, STORY, AND STORY, FIRST. THE FIRST
STORY IS THE LOWEST STORY WHERE THE FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL DIRECTLY ABOVE A USABLE SPACE IS MORE THAN 6’ ABOVE GRADE FOR MORE
THAN 50% OF THE TOTAL PERIMETER). BUILDING TYPE D AND F (CLUB HOUSE) ARE (2) STORIES.

JOB NO.

DATE

SCALE

REVISIONS

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

THIS DOCUMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION PROPRIETARY TO MVE & PARTNERS INC.

AND IS FURNISHED IN CONFIDENCE FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSE OF EVALUATION,

BIDDING OR REVIEW. THIS DOCUMENT OR ITS CONTENTS MAY NOT BE USED FOR ANY

OTHER PURPOSE AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR DISCLOSED TO OTHERS

WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF MVE & PARTNERS INC. ALL RIGHTS

RESERVED, © COPYRIGHT 2014.

T
E

L
E

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(8
1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
0
0
 F

A
X

: 
(8

1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
3
6

2
3
6
2
2
 C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
 R

O
A

D
, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

0
0
, 
C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
, 
C

A
 9

1
3
0
2

R
O

C
K

L
IN

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

, 
L

L
C

A1 A2

B3

B4

E5

D6

D6

D7

D7

C9

A8

F

 3/16" = 1'-0"

10/25/2017 17:47:52

2013-10152

1/31/2017A-A.20.2

BUILDING A
ELEVATIONS

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

S
 D

E
S

IG
N

S
IE

R
R

A
 G

A
T

E
W

A
Y

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

R
o

c
k
li
n

 R
d

 &
 S

ie
rr

a
 C

o
ll
e
g

e
 B

lv
d

 3/16" = 1'-0" 3BUILDING A WEST ELEVATION

 3/16" = 1'-0" 4BUILDING A EAST ELEVATION

43

**BUILDING (2) ELEVATION ILLUSTRATED. BUILDING (1) PLAN IS MIRRORED FROM BUILDING (2). BUILDING (8) PLAN IS
IDENTICAL TO BUILDING (1) EXCEPT BRICK VENEER (KEYNOTE 925) WILL BE REPLACED WITH STUCCO (KEYNOTE 902).

DESCRIPTION DATE

510 METAL RAILING TYPE PER ELEVATION TAG, FOR DETAILS SEE SHEET 11/A-45.2 RAILING
DETAILS

802 VINYL WINDOW PLY GEM, EARTHTONE

901 ARTISAN V-RUSTIC HARDIE BOARD, COLOR DE6062, TEA BAG

902 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DET 453, MAJOLICA EARTHENWARE

910.1 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 725, WEATHERED CORAL

910.2 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DE 6169, MILK MUSTACHE

910.3 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 773, HEATHER

910.4 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

925 BRICK VENEER, CORONADO STONE PRODUCTS, WIRECUT BRICK, LA JOLLA BRICK

930 ROOF SHINGLE TIMBERLINE ULTRA HD, MISSION BROWN

P
acket P

g. 1
9

1

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
9

2

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
9

3

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
9

4

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
9

5

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
9

6

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

2
A-B.30.2

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

910.2 910.1 901802510

925925902.4

F.F.

F.F.

902.4 902902 802 902.4 901

LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

2
A-B.30.2

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

930 910.2901 910.3

925925

510 910.2802

902.4

F.F.

F.F.

902.4

910.3

925902.4 902.4902.4910.4 902902 902

5 10 20

NOTE:
*PER ROCKLIN ROAD EAST OF I-80 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BUILDING HEIGHT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE,
DEFINITION OF HEIGHT OF BUILDING) IS 35’ MEASURED FROM THE REFERENCE DATUM TO THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF AND
THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF STORIES IS (3). THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF FOR THIS PROJECT IS 34’ – 10” (MEASURED TO THE
MIDDLE OF HIPPED ROOF, PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE) ABOVE THE REFERENCE DATUM. BUILDING TYPE A AND B ARE (3) STORIES. BUILDING
TYPE C AND E ARE (3) STORIES WITH BASEMENT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE DEFINITION OF BASEMENT, STORY, AND STORY, FIRST. THE FIRST
STORY IS THE LOWEST STORY WHERE THE FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL DIRECTLY ABOVE A USABLE SPACE IS MORE THAN 6’ ABOVE GRADE FOR MORE
THAN 50% OF THE TOTAL PERIMETER). BUILDING TYPE D AND F (CLUB HOUSE) ARE (2) STORIES.

JOB NO.

DATE

SCALE

REVISIONS

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

THIS DOCUMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION PROPRIETARY TO MVE & PARTNERS INC.

AND IS FURNISHED IN CONFIDENCE FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSE OF EVALUATION,

BIDDING OR REVIEW. THIS DOCUMENT OR ITS CONTENTS MAY NOT BE USED FOR ANY

OTHER PURPOSE AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR DISCLOSED TO OTHERS

WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF MVE & PARTNERS INC. ALL RIGHTS

RESERVED, © COPYRIGHT 2014.

T
E

L
E

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(8
1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
0
0
 F

A
X

: 
(8

1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
3
6

2
3
6
2
2
 C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
 R

O
A

D
, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

0
0
, 
C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
, 
C

A
 9

1
3
0
2

R
O

C
K

L
IN

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

, 
L

L
C

A1 A2

B3

B4

E5

D6

D6

D7

D7

C9

A8

F

 3/16" = 1'-0"

10/25/2017 17:48:03

2013-10152

1/31/2017A-B.20.1

BUILDING B
ELEVATIONS

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

S
 D

E
S

IG
N

S
IE

R
R

A
 G

A
T

E
W

A
Y

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

R
o

c
k
li
n

 R
d

 &
 S

ie
rr

a
 C

o
ll
e
g

e
 B

lv
d

 3/16" = 1'-0" 1BUILDING B NORTH ELEVATION

 3/16" = 1'-0" 2BUILDING B SOUTH ELEVATION

1

2

**BUILDING (4) ELEVATION ILLUSTRATED. BUILDING (3) PLAN IS MIRRORED FROM BUILDING (4).

DESCRIPTION DATE

510 METAL RAILING TYPE PER ELEVATION TAG, FOR DETAILS SEE SHEET 11/A-45.2 RAILING
DETAILS

802 VINYL WINDOW PLY GEM, EARTHTONE

901 ARTISAN V-RUSTIC HARDIE BOARD, COLOR DE6062, TEA BAG

902 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DET 453, MAJOLICA EARTHENWARE

902.4 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

910.1 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 725, WEATHERED CORAL

910.2 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DE 6169, MILK MUSTACHE

910.3 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 773, HEATHER

910.4 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

925 BRICK VENEER, CORONADO STONE PRODUCTS, WIRECUT BRICK, LA JOLLA BRICK

930 ROOF SHINGLE TIMBERLINE ULTRA HD, MISSION BROWN

P
acket P

g. 1
9

7

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

1
A-B.30.2

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

930 910.1 910.2 802910.2

510 925901

510

910.4 910.3

F.F.

F.F.

910.2925 925

LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

1
A-B.30.2

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

910.2901910.2910.1910.3

902802 510902.4

930

F.F.

F.F.

910.2 802

5 10 20

NOTE:
*PER ROCKLIN ROAD EAST OF I-80 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BUILDING HEIGHT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE,
DEFINITION OF HEIGHT OF BUILDING) IS 35’ MEASURED FROM THE REFERENCE DATUM TO THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF AND
THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF STORIES IS (3). THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF FOR THIS PROJECT IS 34’ – 10” (MEASURED TO THE
MIDDLE OF HIPPED ROOF, PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE) ABOVE THE REFERENCE DATUM. BUILDING TYPE A AND B ARE (3) STORIES. BUILDING
TYPE C AND E ARE (3) STORIES WITH BASEMENT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE DEFINITION OF BASEMENT, STORY, AND STORY, FIRST. THE FIRST
STORY IS THE LOWEST STORY WHERE THE FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL DIRECTLY ABOVE A USABLE SPACE IS MORE THAN 6’ ABOVE GRADE FOR MORE
THAN 50% OF THE TOTAL PERIMETER). BUILDING TYPE D AND F (CLUB HOUSE) ARE (2) STORIES.

JOB NO.

DATE

SCALE

REVISIONS

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

THIS DOCUMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION PROPRIETARY TO MVE & PARTNERS INC.

AND IS FURNISHED IN CONFIDENCE FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSE OF EVALUATION,

BIDDING OR REVIEW. THIS DOCUMENT OR ITS CONTENTS MAY NOT BE USED FOR ANY

OTHER PURPOSE AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR DISCLOSED TO OTHERS

WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF MVE & PARTNERS INC. ALL RIGHTS

RESERVED, © COPYRIGHT 2014.

T
E

L
E

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(8
1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
0
0
 F

A
X

: 
(8

1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
3
6

2
3
6
2
2
 C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
 R

O
A

D
, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

0
0
, 
C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
, 
C

A
 9

1
3
0
2

R
O

C
K

L
IN

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

, 
L

L
C

A1 A2

B3

B4

E5

D6

D6

D7

D7

C9

A8

F

 3/16" = 1'-0"

10/25/2017 17:48:19

2013-10152

1/31/2017A-B.20.2

BUILDING B
ELEVATIONS

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

S
 D

E
S

IG
N

S
IE

R
R

A
 G

A
T

E
W

A
Y

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

R
o

c
k
li
n

 R
d

 &
 S

ie
rr

a
 C

o
ll
e
g

e
 B

lv
d

 3/16" = 1'-0" 3BUILDING B EAST ELEVATION

 3/16" = 1'-0" 4BUILDING B WEST ELEVATION

3 4

**BUILDING (4) ELEVATION ILLUSTRATED. BUILDING (3) PLAN IS MIRRORED FROM BUILDING (4).

DESCRIPTION DATE

510 METAL RAILING TYPE PER ELEVATION TAG, FOR DETAILS SEE SHEET 11/A-45.2 RAILING
DETAILS

802 VINYL WINDOW PLY GEM, EARTHTONE

901 ARTISAN V-RUSTIC HARDIE BOARD, COLOR DE6062, TEA BAG

902 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DET 453, MAJOLICA EARTHENWARE

902.4 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

910.1 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 725, WEATHERED CORAL

910.2 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DE 6169, MILK MUSTACHE

910.3 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 773, HEATHER

910.4 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

925 BRICK VENEER, CORONADO STONE PRODUCTS, WIRECUT BRICK, LA JOLLA BRICK

930 ROOF SHINGLE TIMBERLINE ULTRA HD, MISSION BROWN

P
acket P

g. 1
9

8

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 1
9

9

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
0

0

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
0

1

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
0

2

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
0

3

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
0

4

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

2
A-C.30.3

Level B
320' - 0"

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

925

930910.2

910.1 910.4 802

910.3 510

901

F.F.

F.F.

F.F.

925910.4901901910.4

LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

2
A-C.30.3

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

930 910.2 910.3510901802510

910.2902

802 910.1

F.F.

F.F.

902.4902.4902.4 902902

5 10 20

NOTE:
*PER ROCKLIN ROAD EAST OF I-80 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BUILDING HEIGHT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE,
DEFINITION OF HEIGHT OF BUILDING) IS 35’ MEASURED FROM THE REFERENCE DATUM TO THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF AND
THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF STORIES IS (3). THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF FOR THIS PROJECT IS 34’ – 10” (MEASURED TO THE
MIDDLE OF HIPPED ROOF, PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE) ABOVE THE REFERENCE DATUM. BUILDING TYPE A AND B ARE (3) STORIES. BUILDING
TYPE C AND E ARE (3) STORIES WITH BASEMENT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE DEFINITION OF BASEMENT, STORY, AND STORY, FIRST. THE FIRST
STORY IS THE LOWEST STORY WHERE THE FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL DIRECTLY ABOVE A USABLE SPACE IS MORE THAN 6’ ABOVE GRADE FOR MORE
THAN 50% OF THE TOTAL PERIMETER). BUILDING TYPE D AND F (CLUB HOUSE) ARE (2) STORIES.

JOB NO.

DATE

SCALE

REVISIONS

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

THIS DOCUMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION PROPRIETARY TO MVE & PARTNERS INC.

AND IS FURNISHED IN CONFIDENCE FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSE OF EVALUATION,

BIDDING OR REVIEW. THIS DOCUMENT OR ITS CONTENTS MAY NOT BE USED FOR ANY

OTHER PURPOSE AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR DISCLOSED TO OTHERS

WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF MVE & PARTNERS INC. ALL RIGHTS

RESERVED, © COPYRIGHT 2014.

T
E

L
E

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(8
1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
0
0
 F

A
X

: 
(8

1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
3
6

2
3
6
2
2
 C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
 R

O
A

D
, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

0
0
, 
C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
, 
C

A
 9

1
3
0
2

R
O

C
K

L
IN

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

, 
L

L
C

A1 A2

B3

B4

E5

D6

D6

D7

D7

C9

A8

F

 3/16" = 1'-0"

10/25/2017 17:48:39

2013-10152

1/31/2017A-C.20.1

BUILDING C
ELEVATIONS

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

S
 D

E
S

IG
N

S
IE

R
R

A
 G

A
T

E
W

A
Y

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

R
o

c
k
li
n

 R
d

 &
 S

ie
rr

a
 C

o
ll
e
g

e
 B

lv
d

 3/16" = 1'-0" 2BUILDING C SOUTH ELEVATION

 3/16" = 1'-0" 1BUILDING C NORTH ELEVATION

1

2

DESCRIPTION DATE

510 METAL RAILING TYPE PER ELEVATION TAG, FOR DETAILS SEE SHEET 11/A-45.2 RAILING
DETAILS

802 VINYL WINDOW PLY GEM, EARTHTONE

901 ARTISAN V-RUSTIC HARDIE BOARD, COLOR DE6062, TEA BAG

902 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DET 453, MAJOLICA EARTHENWARE

902.4 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

910.1 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 725, WEATHERED CORAL

910.2 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DE 6169, MILK MUSTACHE

910.3 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 773, HEATHER

910.4 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

925 BRICK VENEER, CORONADO STONE PRODUCTS, WIRECUT BRICK, LA JOLLA BRICK

930 ROOF SHINGLE TIMBERLINE ULTRA HD, MISSION BROWN

P
acket P

g. 2
0

5

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

1
A-C.30.3

Level B
320' - 0"

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

902910.3910.1910.2

901 930 910.2 802510

F.F.

F.F.

F.F.

925 902

LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

1
A-C.30.3

Level B
320' - 0"

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

930 910.1 910.2 802 901

925

510

910.3

F.F.

F.F.

F.F.

902 910.2 902

5 10 20

NOTE:
*PER ROCKLIN ROAD EAST OF I-80 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BUILDING HEIGHT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE,
DEFINITION OF HEIGHT OF BUILDING) IS 35’ MEASURED FROM THE REFERENCE DATUM TO THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF AND
THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF STORIES IS (3). THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF FOR THIS PROJECT IS 34’ – 10” (MEASURED TO THE
MIDDLE OF HIPPED ROOF, PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE) ABOVE THE REFERENCE DATUM. BUILDING TYPE A AND B ARE (3) STORIES. BUILDING
TYPE C AND E ARE (3) STORIES WITH BASEMENT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE DEFINITION OF BASEMENT, STORY, AND STORY, FIRST. THE FIRST
STORY IS THE LOWEST STORY WHERE THE FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL DIRECTLY ABOVE A USABLE SPACE IS MORE THAN 6’ ABOVE GRADE FOR MORE
THAN 50% OF THE TOTAL PERIMETER). BUILDING TYPE D AND F (CLUB HOUSE) ARE (2) STORIES.

JOB NO.

DATE

SCALE

REVISIONS

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

THIS DOCUMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION PROPRIETARY TO MVE & PARTNERS INC.

AND IS FURNISHED IN CONFIDENCE FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSE OF EVALUATION,

BIDDING OR REVIEW. THIS DOCUMENT OR ITS CONTENTS MAY NOT BE USED FOR ANY

OTHER PURPOSE AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR DISCLOSED TO OTHERS

WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF MVE & PARTNERS INC. ALL RIGHTS

RESERVED, © COPYRIGHT 2014.

T
E

L
E

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(8
1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
0
0
 F

A
X

: 
(8

1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
3
6

2
3
6
2
2
 C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
 R

O
A

D
, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

0
0
, 
C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
, 
C

A
 9

1
3
0
2

R
O

C
K

L
IN

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

, 
L

L
C

A1 A2

B3

B4

E5

D6

D6

D7

D7

C9

A8

F

 3/16" = 1'-0"

10/25/2017 17:48:53

2013-10152

1/31/2017A-C.20.2

BUILDING C
ELEVATIONS

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

S
 D

E
S

IG
N

S
IE

R
R

A
 G

A
T

E
W

A
Y

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

R
o

c
k
li
n

 R
d

 &
 S

ie
rr

a
 C

o
ll
e
g

e
 B

lv
d

 3/16" = 1'-0" 3BUILDING C EAST ELEVATION

 3/16" = 1'-0" 4BUILDING C WEST ELEVATION

34

DESCRIPTION DATE

510 METAL RAILING TYPE PER ELEVATION TAG, FOR DETAILS SEE SHEET 11/A-45.2 RAILING
DETAILS

802 VINYL WINDOW PLY GEM, EARTHTONE

901 ARTISAN V-RUSTIC HARDIE BOARD, COLOR DE6062, TEA BAG

902 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DET 453, MAJOLICA EARTHENWARE

910.1 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 725, WEATHERED CORAL

910.2 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DE 6169, MILK MUSTACHE

910.3 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 773, HEATHER

925 BRICK VENEER, CORONADO STONE PRODUCTS, WIRECUT BRICK, LA JOLLA BRICK

930 ROOF SHINGLE TIMBERLINE ULTRA HD, MISSION BROWN

P
acket P

g. 2
0

6

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
0

7

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
0

8

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
0

9

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
1

0

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
1

1

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
1

2

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
1

3

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
1

4

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
1

5

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

2
A-E.30.5

Level B
320' - 0"

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

925 901 802 910.1910.2910.4

930510 910.2

F.F.

F.F.

F.F.

925 910.4 925

LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

2
A-E.30.5

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

925 902.4802 925901510910.2

930910.3910.2910.1

F.F.

F.F.

902.4 902.4 910.4902902.4 902

5 10 20

NOTE:
*PER ROCKLIN ROAD EAST OF I-80 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BUILDING HEIGHT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE,
DEFINITION OF HEIGHT OF BUILDING) IS 35’ MEASURED FROM THE REFERENCE DATUM TO THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF AND
THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF STORIES IS (3). THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF FOR THIS PROJECT IS 34’ – 10” (MEASURED TO THE
MIDDLE OF HIPPED ROOF, PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE) ABOVE THE REFERENCE DATUM. BUILDING TYPE A AND B ARE (3) STORIES. BUILDING
TYPE C AND E ARE (3) STORIES WITH BASEMENT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE DEFINITION OF BASEMENT, STORY, AND STORY, FIRST. THE FIRST
STORY IS THE LOWEST STORY WHERE THE FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL DIRECTLY ABOVE A USABLE SPACE IS MORE THAN 6’ ABOVE GRADE FOR MORE
THAN 50% OF THE TOTAL PERIMETER). BUILDING TYPE D AND F (CLUB HOUSE) ARE (2) STORIES.

JOB NO.

DATE

SCALE

REVISIONS

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

THIS DOCUMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION PROPRIETARY TO MVE & PARTNERS INC.

AND IS FURNISHED IN CONFIDENCE FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSE OF EVALUATION,

BIDDING OR REVIEW. THIS DOCUMENT OR ITS CONTENTS MAY NOT BE USED FOR ANY

OTHER PURPOSE AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR DISCLOSED TO OTHERS

WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF MVE & PARTNERS INC. ALL RIGHTS

RESERVED, © COPYRIGHT 2014.

T
E

L
E

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(8
1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
0
0
 F

A
X

: 
(8

1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
3
6

2
3
6
2
2
 C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
 R

O
A

D
, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

0
0
, 
C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
, 
C

A
 9

1
3
0
2

R
O

C
K

L
IN

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

, 
L

L
C

A1 A2

B3

B4

E5

D6

D6

D7

D7

C9

A8

F

 3/16" = 1'-0"

10/25/2017 17:49:10

2013-10152

1/31/2017A-E.20.1

BUILDING E
ELEVATIONS

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

S
 D

E
S

IG
N

S
IE

R
R

A
 G

A
T

E
W

A
Y

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

R
o

c
k
li
n

 R
d

 &
 S

ie
rr

a
 C

o
ll
e
g

e
 B

lv
d

 3/16" = 1'-0" 1BUILDING E SOUTH ELEVATION

 3/16" = 1'-0" 2BUILDING E NORTH ELEVATION

2

1

DESCRIPTION DATE

510 METAL RAILING TYPE PER ELEVATION TAG, FOR DETAILS SEE SHEET 11/A-45.2 RAILING
DETAILS

802 VINYL WINDOW PLY GEM, EARTHTONE

901 ARTISAN V-RUSTIC HARDIE BOARD, COLOR DE6062, TEA BAG

902 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DET 453, MAJOLICA EARTHENWARE

902.4 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

910.1 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 725, WEATHERED CORAL

910.2 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DE 6169, MILK MUSTACHE

910.3 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 773, HEATHER

910.4 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

925 BRICK VENEER, CORONADO STONE PRODUCTS, WIRECUT BRICK, LA JOLLA BRICK

930 ROOF SHINGLE TIMBERLINE ULTRA HD, MISSION BROWN

P
acket P

g. 2
1

6

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

1
A-E.30.5

Level B
320' - 0"

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

925 910.4 910.1 802

930 901 910.2510910.3

F.F.

F.F.

F.F.

925925910.2

LEVEL 1
330' - 0"

LEVEL 2
340' - 0"

LEVEL 3
350' - 0"

LEVEL 3
T.O.PLATE

360' - 0"

1
A-E.30.5

Level B
320' - 0"

3
4
' -

 1
0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

PROPOSED BLDG HT *

F.F.

925925

901 930 910.2 910.1 910.3 802510

902.4

F.F.

F.F.

F.F.

910.2 902

5 10 20

NOTE:
*PER ROCKLIN ROAD EAST OF I-80 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN, THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BUILDING HEIGHT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE,
DEFINITION OF HEIGHT OF BUILDING) IS 35’ MEASURED FROM THE REFERENCE DATUM TO THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF AND
THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF STORIES IS (3). THE AVERAGE HEIGHT OF THE HIGHEST HIPPED ROOF FOR THIS PROJECT IS 34’ – 10” (MEASURED TO THE
MIDDLE OF HIPPED ROOF, PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE) ABOVE THE REFERENCE DATUM. BUILDING TYPE A AND B ARE (3) STORIES. BUILDING
TYPE C AND E ARE (3) STORIES WITH BASEMENT (PER 1997 UNIFORM BUILDING CODE DEFINITION OF BASEMENT, STORY, AND STORY, FIRST. THE FIRST
STORY IS THE LOWEST STORY WHERE THE FINISHED FLOOR LEVEL DIRECTLY ABOVE A USABLE SPACE IS MORE THAN 6’ ABOVE GRADE FOR MORE
THAN 50% OF THE TOTAL PERIMETER). BUILDING TYPE D AND F (CLUB HOUSE) ARE (2) STORIES.

JOB NO.

DATE

SCALE

REVISIONS

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

THIS DOCUMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION PROPRIETARY TO MVE & PARTNERS INC.

AND IS FURNISHED IN CONFIDENCE FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSE OF EVALUATION,

BIDDING OR REVIEW. THIS DOCUMENT OR ITS CONTENTS MAY NOT BE USED FOR ANY

OTHER PURPOSE AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR DISCLOSED TO OTHERS

WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF MVE & PARTNERS INC. ALL RIGHTS

RESERVED, © COPYRIGHT 2014.

T
E

L
E

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(8
1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
0
0
 F

A
X

: 
(8

1
8
) 

2
2
3
-3

5
3
6

2
3
6
2
2
 C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
 R

O
A

D
, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

0
0
, 
C

A
L
A

B
A

S
A

S
, 
C

A
 9

1
3
0
2

R
O

C
K

L
IN

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

, 
L

L
C

A1 A2

B3

B4

E5

D6

D6

D7

D7

C9

A8

F

 3/16" = 1'-0"

10/25/2017 17:49:30

2013-10152

1/31/2017A-E.20.2

BUILDING E
ELEVATIONS

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

S
 D

E
S

IG
N

S
IE

R
R

A
 G

A
T

E
W

A
Y

 A
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T
S

R
o

c
k
li
n

 R
d

 &
 S

ie
rr

a
 C

o
ll
e
g

e
 B

lv
d

 3/16" = 1'-0" 3BUILDING E WEST ELEVATION

 3/16" = 1'-0" 4BUILDING E EAST ELEVATION

43

DESCRIPTION DATE

510 METAL RAILING TYPE PER ELEVATION TAG, FOR DETAILS SEE SHEET 11/A-45.2 RAILING
DETAILS

802 VINYL WINDOW PLY GEM, EARTHTONE

901 ARTISAN V-RUSTIC HARDIE BOARD, COLOR DE6062, TEA BAG

902 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DET 453, MAJOLICA EARTHENWARE

902.4 EXTERIOR PLASTER W/ 1/2" EXPANSION SCREED U.N.O., DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

910.1 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 725, WEATHERED CORAL

910.2 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DE 6169, MILK MUSTACHE

910.3 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 773, HEATHER

910.4 HARDIE REVEAL PANEL SYSTEM, PAINT COLOR DEC 766, STEVEARENO BEIGE

925 BRICK VENEER, CORONADO STONE PRODUCTS, WIRECUT BRICK, LA JOLLA BRICK

930 ROOF SHINGLE TIMBERLINE ULTRA HD, MISSION BROWN

P
acket P

g. 2
1

7

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
1

8

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
1

9

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

0

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

1

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

2

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

3

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

4

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

5

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

6

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

7

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

8

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
2

9

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



 

Page 1 of Exhibit C 
to Reso. No.  

EXHIBIT C 
 

DR2014-0007 / TRE2014-0006 
 

Available at the Economic and Community Development Department, Planning Division 
 

Packet Pg. 230

Agenda Item #7.b.



Packet Pg. 231

Agenda Item #7.b.

stemple
C

stemple
Typewritten Text
DR2015-0018, TRE2016-0001



Packet Pg. 232

Agenda Item #7.b.



Packet Pg. 233

Agenda Item #7.b.



Packet Pg. 234

Agenda Item #7.b.



Packet Pg. 235

Agenda Item #7.b.



Packet Pg. 236

Agenda Item #7.b.



Packet Pg. 237

Agenda Item #7.b.



P
acket P

g. 2
3

8

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
3

9

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.



P
acket P

g. 2
4

0

A
gen

d
a Item

 #7
.b

.


	AGENDA
	INTRODUCTION
	1. Meeting called to order at
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Roll Call:
	4. Minutes
	5. Correspondence
	6. Citizens Addressing the Commission on Non Agenda Items

	CONSENT ITEMS
	PUBLIC HEARINGS
	7. SIERRA GATEWAY APARTMENTS
DESIGN REVIEW, DR2015-0018
OAK TREE PRESERVATION PLAN PERMIT, TRE2016-0001

This application is a request for approval of Design Review and Oak Tree Preservation Plan Permit to construct a 195 unit multi-family project on an approximately 10.2 acre site, including site design, architecture, and landscaping. The subject property is generally located on the southeast corner of Sierra College Boulevard and Rocklin Road.  APNs 045-161-014, 045-161-015, 045-161-016.  The property is zoned Planned Development 20 dwelling units minimum per acre (PD-20).  The General Plan designation is High Density Residential (HDR).

Notice is hereby given that the City of Rocklin Planning Commission will consider making a recommendation for adoption of an Environmental Impact Report for the development project described above. A Draft EIR was prepared to address and analyze the Sierra Gateway Apartments project and was circulated for a 45-day public review period that began on April 27, 2017 and ended on June 12, 2017. The Final EIR document, which addresses and responds to comments that were made on the Draft EIR, will be available for public review on the City’s website at https://www.rocklin.ca.us/current-environmental-documents.

The applicant and property owner is Rocklin Sierra Apartments II, LLC.

	[_01 Sierra Gateway Apts SR Part I PC 11-7-17 (DR2015-0018 TRE2016-0001) -  final.pdf]
	[_02 Sierra Gateway Apts SR Part II PC 11-7-17 (DR2015-0018 TRE2016-0001) -  final COMPLETE.pdf]
	a. RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ROCKLIN RECOMMENDING CERTIFICATION OF A FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT, RECOMMENDING MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT AND STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS AND RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF A MITIGATION MONITORING AND REPORTING PROGRAM (Sierra Gateway Apartments / DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001)
	[_03 Sierra Gateway Apts  PC EIR Reso COMPLETE.pdf]

	b. RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ROCKLIN RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF A DESIGN REVIEW AND OAK TREE PRESERVATION PLAN PERMIT (Sierra Gateway Apartments / DR2015-0018 and TRE2016-0001)
	[_04 Sierra Gateway Apts PC Reso (DR2015-0018 TRE2016-0001) 11-7-17 - final COMPLETE.pdf]



	NON PUBLIC HEARINGS
	8. Reports and Discussion Items from Planning Commissioners
	9. Reports from City Staff
	10. Adjournment


